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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 (“Annual Report”) contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) about us and our industry that involve substantial known and 
unknown risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Annual Report, including, without limitation, statements regarding our future results of 
operations or financial condition, business strategy, expectations about capital allocation, investment activities, sourcing of raw materials, the impact of our supply chain challenges, logistics, 
distribution and marketing initiatives and activities, the impact of our Productivity Initiative, including expected restructuring charges, cost savings and other benefits, factors and trends in our 
business, including seasonality, future expenses or payments under the TRA (as defined below), shifting market demand and consumer preferences, ability to effectively compete, validity of our 
trademarks and other intellectual property, impact of government regulations, liquidity and capital requirements, including the sufficiency of our cash and liquidity or sources of capital, satisfying 
commitments, and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words 
such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “consider,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “forecast,” “guidance,” “intend,” “may,” “on track,” “outlook,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” 
“project,” “pursue,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “will” or “would” or the negative of these words or other similar words, terms or expressions with similar meanings.

You should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report primarily on our current 
expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition and operating results. The outcome of the events described in these forward-
looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors described in the section titled “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties 
that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report. The results, events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements may not be achieved 
or occur, and actual results, events or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based on information available to us as of the date of this 
Annual Report and while we believe that information provides a reasonable basis for these statements, that information may be limited or incomplete. Our statements should not be read to indicate 
that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain, and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely on these 
statements.

The forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking 
statements made in this Annual Report to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual Report or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as 
required by applicable law. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-
looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investments.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Zevia PBC (“Zevia PBC”) was incorporated as a Delaware public benefit corporation on March 23, 2021, and prior to the consummation of the reorganization and initial public offering (“IPO”), did 
not conduct any activities other than those incidental to our formation and the IPO. In connection with the completion of the IPO on July 26, 2021, Zevia PBC became a holding company, and its 
sole material asset is a controlling equity interest in Zevia LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Zevia LLC”). As the sole managing member of Zevia LLC, Zevia PBC operates and controls 
all of the business and affairs of Zevia LLC and, through Zevia LLC, conducts its business. Subsequent to July 26, 2021, Zevia PBC consolidates the results of Zevia LLC with a non-controlling 
interest reflected for the portion of Zevia LLC not owned by Zevia PBC. For more information about our holding company reorganization, see the section titled “Organizational Structure—The 
Reorganization” in the prospectus dated July 21, 2021, and filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on July 23, 2021.

References in this Annual Report to “Zevia PBC” refer to Zevia PBC and not to any of its subsidiaries unless the context indicates otherwise. References in this Annual Report to “Zevia,” the 
“Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer (1) prior to the consummation of the Reorganization Transactions (as defined in Note 1 - Description of Business in the Notes to our Consolidated Financial 
Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report), to Zevia LLC, and (2) after the consummation of the Reorganization Transactions, to Zevia PBC and its consolidated subsidiaries unless 
the context indicates otherwise. 

Available Information

We make available, free of charge, on the “Investors Relations” section of our website, https://www.zevia.com (“Zevia Investor Relations website”) our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly 
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports we file with or furnish to the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably 
practicable after we electronically file the information with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The SEC also maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information 
regarding issuers, such as the Company, that file electronically with the SEC. The address of the site is http://www.sec.gov.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws, corporate governance principles, charters of the Audit, Compensation, Nominating and Enterprise Risk 
Management, and Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) committees, our code of business conduct and ethics may be found on the Zevia Investor Relations website. The information on 
the Company’s website is not incorporated by reference in this Annual Report or in any other report or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our website are intended to be inactive 
textual references only.

We routinely announce material information to investors, stockholders and the marketplace using SEC filings, press releases, public conference calls, webcasts and the Zevia Investor Relations 
website. We also intend to use certain social media channels as a means of disclosing information about us and our products to consumers, our customers, investors and the public (such as @Zevia 
and #Zevia on LinkedIn, Facebook, TikTok and Instagram). The information posted on social media channels is not incorporated by reference in this Annual Report or in any other report or 
document we file with the SEC. While not all of the information that the Company posts to the Zevia Investor Relations website or to social media accounts is of a material nature, some information 
could be deemed to be material. Accordingly, the Company encourages investors, stockholders, the media, and others interested in Zevia to review the information that it shares at the “Investors” 
link located at the bottom of our webpage at https://investors.zevia.com/ and to subscribe to and regularly follow our social media accounts. Users may automatically receive email alerts and other 
information about the Company when enrolling an email address by visiting “Request Email Alerts” in the “Investors” section of Zevia’s website at https://investors.zevia.com/.

Our Business

We are a better-for-you beverage company that develops, markets, sells, and distributes naturally delicious, zero sugar beverages. We are a Delaware public benefit corporation and have been 
designated as a “Certified B Corporation,” by B Lab, an independent non-profit organization, and are focused on addressing the global health challenges resulting from excess sugar consumption by 
offering a broad portfolio of zero sugar, zero calorie, naturally sweetened beverages. All Zevia® beverages are made with a handful of simple ingredients which come from plants, contain no 
artificial sweeteners, and are Non-GMO Project verified, gluten-free, Kosher and vegan, and include a variety of flavors across Soda, Energy Drinks, and Organic Tea drinks. 
 
Our products are distributed and sold principally across the U.S. and Canada through a diverse network of major retailers in the grocery, drug, warehouse club, mass, natural, convenience and e-
commerce channels and in natural product stores and specialty outlets. Our products are manufactured and maintained at third-party beverage production and warehousing facilities located in both 
the U.S. and Canada. We believe that consumers increasingly select beverage products based on a variety of factors including taste, ingredients and fit with today’s consumer preferences, which has 
benefited the Zevia® brand and resulted in over 2.2 billion cans of Zevia sold to date.
 

Our Brand

The Zevia® brand promise is to offer zero-sugar, naturally delicious beverages that are better-for-you. We believe that the foundation for our long-term success lies in creating a brand that 
consumers love and is known for delivering a great product with an exciting pipeline of innovation. We market Zevia under one unified brand across multiple beverage categories, including Soda, 
Energy Drinks and Organic Teas. We believe our brand has extensive consumer reach potential, as we deliver beverage offerings with a diversity of flavors and categories that we believe appeal 
across multiple usage occasions, need states, and times of day, for a wide range of people across age groups. This is evidenced by our ranking among the top carbonated soft drink brands across 
multiple retail channels and on Amazon according to syndicated data sources SPINS and Circana for 2024. 

Our brand has grown significantly over the past decade, which has been largely tied to an engaged and growing consumer base, broadening distribution across retail channels. In 2024, more than 6.6 
million U.S. households purchased Zevia products across more than 37,000 retail locations. 
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Our consumers are our best advocates, and their loyalty is rooted in their alignment with our messaging and mission. Our consumer base over-indexes to   Millennials and Gen X, particularly among 
Millennial parents. We believe this consumer base favors better-for-you options that support a balanced lifestyle and that they tend to be more affluent and less price sensitive than some other 
consumer groups. We believe Zevia consumers are heavily beverage engaged and migrate from other traditional full-calorie and low-calorie soda brands to choose Zevia as an incremental beverage 
choice to aid in supporting their balanced lifestyle without sacrificing great taste. We believe Zevia consumers care about their health, their diets, and their planet and are willing to pay a premium 
for beverage attributes that support those considerations. Zevia drinkers have historically increased their brand spending over time and tend to spend more on average than traditional shoppers within 
the soft drink, energy and ready-to-drink tea categories. Yet Zevia is far more affordable than many or even most better-for-you beverage options, making it more accessible and appealing to more 
households across North America. According to Numerator data for 2024, Zevia households increased their spending on Zevia for the year versus 2023. Those households who made multiple 
purchases across package lines were even more engaged, more than doubling their spending on the brand versus the total average Zevia households in the year.

We believe Zevia is positioned well within the total Zero Sugar/Diet Soda segment of total Carbonated Soft Drinks as an affordable naturally sweetened, better-for-you option. Zero Sugar/Diet sodas 
were a $11.6 billion dollar segment, growing +12% across Grocery, Mass, Drug, Club, and Natural Channels in 2024 according to Spins/Circana data through December 29, 2024. 

According to Numerator data through December 31, 2024, Zevia products finished 2024 with U.S. household penetration of 5% compared to 40% - 70% penetration, respectively, of more 
mainstream full and zero sugar category brand leaders with higher brand awareness and time in market over the same period. We believe Zevia has a meaningful opportunity to increase brand trial to 
capture more share in this growth leading segment of beverage over time. 

Our Products

Each of our product lines has been carefully crafted for consumer enjoyment, with the goal of not sacrificing flavor in the process of eliminating sugar and artificial ingredients, including coloring 
and flavors. In addition, continued improvement is a Zevia core value, and as such we strategically reformulate our products and develop new flavors from time to time to further enhance taste and 
simplify ingredients.

Soda. Soda, our flagship product with no artificial ingredients released in 2008, is the better-for-you alternative to conventional sodas and diet sodas. Our Soda is available in 18 flavors across 
multiple packs, variety packs, and in limited time-offer flavors to drive excitement. Our Soda sales constituted approximately 93% of our net sales in 2024 and remains our primary focus as we see 
significant opportunities for growth in this product line.

Energy. Energy drinks are zero sugar energy drinks that contain 120 mg of organic caffeine. We offer Energy in eight flavors. We released our Energy drinks in 2016 and this product line is focused 
mostly in natural and e-commerce channels today. We believe this product line reflects a significant opportunity to expand across multiple channels in the future.

Organic Tea. Our Organic Tea is a pioneer in the zero calorie, naturally sweetened ready-to-drink tea segment, and was released in 2018. Zevia Organic Tea is USDA Organic and brewed with Fair 
Trade Certified Tea. We offer Organic Tea in eight flavors, including one caffeine-free option.

We benefit from sustained shifts across the liquid refreshment beverage market. We believe consumers continue to be more health conscious and focused on reducing sugar in their diets and are 
increasingly averse to added sugars. Many consumers are making choices with sustainability in mind, including plastic waste reduction. As a great-tasting, clean label beverage supporting a positive 
environmental and social impact, we are positioned to appeal to a broad range of consumer needs in our current markets and beyond.

Consumers can purchase our products both in brick and mortar stores and through e-commerce channels. We are an omnichannel brand found in more than 37,000 retailer locations across the 
traditional grocery, natural grocery, specialty outlets, warehouse club, drug and convenience channels, and on e-commerce platforms. 

ESG and Social Impact

Our focus on ESG is core to how we conduct our business, and we believe this focus makes us a more successful company. We are dedicated to acting responsibly and strive to do our part in making 
the world a better place with every drink. We are committed to creating real ESG impact through combatting the harmful effects of sugar, reducing plastic waste, democratizing healthier options and 
fostering an employee-centric culture.

As a public benefit corporation, we are guided by our mission of creating a world of better-for-you flavor, better for the people and the planet. Our products help consumers reduce their sugar intake 
and avoid artificial sweeteners by offering a refreshing and enjoyable zero sugar, naturally sweetened alternative to high-sugar and artificially sweetened competitors. We estimate that by choosing 
Zevia, our consumers have avoided over 79,000 metric tons of sugar in their diets since 2011.

Sustainable packaging remains a key priority and we continue to seek to minimize our environmental impact. We take pride in reducing plastic waste by using only aluminum cans as beverage 
containers. Since our founding in 2007, we have never sold a beverage in a plastic bottle. Through only using aluminum cans, we estimate that we have saved over 30,000 metric tons of plastic and 
consumption of our products has resulted in the avoidance of over one billion plastic bottles since 2011. In addition, we reduce our use of packaging materials where feasible. 

Within our mission is the initiative to provide products that are better for the planet. Our main ingredient, after carbonated water, is stevia sweetener, which is extracted from the leaves of the stevia 
rebaudiana plant, containing many different naturally occurring sweet compounds called steviol glycosides (“SG”). We are thrilled to offer a great tasting better-for-you beverage sweetened only 
with SG, which uses less than 1/10th of the land used to produce the same amount of sugar sweetness from sugar cane, and we believe that less land usage means less water and energy usage.

Our suppliers are required to comply with the high standards set forth in our vendor code of conduct, including prohibiting child labor, human trafficking, and discrimination, and promoting 
diversity, safe and healthy workplaces, and business integrity.
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Sales and Marketing and Consumer Outreach

Our historical marketing strategy relied heavily on driving trial and conversion at the point of purchase in retail outlets. In 2024, we shifted resources to complement our retail efforts and 
strategically made investments in the second half of the year to amplify our brand and to clarify our points of differentiation on taste and ingredients to help drive trial and grow customer 
conversions.

Our brand strategy is to position Zevia as the best alternative to artificial soda, highlighting both our product benefits (zero sugar, zero artificial sweeteners, zero artificial colors) and our 
differentiated brand position, celebrating “real” in an increasingly “artificial” world. In line with our brand building efforts, our marketing ecosystem continues to scale with increased positive results 
in social media engagement, reaching consumers through influencers, and effective digital and audio advertising, that we expect to help drive purchase intent as well as conversion at the point of 
purchase. Our ecosystem will be leveraged for future Brand content and product launches.

From an in-store perspective, we also deployed funding to enhance our presence at shelf, including shelf tags, product displays and other means to build consumer awareness and consideration. 
Given our competitive repeat rates, we believe these efforts to drive customer conversion with new users will be beneficial and subsequently grow our base of loyal customers. 

We maintain a website at https://www.zevia.com, which serves as the most comprehensive source of information regarding our products. Our website is used as a platform to introduce our entire 
brand portfolio, promote and sell our products, provide news, highlight nutritional facts and provide general information on where to purchase our products. 

Sales

Our sales team is comprised of key accounts, distribution and insights professionals. The team works in close coordination with a national network of broker and distributor sales teams that gives us 
access to accounts across multiple channels throughout the U.S. and Canada.

Innovation

Delivering a product that consumers love is an integral part of what we do. We regularly look for ways to improve product taste and innovate to drive excitement, growth, brand awareness and trial.

Our product development team collaborates across our organization and supplier base to identify areas to improve our existing offerings and create new offerings. Our product development team 
coordinates the creation, testing, launch and improvement of our products in collaboration with our suppliers. 

We have refined certain formulas of our products to help appeal to and meet our consumers’ evolving taste profile and have launched line and flavor extensions within existing categories to further 
fulfill consumer needs. Our robust pipeline of new category innovations is expected to allow us to continue to thoughtfully and strategically innovate within the beverage space and maximize share 
of stomach by offering flavors and beverages that can drive appeal.

Our product development team is also working to improve our ingredients. We regularly refine our stevia blend in an effort to maintain leadership in our sweetener system and currently use a 
specific stevia extract product that contains a particular blend of SGs that was found to perform the best across our beverage platform, providing more rounded sweetness with minimal aftertaste 
commonly associated with other stevia sweeteners. We believe that by consistently offering great tasting products that are all zero calorie, zero sugar and naturally sweetened, with sustainable 
packaging under one brand, we can attract consumers to our new flavors and categories.

Supply Chain

Our products are produced and distributed through a network of third-party contract manufacturers, suppliers of stevia, and freight and warehouse providers that we have strategically curated. We 
have valuable, long-standing relationships across our supply chain, and we work closely with our external supply chain partners to try to maximize forward-looking capacity and take a thoughtful 
approach to how we can leverage our existing relationships with our innovation efforts.

At the beginning of 2024, we transitioned our procurement strategy to partner with our contract manufacturers. This change allowed our contract manufacturers to be responsible for the procurement 
of raw materials to produce our products, which are then sold to us as finished goods. This change allowed us to leverage the purchasing power of our contract manufacturers and further diversify, as 
well as enable us to have the flexibility to scale the business. We also onboarded a global transportation management company to support optimizing freight procurement and associated freight 
management activities to improve our cost management. These changes better optimized our supply chain, helped position us for future growth, and will drive increasing returns as we scale the 
business.
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Ingredients and Ingredient Suppliers

The principal ingredients of our beverages, aside from carbonated water, are stevia sweetener, flavors, and citric acid. All Zevia products are solely sweetened with highly purified stevia leaf extract. 
Zevia products do not contain erythritol. All Zevia beverages are zero sugar and naturally sweetened with plant-based ingredients that are Non-GMO Project verified. Our stevia leaf extract is 
procured by our contract manufacturers and was previously sourced from a single large multi-national ingredient company with whom we have a long-standing relationship through a two-year 
agreement that was entered into October 15, 2023, which includes fixed pricing for the duration of the term. In 2024, we approved and began sourcing from a second multi-national ingredient 
company to supply stevia leaf extract in order to diversify our source of stevia leaf extract, with the aim of mitigating price and supply disruptions. Our product development team provides ongoing 
sensory and cost evaluation of competing stevia extract products as well as other sweeteners as a means of planning alternate sources of supply that meet or exceed our sensory expectations.

Flavors are developed in collaboration with our product development team and our flavor ingredient suppliers. These suppliers produce and supply the unique flavor ingredients to our contract 
manufacturers, and as our contract manufacturers procure these ingredients, we do not have long-term supply agreements with these ingredient suppliers. 

Although we do not view our stevia blend or flavor ingredients as commodity ingredients, we continue to seek to diversify sourcing to help de-risk supply or cost shocks from potential supply 
disruptions. 

Packaging and Packaging Suppliers

We have chosen aluminum beverage cans as our primary packaging containers, which have the highest recycling rate of any beverage packaging format and a low carbon footprint in the supply 
chain. Our contract manufacturers source beverage cans through major can manufacturers. 

Manufacturing and Supply Planning

We have relationships with three contract manufacturers that operate manufacturing facilities across the U.S. and Canada. We expect to continue seeking out other potential partnerships that provide 
cost competitiveness, responsiveness, and geographic growth potential. We also multi-source package types where volumes allow to mitigate supply risk in the event of a disruption at a specific 
facility and to disperse production geographically to reduce freight miles driven to distribute our products. Our contracts are typically in the form of multi-year master service agreements that define 
overall commercial and legal terms, while volume forecasts, production costs and other services are typically re-evaluated annually or as needed. 

Quality Control

We receive certifications from our suppliers in order to confirm that they meet our specifications. Contract manufacturers perform in-process quality checks common to the carbonated soft drink 
industry, throughout the manufacturing process. We provide beverage specifications for every unique formula, as well as Zevia-specific quality requirements to our contract manufacturers so that 
they comply with our unique needs.

Zevia personnel also conduct a secondary layer of quality control checks to identify any potential quality discrepancies not reported or identified by our contract manufacturers, and to document their 
ongoing performance. Our quality team places specific inventory on hold at all inventory locations if either the contract manufacturer or our quality team identifies any suspected discrepancy, to 
allow for immediate investigation and corrective action if necessary.

Distribution

We believe we have created a meaningful flywheel for consumer acquisition in which shoppers are able to discover, learn about and purchase our beverages online and offline across multiple 
channels and platforms. Our online platforms serve as trial generating and transaction intensification opportunities, allowing for full Zevia portfolio offerings, including our best selling variety packs, 
which are intended to stimulate significant consumer engagement. In addition to helping Zevia remain one of the top-selling carbonated soft drink brands on Amazon in 2024, our e-commerce 
buyers are also heavily engaged with the brand offline. According to Numerator almost three quarter of Zevia shoppers who purchased us online in 2024 also purchased Zevia in brick-and-mortar 
retailers. Moreover, shoppers who bought Zevia products online spent 3x more on our brand across all channels on average. 

We have strong, long-standing relationships with grocery, drug, warehouse club, mass, natural, and specialty retailers with whom we can grow distribution and sales through increased store 
penetration and shelf space. We sold in more than 37,000 retail locations in 2024 according to SPINS, Circana and Nielsen data. We believe that our brick-and-mortar retailers value Zevia’s 
continued sales growth and higher margin profile, giving us confidence that we can expand our presence over time in terms of store count and number of items carried. For example, we recently 
expanded our presence at one retailer from 800 to more than 4,300 locations in the U.S. Beyond these channels, we believe there is significant opportunity to continue expanding distribution and 
total item availability in the mass, drug, warehouse club, convenience, and foodservice channels, putting Zevia at arm’s reach for consumers.

Competition

We believe we compete broadly with all categories of liquid refreshment beverages. The beverage industry is highly competitive and continues to evolve in response to changing consumer 
preferences. Competition is generally based on brand recognition, taste, quality, price, ingredients, availability, selection and convenience, as well as factors related to corporate responsibility and 
sustainability. We believe we compete effectively with respect to each of these factors. Our competitors in the beverage market include category leaders such as The Coca-Cola Company, Keurig Dr. 
Pepper, PepsiCo, Inc., National Beverage Corp., Monster Energy, and Red Bull, as well as established naturally positioned soda brands like Virgils and Reeds and functional soda brands like Poppi 
and Olipop.

Human Capital Resources

Zevia’s passion to democratize healthier lifestyles – by providing affordable, better-for-you, naturally sweetened beverages without sugar or calories and never in plastic containers – is reflected in 
the organization’s people and culture. We offer an inclusive and challenging work environment comprised of team members who are charged with delivering high performance and representative of 
the communities we serve. Our core values – passion, respect, gratitude, learning, a positive attitude, teamwork and continuous improvement – are at the foundation of our strategies to drive our 
mission and business. 
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We have an inclusive, strategic, and well-defined human capital planning process and a management approach that aligns to our business needs and mission, and is designed to help us attract, retain 
and maximize the best talent.

As of December 31, 2024, we had 104 full-time team members in the U.S, and 4 full-time team members in Canada. We also utilize independent contractors for freelance work and project-based 
work. None of our team members are represented by a labor union. We maintain a strong relationship with our team members and have never experienced a labor-related work stoppage.

Our Board of Directors provides oversight on certain human capital management matters, including through its Compensation Committee, which is responsible for governance over policies 
regarding human capital and compensation practices, including executive compensation, performance, pay equity, recruiting, retention, training and development, safety, representation and creating 
a working environment consistent with our culture, objectives and strategy.

Employee Health and Safety

As a values-driven organization, the health, safety, and well-being of our team members is our top priority. We prioritize safety for all employees through a combination of education, training, and 
safety-related policies, while also maintaining compliance with applicable regulations, including Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) guidelines and mandates by local health 
authorities. Specifically, we implement custom Injury and Illness Prevention Programs for our headquarters including safety training for our innovation lab, medical emergencies, power failure, 
bomb threat, fire safety, earthquake, and evacuation prevention practices. In 2024, we launched a customized Workplace Violence Prevention plan designed to address the hazards associated with 
various types of workplace violence.

Company Composition: High Performance and Representation

We focus on high performance and define it in part by initiative, excellence, and hard work. We believe performance is best delivered by individuals who represent the diverse consumer base we 
serve.  We define diversity considering geography, age, education level, veteran status, gender, race, disability and other characteristics.

Our commitment is focused on promoting equal employment opportunities and performance, and starts at the top with a highly skilled representative executive leadership team and Board of 
Directors that is representative of our consumers. We promote representation across our organization as a matter of bolstering performance, via a framework that is centered on providing equal 
opportunities and minimizing subjectivity via data-driven decisions to reduce the risk of bias and help promote culture where everyone owns responsibility for inclusive behaviors and high 
performance across the organization. 

Zevia promotes equity through consistency and fairness with our people policies and practices that are designed to offer access, opportunity, and career growth for all team members equally across 
various stages of the employee lifecycle, including performance standards. We strive to make promotions, compensation, and growth opportunities impartial, just, and transparent. We maintain a 
consistent compensation policy across base salary, bonus, equity in the form of Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) and stock options, all of which are based upon performance, and benefit 
contributions. We believe everyone is an owner at Zevia, and we work together as one team to deliver results and achieve performance.

Culture and Engagement

Our team drives the success of our brand, and every leadership or full team engagement features a conscious effort to engage and communicate with a focus on our values and on high performance. 
Our People team manages celebrations across varied interests through the year, themes for contest, mental health resources, open surveys, team communication platforms, and training on resource 
access.

To meet our human capital objectives, we utilize internal employee surveys to understand the effectiveness of our people programs and where we can improve across the organization. In 2024, we 
conducted two semi-annual engagement surveys and monitored employee feedback for continued improvements in culture with a focus on high-performance and people-centric initiatives. 

Talent Acquisition

We hired 25 new team members in 2024, 87.5% of which were sourced by internal recruitment. We have implemented recruitment practices designed to remove bias in the selection process and we 
reflect our values to candidates through job description language using gender-neutral pronouns, no video calls during the first interview, and standard assessments for applicable roles. We find 
candidates through a wide variety of sources to expand the talent pool of potential candidates, we offer flexible education requirements by role, and structure interviews with consistent processes to 
promote equal employment opportunities and minimize bias. We conduct transparent, collaborative and panel interviews for group input on all hires.

Benefits and Compensation Strategies

We strive to attract and retain high caliber individuals who raise the talent bar by offering competitive compensation and benefit packages. Our compensation program is designed so that our talented 
team is paid fairly and equitably, and well rewarded for performance. The foundation of our compensation policy is a base salary and a performance-based bonus with targets tied to the Company’s 
annual financial performance. We regularly review and survey our compensation and benefit programs against market to confirm we remain competitive in our hiring practices. We aim for equal pay 
for equal work and adapt accordingly to close any existing pay equity gaps.

Every full-time team member is eligible to receive equity-based compensation, which provides a sense of ownership and next-level engagement among employees at all levels. Zevia also offers a 
Fortune-500 style benefits package that incorporates a robust contribution for all tiers of coverage to include: medical, health savings account employer contribution, dental, vision, group and 
voluntary life & AD&D, critical illness, hospital indemnity, accident, short-term and long-term disability insurance, flexible spending accounts, pet insurance and legal access. We offer a 401(k) 
Safe Harbor Retirement savings plan with Company matching contributions and no vesting schedule. We have competitive paid time off and sick policies, paid bereavement, holidays, flexible 
schedules, remote and hybrid work, employee assistance programs, and a generous parental leave policy.
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Training and Organizational Development

Our team members have access to various internal and external formal training and development courses to support individual growth and support performance. We offer an annual professional 
development allowance for continued advancement, with focus on a team member’s career path at Zevia. We seek to promote from our internal talent pool as part of our enterprise-wide succession 
plan. Our internal training includes custom content by department and role, 100% participation in unconscious bias training, and management training and development. 

Performance Management

We are focused on setting clear and specific expectations for performance that align with individual strengths and company objectives. We believe in a customized approach, where high performers 
are rewarded. Our managers also conduct 90-day reviews for new hires, mid-year reviews to formally track performance, and annual reviews for all employees, goals management throughout the 
year via our Human Resources Information System platform and incorporate short- and long-term career goals during each review. We also conduct regular one-on-one sessions to provide feedback, 
coaching and support. Our approach is designed to foster accountability, transparency, and recognition, which we believe drives both retention and high performance. 

Seasonality

As is typical in the beverage industry, sales of our beverages are seasonal, with the highest sales volumes generally occurring in the second and third fiscal quarters, which correspond to the warmer 
months of the year in our major markets. 

Trademarks and Other Intellectual Property

We own domestic and international trademarks and other proprietary rights that are important to our business, including our principal trademark, Zevia®. Depending upon the jurisdiction, 
trademarks are valid as long as they are used in the regular course of trade and/or their registrations are properly maintained. All of our material trademarks are registered with the U.S. Patent and 
Trademark Office. Our trademarks are valuable assets that reinforce the distinctiveness of our brand to our consumers. We have applied for or have trademark registrations internationally as well. 
We believe the protection of our trademarks and domain names is important to our success.

We seek to protect our intellectual property rights by relying on trademark laws and other laws related to proprietary rights around the world. Our domain name is https://www.zevia.com.

Government Regulation

In the normal course of our business, we are subject to a variety of federal, state, provincial and local laws and regulations in the countries in which we do business. Regulations apply to many 
aspects of our business, including our products and their ingredients, manufacturing, safety, labeling, transportation, recycling, advertising and sales.

Our products and sales of our products are regulated in the U.S. as conventional foods. Our products and their manufacturing, labeling, marketing and sale in the U.S. are subject to stringent 
regulations and standards established by, among others, the U.S. Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), the U.S. Department of Agriculture 
(“USDA”), the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), OSHA and similar state and local agencies. The regulations and standards include various aspects of the Federal Food, Drug, and 
Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”), the Federal Trade Commission Act, the Food Safety Modernization Act, the Lanham Act, the Robinson-Patman Act, the Clayton Antitrust Act of 1914, workplace health 
and safety laws, state consumer protection laws and state warning and labeling laws, such as Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act of 1986 (“Proposition 65”) in California, and the 
Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act. Under these statutes, federal and state agencies regulate, among other things, the manufacturing, preparation, quality control, import, export, 
packaging, labeling, storage, recordkeeping, marketing, advertising, promotion, distribution, fair pricing, safety, and/or adverse event reporting of conventional foods. Among other things, 
manufacturers of conventional foods must meet current good manufacturing practices (“cGMPs”) and other requirements applicable to the manufacturing, packaging, labeling and holding of foods. 
In addition, our products are manufactured pursuant to special certification programs such as those for organic, Kosher, Global Food Safety Initiative, and non-GMO products among others, and we 
must comply with strict standards imposed by federal, state, and third-party certifying organizations.

Pursuant to the Food Safety Modernization Act (“FSMA”), the FDA promulgated additional requirements to enhance food safety and prevent food contamination, including more frequent 
inspections and increased recordkeeping and traceability requirements. The FSMA also holds imported foods to the same standards as domestic foods. The FDA requires that certain nutrient and 
product information appear on product labels and that the labels and labeling be truthful and not misleading. Similarly, the FTC requires that marketing and advertising claims be truthful, not 
misleading, not deceptive to customers and substantiated by adequate scientific data. We are also restricted from making certain claims about our products, including health claims, claims that our 
products treat, cure, mitigate or prevent disease or claims regarding the effects of our products on the structure or function of the body except under certain limited circumstances.

We are required to comply with federal, state, and local environmental laws and regulations such as restrictions on certain packaging containing per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and bottle 
deposit ordinances. We continue to monitor the applicable regulations and seek to create policies and practices designed to abide by all applicable environmental laws, rules, regulations, and 
ordinances applicable to our business and products. While our compliance to date has not had, and is not expected to have, a material financial effect on our business or our operations, our 
obligations for compliance may become more burdensome as more restrictive requirements or regulations may be imposed or enacted in the future.

Products that do not comply with any governmental or third-party regulations and standards may be considered adulterated or misbranded and we may face adverse consequences, including but not 
limited to, warning or untitled letters, product withdrawals or recalls, product seizures, relabeling or repackaging, total or partial suspensions of manufacturing or distribution, import holds, 
injunctions, fines, civil penalties, civil law suits, or criminal prosecution.

Various states, provinces and other authorities require deposits, eco-taxes or fees on certain products or packaging. Similar legislation or regulations may be proposed in the future at local, state, 
provincial and federal levels, both in the U.S. and elsewhere.
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We are also subject to labor and employment laws, laws governing advertising, safety regulations and other laws, including consumer protection regulations that regulate retailers.

Our business involves the collection, use, storage, transmission, and management of personal data, including payment card and other sensitive or confidential information, relating to consumers, 
workers, partners, and suppliers. We are subject to federal and state laws and regulations related to cybersecurity, privacy and data protection, including the California Consumer Privacy Act, by the 
California Privacy Rights Act, the Virginia Consumer Data Protection Act, the Colorado Privacy Act, the Connecticut Data Privacy Act, and the Utah Consumer Privacy Act. The privacy and data 
protection regulatory environment is constantly changing, with additional U.S. state privacy laws being proposed or coming into effect regularly, each raising new and increasingly rigorous 
requirements applicable to our business and how we can use personal data. We continue to monitor the U.S. privacy and data protection law landscape, evaluate the potential impact on our business, 
and develop strategies to maintain our privacy and data protection compliance programs and policies. However, the patchwork approach to regulation and pace at which it changes causes 
implementation of these requirements to be more complex. We will continue to monitor changes and implement and maintain compliance measures, and we recognize that these changes and 
measures require significant resources and costs, and failure to comply with applicable laws could subject us to fines, governmental investigations, consumer demands, and lawsuits.

In Canada, the manufacture, distribution, marketing and sale of our products are also subject to compliance with similar laws, rules and regulations.
 
We are actively monitoring trade policy and tariff announcements including the recent executive orders issued by the new U.S. federal administration in February 2025 regarding new tariffs on 
imports from Canada, Mexico and China. We are currently evaluating the potential impact of the announced tariffs as well as the recent implementation of a 25% import tax on all steel and 
aluminum entering the U.S. on our business and financial condition and actions we may take to mitigate the impact. In addition, we are monitoring the potential impact, if any, of actions taken by 
these countries in response to the announced tariffs. 
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.
 

RISK FACTORS
 

We are providing the following summary of the risk factors contained in this Annual Report. We encourage you to carefully review the full risk factors immediately following this summary as well as 
the other information contained in this Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes. The occurrence of any of the following risks, as well as any risks or 
uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently do not believe to be material, could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition, which may 
adversely affect the trading price of our Class A common stock. Some of the factors, events and contingencies discussed below may have occurred in the past, but the disclosures below are not 
representations as to whether or not the factors, events or contingencies have occurred in the past, and instead reflect our beliefs and opinions as to the factors, events or contingencies that could 
materially and adversely affect us in the future.

Summary of Risk Factors

This summary should be read in conjunction with the remainder of this “Risk Factors” section and should not be relied upon as an exhaustive summary of the material risks facing our business. The 
occurrence of any of these risks could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or growth prospects or cause our actual results to differ materially from those contained in 
forward-looking statements we have made in this Annual Report and those we may make from time to time. You should consider all of the risk factors described in our public filings when evaluating 
our business. The following is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in the Company speculative or risky: 

• inability to compete in our intensely competitive industry;

• failure to further develop, maintain, and promote our brand;

• changes in the retail landscape or the loss of key retail customers;

• change in consumer preferences, perception and spending habits, particularly due to impacts of inflation, in the commercial beverage industry and on zero sugar, naturally 
sweetened products, and failure to develop or enrich our product offerings or gain market acceptance of our products, including new offerings;

• inaccurate or misleading marketing claims, whether or not substantiated;

• failure to introduce new products or successfully improve existing products;

• product safety and quality concerns, including those relating to our sweetening system, which could negatively affect our business by exposing us to lawsuits, product recalls or 
regulatory enforcement actions, increasing our operating costs and reducing demand for our product offerings;

• fluctuation in our net sales and earnings as a result of price concessions, promotional activities and chargebacks;

• loss of any registered trademark or other intellectual property or actual or alleged claims of infringement of intellectual property rights;

• our history of losses and potential inability to achieve or maintain profitability;

• failure to attract, hire, train or retain qualified personnel, manage our future growth effectively or maintain our company culture;

• the impact of adverse global macroeconomic conditions, including relatively high interest rates, recession fears and inflationary pressures, changes to foreign trade policies, and 
geopolitical events or conflicts;

• climate change, adverse weather conditions, natural disasters and other natural conditions;

• difficulties and challenges associated with expansion into new markets;

• inability to obtain raw materials on a timely basis or in sufficient quantities to produce our products or meet the demand for our products due to reliance on a limited number of 
third-party suppliers;

• trade tensions between the U.S. and China, and changes in U.S. foreign trade policies;

• substantial disruption within our supply chain or distribution channels, including disruption at our contract manufacturers, warehouse and distribution facilities, failure by our 
transportation providers to facilitate on-time deliveries, or our own failure to accurately forecast;

• extensive governmental regulation and enforcement if we are not in compliance with applicable requirements;

• changes in laws and regulations relating to beverage containers and packaging as well as marketing and labeling; 

• dependence on distributions from Zevia LLC to pay any taxes and other expenses;

• failure to maintain compliance with the continued listing standards on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), which could result in the delisting of our securities, limit 
stockholders’ and investors’ ability to make transactions in our securities and subject us to additional trading restrictions; 

• impact from our status, duty and liability exposure as a public benefit corporation; 

• inadequacy, failure, interruption or security breaches of our information technology systems and failure to comply with data privacy and information security laws and regulations; 
and

• the impact of any future pandemics, epidemics, or other disease outbreaks on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Risks Relating to Our Business, Our Industry and Macroeconomic Conditions

If we are unable to compete in our intensely competitive industry, our business may not grow or succeed. 

We operate in the highly competitive commercial beverage industry that continues to evolve in response to changing consumer preferences. Some of our competitors, such as The Coca-Cola 
Company, Keurig Dr. Pepper, PepsiCo, Inc., National Beverage Corp., Monster Energy, and Red Bull, are multinational corporations with significantly greater financial resources than us. These 
competitors can use their resources and scale to rapidly respond to competitive pressures and changes in consumer preferences by introducing new products, changing their route to market, reducing 
prices or increasing promotional activities. For example, both PepsiCo and the Coca-Cola Company have begun focusing in on the better-for-you space, with the Coca-Cola Company launching a 
prebiotic soda “Simply Pop” this year. We also compete with a range of other brands, including prebiotic soda brands like Poppi and Olipop, and a variety of smaller, regional and private label 
manufacturers. Smaller companies may be more innovative, better able to bring new products to market and better able to quickly exploit and serve niche markets. If we are unable to effectively 
compete in the commercial beverage industry, we may not be able to maintain or improve the market position of our brand.  

Our sales may be negatively affected by numerous factors, including our inability to maintain or increase prices, our inability to effectively promote our products, our inability to move out of niche 
locations in-store to broader appeal category locations due to competitor and retailer actions, our inability to increase or sustain our volume of shelf space in-store or obtain optimal presence on store 
shelves to display our products, ineffective advertising and marketing campaigns, new entrants into the market, the decision of wholesalers, retailers or consumers to purchase competitors’ products 
instead of ours, and increased marketing costs and in-store placement and slotting fees due to our competitors’ willingness to spend aggressively. Competitive pressures may also cause us to reduce 
prices we charge customers or may restrict our ability to increase such prices. The better-for-you soda space is becoming increasingly competitive with multiple new brand and item introductions, 
placing strain on already constrained shelf space availability. This could limit our share of shelf space and therefore limit our soda sales and growth. In order to remain competitive, we may also need 
to increase our marketing and advertising spend, which could have an impact on our operating results. 

If we fail to further develop, maintain and promote our brand, our business could suffer.

We believe our continued success depends on our ability to maintain and grow the value of the Zevia® brand. Because our products are comprised of a handful of simple ingredients that are readily 
available in the market and we do not depend on a particular flavor as we are continually reformulating and remodifying flavors, we are particularly dependent on maintaining the success of our 
brand and reputation.

Maintaining, promoting and positioning our brand and reputation will depend on, among other factors, the success of our product offerings, food safety, quality assurance, marketing and 
merchandising efforts, our ability to provide a consistent, high-quality customer experience and our ability to effectively execute on our brand strategy to help drive trial and grow customer 
conversions in a timely manner. Any negative publicity, regardless of its accuracy, could materially adversely affect our business. Brand value is based on perceptions of subjective qualities, and any 
incident that erodes the loyalty of our customers, suppliers or manufacturers, including adverse publicity, negative brand associations, or a governmental investigation or litigation, could 
significantly reduce the value of our brand and significantly damage our business. Furthermore, as existing ecommerce and media platforms continue to rapidly evolve, new platforms develop, and 
laws or regulations regarding the use and operations of such platforms change, we must effectively maintain a presence on these platforms, establish a presence on new or emerging platforms or 
transition to other platforms should a platform become unavailable to maintain our brand. If we are unable to cost-effectively use these platforms as marketing tools, our ability to maintain and 
acquire consumers and our operations could suffer.

The commercial beverage industry is subject to rapid and frequent changes in consumer demands. Therefore, we may not be able to promote our products effectively through our marketing and 
advertising campaigns and enhance our brand recognition amongst consumers. If our products fail to gain market acceptance, cannot keep pace with nutritional, scientific, or regulatory 
developments or changing consumer preferences, are restricted by regulatory requirements or have quality issues, we may not be able to fully recover costs and expenses incurred in our operations, 
and our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Changes in the retail landscape or the loss of key retail customers that cannot be replaced in a timely manner could adversely affect our results of operations and financial performance.

The consumer-packaged goods industry is being affected by the trend toward consolidation in, and blurring of, the lines between retail channels. Larger retailers have sought lower prices from us, 
demanded increased marketing or promotional expenditures, and have and may continue to use their distribution networks to introduce and develop private label brands, any of which could 
negatively affect our profitability. The consolidation of retail customers may reduce the number of branded products they offer in order to accommodate private label products and increase the risk 
that a significant adverse impact on their business could have a corresponding material adverse impact on our business.
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We sell a substantial portion of our products to specific customers. In 2024, our largest customer represented 13% of our net sales and our second largest customer represented 11% of our net sales, 
and our largest ten customers represented 71% of our net sales. No other customers represented more than 10% of our net sales in 2024. In 2024, the e-commerce channel represented approximately 
12% of our net sales. The loss of any large customer, the reduction of purchasing levels or the cancellation of any business from a large customer for an extended length of time could negatively 
impact our sales and profitability. We expect that most of our sales will be made through a small number of customers for the foreseeable future. For these customers, we do not have short-term or 
long-term commitments in our contracts that ensure future sales of our products. If we lose one or more of our significant customers and cannot replace the customer in a timely manner or at all, our 
business, results of operation and financial condition may be materially adversely affected. Similarly, if we do not maintain our relationship with existing customers or develop relationships with 
new customers, the growth of our business may be adversely affected and our business may be harmed. Consequently, our financial results may fluctuate significantly from period to period based on 
the actions of one or more significant retailers. A retailer may take actions that affect us for reasons that we cannot always anticipate or control, such as their financial condition, changes in their 
business strategy or operations, a reduction in the number of brands they carry, a reduction or shift of shelf space, the introduction of competing products or the perceived quality of our products. 
There can be no assurance that retailers will provide sufficient, or any, shelf space, nor that online retailers will provide online access to, or adequate product visibility on, their platform. Despite 
operating in different channels, our retailers sometimes develop their own beverages that compete for the same consumers. Because of actual or perceived conflicts resulting from this competition, 
retailers may take actions that negatively affect us. For example, we have had retailers develop brands that compete with our brand and as a result, saw a shift in our shelf space in store to private 
label and competitive products. In addition, our success depends in part on our ability to maintain good relationships with key retail customers. 

We could be adversely affected by a change in consumer preferences, perception and spending habits in the commercial beverage industry and on naturally sweetened products, and failure to 
develop or enrich our product offerings or gain market acceptance of our new products including any new offerings, could have a negative effect on our business. 

We have positioned our brand to capitalize on growing consumer interest in better-for-you, ethically produced and great-tasting beverages, particularly those sweetened with stevia extract or other 
sweeteners as an alternative to sugar or artificial sweeteners. Our products are solely sweetened by highly purified stevia extract and do not contain Erythritol or Aspartame. The market in which we 
operate is subject to changes in consumer preference, perception and spending habits. Our performance depends significantly on factors that may affect the level and pattern of consumer spending in 
the commercial beverage industry market in which we operate. Such factors include consumer preference, consumer confidence, consumer income, consumer perception of the safety and quality of 
our products and shifts in the perceived value for our products relative to alternatives. Media coverage regarding the safety or quality of, or diet or health issues relating to, our products or the raw 
materials, ingredients (particularly stevia or other sweeteners) or processes involved in their manufacturing may damage consumer confidence in our products. A general decline in the consumption 
of our products could occur at any time as a result of change in consumer preference, perception, confidence and spending habits, including an unwillingness or inability to purchase our products due 
to financial hardship or increased price sensitivity, which may be exacerbated by the effects of inflation and global public health concerns such as epidemics and pandemics.

The success of our products depends on a number of factors, including continued market acceptance of stevia, our ability to accurately anticipate changes in market demand and consumer 
preferences, our ability to differentiate the quality of our products from those of our competitors, the effectiveness of our marketing and advertising campaigns for our products, consumer purchasing 
power, and macro-economic factors. We may not be successful in developing products that respond to changing trends in consumer preferences in a timely manner or at all. If we do not accurately 
anticipate the future demand for a particular product or the time it will take to obtain new inventory, our inventory levels may be inadequate and our results of operations may be negatively 
impacted.

In addition, in many of our markets, consumer shopping patterns evolve with rapidly shifting preferences among e-commerce, brick and mortar, and digitally supported shopping. If we fail to 
address changes in consumer product and shopping preferences, or do not successfully anticipate and prepare for future changes in such preferences, our share of sales, revenue growth and overall 
financial results could be negatively affected. 

Inaccurate or misleading marketing claims may harm our brand and business. 

Although we take measures to confirm that public information about our company and brand is accurate, compliant with regulations and substantiated by factual analysis and research, we may be 
subject to claims that such information is false or misleading. Even if such claims are disproven, any negative publicity surrounding an assertion that our marketing materials are inaccurate could 
cause consumers to lose confidence in the safety and quality of our products. In addition, a judgment against us could lead to further litigation and have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. Our use of social media influencers and celebrities for product promotion and marketing may expose us to risk that such content could contain 
problematic, inaccurate, or misleading product or marketing claims. These influencers and celebrities could also engage in behavior that reflects poorly on our brand. Any claims or behavior by such 
influencers or celebrities may be attributed to us and expose us to fines, monetary liabilities, or could harm our brand reputation all of which could have an adverse impact on our business and 
operations. 
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Failure to introduce new products or successfully improve existing products may adversely affect our ability to continue to grow. 

Part of our growth strategy depends on our ability to develop and market new products and improvements to our existing products that meet our standards for quality and appeal to consumer 
preferences. The success of our innovation and product development efforts is affected by our ability to anticipate changes in consumer preferences, the technical capability of our innovation staff in 
developing and testing product prototypes, including complying with applicable governmental regulations, and the success of our management and sales and marketing teams in introducing and 
marketing new products. Our innovation team is regularly working to enhance the taste of our beverages and quality of our ingredients, including expanding to additional flavors and categories. 
Failure to develop and market new products that appeal to consumers may lead to a decrease in our growth, sales and profitability. If we are unsuccessful in meeting our objectives with respect to 
new or improved products, our business could be harmed. Further, efforts to market and sell our innovation products as incremental placements to existing products on-shelf could potentially lead to 
the discontinuation of existing products to make room for the innovative products, which may generate less sales than existing, familiar products. On the other hand, failure to attempt to market and 
sell our innovative products could limit the potential incremental revenue those products might provide. 

Product safety and quality concerns, including relating to our sweetening system, could negatively affect our business by exposing us to lawsuits, product recalls or regulatory enforcement 
actions, or our brand dilution, which could increase our operating costs and reduce demand for our product offerings.

The success of our business depends in part on our ability to maintain consumer confidence in the safety and quality of all of our products, including relating to our sweetening system. The sale of 
products for human use and consumption involves the risk of injury or illness to consumers. We are subject to and are required to maintain compliance with various quality, environmental, health 
and safety supply chain standards. A failure or perceived failure to meet our quality or safety standards and comply with applicable regulations, including product adulteration, contamination, or 
tampering, or allegations of mislabeling, whether actual or perceived, could occur in our operations or those of our contract manufacturers, distributors or suppliers. This could result in time 
consuming and expensive production interruptions, negative publicity, the destruction of product inventory, the discontinuation of sales or our relationships with customers, contract manufacturers, 
distributors, or suppliers, the dilution of our brand, lost sales due to the unavailability of product for a period of time and higher-than-anticipated rates of returns of goods. The occurrence of health-
related illnesses, public health concerns, or other incidents related to the consumption of our products, including allergies, excessive consumption or death to a consumer, could also adversely affect 
consumer perceptions and affinity for our brand, harm our reputation, and affect the price and availability of affected ingredients, resulting in higher costs and disruptions in supply, which could 
cause a material reduction in our sales.

Noncompliance with applicable food product quality and safety regulations can result in enforcement action by applicable regulatory agencies, including product recalls, market withdrawals, product 
seizures, warning letters, injunctions, or criminal or civil liability. Such incidents could also expose us to product liability, negligence or other lawsuits, including consumer class action lawsuits. Any 
claims brought against us may exceed the limits or be outside the scope of our existing or future insurance policy coverage. Any judgment against us that is more than our policy limits, not covered 
by our policies or not subject to insurance would have to be paid by us, which would affect our results of operations and financial condition. Moreover, negative publicity also could be generated 
from false, unfounded or nominal liability claims or limited recalls.

Negative publicity surrounding the health effects of our sweetening system or other ingredients in our products could have an adverse effect on our business including reports that stevia extract or 
sweeteners (or another ingredient) cause adverse effects on consumer health, whether founded or unfounded. Future similar founded or unfounded claims could cause customers or consumers to 
reduce the number of our products that they purchase or stop buying our products altogether. Additionally, negative information on social media or networking websites about our products or any 
ingredients included in our products, even if inaccurate or malicious, could generate adverse publicity that could damage the reputation of our brand or the Company. Any or all of these events may 
lead to a loss of consumer confidence and trust, could damage the goodwill associated with our brand, cause consumers to choose other products, and negatively affect our business and financial 
performance. 

Our net sales and earnings may fluctuate as a result of price concessions, promotional activities and chargebacks.

We are often required to grant retailers price concessions that negatively impact our margins and our profitability in order to compete with our larger competitors with significantly greater financial 
resources. If we are not able to lower our cost structure adequately in response to such competitive customer pricing, and if we are not able to attract and retain a profitable customer mix and a 
profitable product mix, our profitability could continue to be adversely affected.

In addition, we periodically offer sales incentives through various programs to customers and consumers, including temporary price reductions, off-invoice discounts, retailer advertisements, product 
coupons and other trade activities. We also periodically provide chargebacks to our retailers, which include credits or discounts on the sale of our products to consumers. The cost associated with 
promotions and chargebacks is estimated and recorded as a reduction in net sales. We anticipate that these price concessions and promotional activities could adversely impact our net sales and that 
changes in such activities could adversely impact period-over-period results. If we are not accurate in predicting the performance of such promotions, or in estimating chargebacks, our business, 
financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected. Additionally, unforeseen issues with the workforce of our supply chain or retailers failing to execute on the proposed 
timeline for the promotions could prohibit us from executing planned promotions and programs and have an adverse effect on our planned volume performance.
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The loss of any registered trademark or other intellectual property or actual or alleged claims of infringement or violation of intellectual property rights could hurt our business.

We utilize intellectual property in our business. Our trademarks are valuable assets that reinforce our brand and consumers’ favorable perception of our products. We have invested a significant 
amount of money in establishing and promoting our trademarked brands. Our continued success depends, to a significant degree, upon our ability to protect and preserve our intellectual property.

We rely on confidentiality agreements and trademark law to protect our intellectual property rights. Our confidentiality agreements with our employees and certain of our consultants, contract 
employees, suppliers and independent contractors, including some of our contract manufacturers who use our formulations to manufacture our products, generally require that all information made 
known to them be kept strictly confidential. Further, some of our formulations have been developed by or with our suppliers and contract manufacturers. As a result, we may not be able to prevent 
others from independently developing and using similar formulations.

We cannot assure you that the steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property rights are adequate, that our intellectual property rights can be successfully defended and asserted in the future 
or that third parties will not infringe upon or misappropriate any such rights. In addition, our trademark rights and related registrations may be challenged in the future and could be canceled or 
narrowed. Failure to protect our trademark rights could prevent us in the future from challenging third parties who use names and logos similar to our trademarks, which may in turn cause consumer 
confusion or negatively affect consumers’ perception of our brand and products. Failure to protect our rights could also prevent us from entering into new markets or territories in the future. 

Moreover, intellectual property disputes, proceedings, misappropriation or infringement claims may result in a significant distraction for management, diversion of resources, and significant 
expense, which may not be recoverable regardless of whether we are successful. Such proceedings may be protracted with no certainty of success, and an adverse outcome could subject us to 
liabilities, force us to cease use of certain trademarks or other intellectual property or force us to enter into licenses with others. Any one of these occurrences may have an adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have a history of losses, and we may be unable to achieve profitability.

We have experienced net losses in each year since our inception. We incurred net losses of $23.8 million in 2024 and of $28.3 million in 2023. We anticipate that our operating expenses, excluding 
equity-based compensation, will increase over time as we continue to invest in growing our business, increasing our customer base, supplier network and contract manufacturers, and expanding our 
marketing channels. Our expansion efforts may prove more expensive than we anticipate, and there is no guarantee that these efforts will translate into sufficient sales to cover our expenses and 
result in profits. If our efforts to increase the average selling price of our products over time result in outsized volume decreases, our net sales may be adversely impacted and it will be challenging to 
achieve profitability or maintain pace with cost increases over time. We incur significant expenses in developing our innovative products and obtaining, storing, and marketing our products. In 
addition, some of our expenses are fixed. Accordingly, we may not be able to achieve profitability, and we may continue to incur significant losses in the future.

If we fail to attract, hire, train and retain qualified personnel, manage our future growth effectively or maintain our company culture, our business could be materially adversely affected.

Our growth and success depends in part upon our ability to attract, hire, train and retain a sufficient number of highly qualified and skilled employees who understand and appreciate our culture and 
can represent our brand effectively and establish credibility with our business partners, retailers and consumers. We believe our culture and our mission have been key contributors to our success to 
date and promote a sense of greater purpose and fulfillment in our employees. The continued work on our culture is necessary for our continued success as we build our employer brand. If we fail to 
maintain our company culture or focus on our employer brand while developing our current employees and integrating new employees, our business and competitive position could be materially 
harmed.

Any of our employees may terminate his or her employment with us at any time. If we are unable to attract, hire and retain employees capable of meeting our business needs and expectations, our 
business and brand image may be impaired. The failure to meet our staffing needs or any material increase in unplanned turnover rates of our employees may adversely affect our business, results of 
operations and financial condition.

Disruptions in the worldwide economy, including changes to foreign trade policies, may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Adverse and uncertain economic conditions, including the impacts of inflation, changes in U.S. foreign trade policies, and governmental tariffs, may impact distributor, retailer and consumer 
demand for our products. In addition, our ability to manage normal commercial relationships with our suppliers, contract manufacturers, distributors, retailers and creditors may suffer. Consumers 
may shift purchases to lower-priced or other perceived value offerings during economic downturns and periods of high inflation. In addition, consumers may choose to purchase private label 
products rather than branded products because they are generally less expensive. Distributors and retailers may become more conservative in response to these conditions and seek to reduce their 
inventories. The imposition or threat of tariffs or additional sanctions on imports or exports in the U.S., Canada or jurisdictions from which we source our supplies could have an adverse impact on 
our supply chain, results of operations, or overall business. Additionally, the recent implementation of a 25% import tax on all steel and aluminum entering the U.S. could adversely impact our 
operating costs and business overall. Our results of operations depend upon, among other things, our ability to maintain and increase sales volume with our existing distributors, retailer customers, 
our ability to attract new consumers, the financial condition of our consumers and our ability to provide products that appeal to consumers at the right price. In the past, inflationary pressures raised 
overall supply chain costs and manufacturing and labor costs, which impacted our margins. Prolonged unfavorable economic conditions may have an adverse effect on our sales and profitability.
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Climate change may negatively affect our business and operations.

We believe greenhouse gases in the atmosphere have and will continue to have an adverse impact on global temperatures, weather patterns and the frequency and severity of extreme weather and 
natural disasters. As climate change has a negative effect on agricultural productivity, we may be subject to decreased availability or less favorable pricing for certain commodities that are necessary 
for our products, such as stevia extract. As a result of climate change, we are and may continue to be subjected to decreased availability of water, deteriorated quality of water or less favorable 
pricing for water, which could adversely impact our contract manufacturers’ operations, as well as the agricultural businesses of our suppliers, which rely on the availability and quality of water. As 
demand for water continues to increase, water becomes scarcer, and the quality of available water deteriorates, we may incur increased manufacturing costs or face capacity constraints that could 
adversely affect our profitability or net sales.

Adverse weather conditions, fires, natural disasters, crop disease, pests and other natural conditions can impose significant costs and losses on our business.

Agricultural products, including the stevia rebaudiana plant, are vulnerable to adverse weather conditions, including severe rains, drought and temperature extremes, floods and windstorms, which 
are common but difficult to predict. Agricultural products also are vulnerable to crop disease and to pests, which may vary in severity and effect, depending on the stage of production at the time of 
infection or infestation, the type of treatment applied and climate conditions. Unfavorable growing conditions caused by these factors can reduce both crop size and crop quality and, in extreme 
cases, entire harvests may be lost. Additionally, adverse weather or natural disasters, including fires, earthquakes, winter storms, floods, droughts, or volcanic events, could impact manufacturing and 
business facilities, which could result in significant costs and meaningfully reduce our capacity to fulfill orders and maintain normal business operations. These factors may result in lower sales 
volume and increased costs of raw materials and manufacturing. Incremental costs, including transportation, may also be incurred if we need to find alternate short-term supplies of products from 
alternative areas. These factors can increase costs, decrease revenues and lead to additional charges to earnings, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and 
financial condition.

Similarly, an earthquake, fire, tsunami, tornado or other natural disaster could seriously disrupt our entire business. Our corporate offices and research and development functions are located in Los 
Angeles, California. The impact of an earthquake, fire, mudslide or tsunami, or other natural disasters in the Los Angeles area on our facilities and overall operations is difficult to predict, but such a 
natural disaster could seriously disrupt our entire business. Our insurance may not adequately cover our losses and expenses in the event of such a natural disaster. As a result, natural disasters in the 
Los Angeles area or in areas where our contract manufacturers are located, could lead to substantial losses.

We may face difficulties as we expand our operations into new markets in which we have no prior operating experience.

As we work to grow our brand, we intend to enter into new markets, including eventually expanding into countries other than those in which we currently operate. It may be difficult for us to 
understand and accurately predict taste preferences and purchasing habits of consumers in these new geographic markets as we have little experience with consumer preferences outside the United 
States and Canada. We will also face increased competition with larger competitors who have stronger established brands in such markets. The political, legal and social systems of certain territories 
pose difficult challenges related to establishing and maintaining control and ownership of our brand and intellectual property, as well as mitigating the risk of diverted sales to other territories and/or 
sales diverted into the U.S. It is also costly to establish, develop and maintain international operations and develop and promote our brands in international markets and we may face adverse tax 
consequences, tariffs, and barriers to trade. Changes in U.S. foreign trade policies, including as a result of the new presidential administration, could lead to the imposition of additional trade barriers 
and tariffs on U.S. products in foreign jurisdictions. Such changes in U.S. trade policy or in laws and policies governing foreign trade, or actions taken by countries in response to such policies, could 
materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations. Our expansion may involve expanding into less developed countries, which may have less political, social or economic stability 
and less developed infrastructure and legal systems. By expanding into other territories, we may be subject to additional product labeling and quality requirements, which could require us to market 
our products differently or change the formula of certain products to meet local standards in order to commercialize. As we expand our business into new countries, we may encounter regulatory, 
legal, personnel, technological and other difficulties that increase our expenses and/or delay our ability to become profitable in such countries, which may have a material adverse effect on our 
business and brand. 

Risks Relating to Our Relationships with Third Parties

Because we rely on a limited number of third-party suppliers to supply our contract manufacturers, raw materials may not be able to be obtained on a timely basis or in sufficient quantities for 
such contract manufacturers to produce our products and we may not be able to then meet demand for our products. 

We rely on a limited number of suppliers to supply our contract manufacturers with raw materials to make our products. Our financial performance depends in part on our contract manufacturer’s 
ability to arrange for the purchase of raw materials in sufficient quantities at competitive prices. We are not assured of continued supply or pricing of raw materials to our contract manufacturers. 
Any of our suppliers could discontinue or seek to alter their relationship with our contract manufacturers. 

A majority of the stevia extract used in our products is currently sourced from two suppliers, which we have selected because they meet our specific requirements for a particular blend of leaf 
compounds. General trade tensions between the U.S. and China, which began escalating in 2018, could have a negative impact on our business. The recent proposed tariff increases on imports from 
China have the potential to disrupt our supply chain and impose additional costs on our business if we cannot properly mitigate the impact of these policies. Additionally, there can be no assurance 
that the future imposition of any tariffs, changes thereto or potential actions taken by countries in response to the tariffs will not have a material adverse effect upon our results of operations. Any 
disruption in the stevia extract supply, price, quality, availability or timely delivery could adversely affect our business, performance, and results of operations. Additionally, our contract 
manufacturers’ sourcing of the majority of the stevia extract used in our products from one supplier increases the risk of significant supply disruptions from local and regional events. For more 
information regarding contract terms, see the section of this Annual Report captioned “Business—Our Supply Chain.”
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Our business’ success depends on third party logistics. We currently work with contract manufacturers to store, ship, and otherwise support our distribution of products to our customers and retail 
partners. Our ability to meet customer and retail partner expectations, manage inventory, complete sales, and achieve objectives for operating efficiencies and growth depends on the proper operation 
of these contract manufacturers’ distribution facilities, the development or expansion of additional distribution capabilities, and the timely performance of services by third parties. Problems with our 
contract manufacturers’ business, finances, labor relations, ability to obtain raw materials, costs, production, insurance and reputation, as well as natural disasters, fires, or other catastrophic 
occurrences could adversely affect the success of our business. Additionally, the recent implementation of a 25% import tax on all steel and aluminum entering the U.S. could adversely impact our 
supply chain and raise operating costs for us.

We seek alternative sources of stevia extract and other plant-based ingredients to use in our products, but we may not be successful in diversifying the raw materials we use in our products. If we 
need to replace an existing supplier, there can be no assurance that supplies of raw materials will be available when required on acceptable terms, or that a new supplier would allocate sufficient 
capacity to our contract manufacturers in order to produce sufficient products to meet our requirements, fill our orders in a timely manner, meet our strict quality standards, and ensure that we can 
supply enough products to meet consumer demand. Additionally, alternative sourcing could increase our contract manufacturers’ product costs to Zevia, which could decrease our profit margins. If 
we are unable to manage our supply chain effectively and ensure that our products are available to meet consumer demand, our operating costs could increase and our profit margins could decrease.

Increase in the cost, disruption of supply or shortage of stevia sweetener or other ingredients or raw materials, packaging materials, aluminum cans or other containers could harm our 
business.

We use various ingredients in our beverage products, including stevia sweetener and flavor ingredients relating to consumable products, aluminum cans and other packaging materials. The prices for 
ingredients, other raw materials, packaging materials and aluminum cans fluctuate depending on market conditions. We have previously experienced challenges in sourcing aluminum for our cans, 
and could in the future experience similar disruptions in supply of our finished beverage products. The recent implementation by the new administration of a 25% import tax on all steel and 
aluminum entering the U.S. could adversely impact our supply chain and raise operating costs for us.

Substantial increases in the prices of stevia sweetener, our other ingredients, other raw materials, and packaging materials, to the extent they cannot be recouped through increases in the prices of 
finished beverage products, could increase operating costs for us and companies we do business with and reduce our profitability. Increases in the prices of our finished beverage products resulting 
from a higher cost of ingredients, other raw materials, and packaging materials could affect affordability in some markets and reduce sales.

Disruption within our supply chain or distribution channels, including with respect to packaging, transportation, labor and other inputs, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

We rely on third-party warehousing and fulfillment service providers to receive, store, repack, fulfill, and load our products for shipment in the U.S. and Canada. These third-party warehousing and 
fulfillment service providers distribute our products to our distributors and retail-direct customers through transportation partners. Our business depends in large part on the orderly operation of this 
distribution process, which in turn depends on timely availability of finished good products from our contract manufacturers, successful on-time transfer and real-time tracking information of our 
products for outbound and inbound shipping, and effective operations at the warehouses and distribution locations. Any increase in transportation costs (including increases in fuel costs), shipping 
costs or warehouse costs, port or supplier-side delays, reductions in the transportation capacity of carriers, labor strikes or shortages in the transportation industry, disruptions to the national and 
international transportation infrastructure, decreased warehouse availability and unexpected delivery interruptions or delays may increase the cost of, and adversely impact, our logistics and our 
ability to provide quality and timely service to our distributors and retail-direct customers. 

We also may not adequately anticipate changing demands on our distribution system, including the effect of any expansion or reduction we may need to implement, the number or the location of our 
warehouses/fulfillment locations to meet increased complexity or changes in demand. Any of these factors could cause interruptions and delays in delivery of products or result in increased costs. 
For example, during the second, third, and fourth quarters of 2023, in connection with certain initiatives to streamline our supply chain, we faced short-term supply chain logistics challenges which 
hindered fulfillment and impacted net sales results for the quarter. In the fourth quarter of 2023, we implemented measures to address these challenges and restored service levels.

Events beyond our control could damage the facilities of our warehousing and fulfillment service providers, render them inoperable, effect the flow of product to and from these locations, or impact 
our ability to manage our partners, making it difficult or impossible for us to process customer or consumer orders for an extended period of time. We could also incur significantly higher costs and 
longer lead times associated with distributing inventory during the time it takes for our third-party providers to reopen, replace or bring the capacity back to normal levels for their 
warehouses/fulfillment locations and logistics capabilities after a disruption.

An increase in costs, a sustained interruption in the supply, or a shortage of some of the ingredients or other raw materials used in our products, supplier quality and reliability issues, trade 
disruptions, and changes in supply chain could in the future negatively impact our net sales, gross margins, selling expenses, and results of operations. The inability to fulfill, or any delays in 
processing, customer or consumer orders from the warehousing/fulfillment locations of our providers or any quality issues could result in the loss of consumers, retail partners or distributors, or the 
issuances of penalties and chargebacks, and may also adversely affect our reputation. Our success with our retail customers and distribution partners depends on their timely receipt of products for 
sale, and any repeated, intermittent or long-term disruption in, or failures of, the operations of the warehouses/fulfillment locations of our partners could result in their lower sales and profitability, 
which in turn could result in a loss of their loyalty to our products, including loss of shelf space for our products. The insurance we maintain for business interruption may not cover all of these risks, 
or be sufficient to cover all of our potential losses, and may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all, and any insurance proceeds may not be paid to us in a timely manner. 
Additionally, we may need to continue to update and expand our systems to manage these warehouse/fulfillment locations and related systems to support our business growth and increasing 
complexity.
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Substantial disruption at our independent contract manufacturing and distribution facilities could occur. 

We do not directly manufacture our products, but instead use established contract manufacturing companies to produce our products. Some of these contract manufacturers are also our direct 
competitors, or manufacture and distribute products for our competitors. As independent companies, these contract manufacturers and distributors make their own business decisions. They have the 
right to determine whether, and to what extent, they produce our products, and our competitors’ products, and to what extent they produce and distribute their own products. They may devote more 
resources to other products, prioritize their own products, or take other actions detrimental to our products or brand. These contract manufacturers and distributors may not be able to fulfill our future 
demand, could charge rates that make using their services inefficient or cost prohibitive to us or may simply not be able or willing to provide their services to us on a timely basis or at all. In the 
event of any disruption or delay, whether caused by a rift in our relationship or the inability of our contract manufacturers to manufacture our products as required, we would need to secure the 
services of alternative companies. We may be unable to onboard alternative contract manufacturers at commercially reasonable rates and/or within a reasonably short time period and any such 
transition could be costly. If any of these events were to occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.

We may enter into ‘take or pay’ arrangements to improve assurance of supply for both co-pack volume and aluminum cans. In most cases, these contract manufacturers and distributors are able to 
terminate their manufacturing and distribution arrangements with us without cause. We may need to increase support for our brands in their territories to protect our route to market and may not be 
able to pass price increases through to them. Their financial condition could also be adversely affected by conditions beyond their control, and their business could suffer as a result. Deteriorating 
economic conditions could negatively impact the financial viability of these contract manufacturers and distributors.

In addition, a disruption at our contract manufacturing and distribution facilities, including fire, natural disasters, weather, water scarcity, manufacturing problems, disease, epidemics and pandemics, 
strikes, transportation or supply interruption, contractual dispute, government regulation, cybersecurity attacks or terrorism, could have a material adverse effect on our business. Moreover, if 
demand increases more than we forecast, we will need to acquire additional capacity. Alternative facilities with sufficient capacity or capabilities may not be available, may cost substantially more 
than existing facilities or may take a significant amount of time to start production, each of which could negatively affect our business and financial performance.

Failure by independent third party transportation providers to facilitate delivery of our products on time, or at all, could result in lost sales.

We currently rely upon a third-party transportation broker to procure providers to ship our products. If we fail to meet our shipping schedules, we could damage our relationships with distributors 
and/or retailers, increase our distribution costs and/or cause sales opportunities to be delayed or lost, including losing shelf space in stores. Our utilization of broker services for the shipment of our 
products is subject to risks that are beyond our control, including availability of trucking capacity and increases in fuel prices, which would increase our shipping costs, and employee strikes or work 
stoppages and inclement weather, which may impact the ability of our transportation broker to procure delivery services that adequately meet our shipping needs. Any failure to deliver products to 
our customers in a timely and accurate manner may damage our reputation and brand and may cause us to lose customers. 

Failure by independent contract manufacturers and suppliers to comply with ethical business practices could harm our brand reputation and business.

Although we have implemented policies and procedures to promote compliance with applicable laws and regulations, including requiring our contract manufacturers and suppliers to agree to our 
Supplier Code of Conduct, we cannot guarantee their compliance with ethical business practices and applicable laws and regulations. If our contract manufacturers and suppliers do not comply with 
applicable laws, regulations, employment practices, human rights standards, quality standards, environmental standards, and other applicable standards and practices, our brand reputation could be 
harmed and we could be exposed to investigations, product recalls, product liability claims, regulatory enforcement, litigation, monetary liability, and additional costs that could negatively impact 
our results of operations. If our contract manufacturers and suppliers do not comply with our set standards and specifications, we may also be forced to seek alternative partners which could disrupt 
our operations and adversely affect our business. 
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Our results of operations could be harmed if we are unable to accurately forecast demand for our products, revenue and costs, including maintaining adequate inventory levels. 

Revenue and results of operations are difficult to accurately forecast as they are subject to a number of uncertainties, including the volume, timing, and type of orders we receive across our various 
channels, as well as our ability to plan for and model future growth. Forecasts may be particularly challenging as we expand into new markets and geographies in the U.S. and Canada and develop 
and market new products. We depend on our forecasts of demand for various products to make purchase decisions and to manage our inventory. We need to maintain adequate levels of certain 
products in order to be able to deliver our beverages on time. If the inventory of our products held by our distributors and/or retailers is too high, they would not place orders for additional products, 
and if the inventory of our products held by our distributors and/or retailers is too low, we could lose shelf space, either of which could unfavorably impact our future sales and adversely affect our 
operating results. We cannot be sure the current growth rates and trends are meaningful predictors of future growth. If our assumptions prove to be wrong, for reasons such as a change in demand for 
our products, increasing competition, our inability to streamline and optimize manufacturing capacity for specific products, our inability to effectively and timely resolve any supply chain logistics 
challenges, rapid changes in product cycles and pricing, or a decrease in the growth of our overall market, our operating and financial results could differ materially from our expectations, and our 
business could suffer. 

Risks Relating to Governmental Regulation

We and our contract manufacturers and suppliers are subject to extensive governmental regulation and may be subject to enforcement if we are not in compliance with applicable requirements.

We and our contract manufacturers and suppliers are subject to a broad range of federal, state, provincial and local laws and regulations that govern, among other issues, the testing, design, 
development, formulation, manufacturing, storage, product safety, labeling, distribution, marketing, sales, advertising and post-market reporting of foods. These include laws administered by the 
FDA, the FTC, the USDA, Health Canada (including the Food and Drugs Act in Canada), and other federal, state, provincial and local regulatory authorities. Because we market products that are 
regulated as food, we and the companies that pack our products are subject to the requirements of the FDCA and regulations promulgated thereunder by the FDA. The statute and regulations govern, 
among other things, the production, composition, ingredients, packaging, labeling, storage, transportation, and safety of beverages. The FDA requires that facilities that produce food products 
comply with a range of requirements, including hazard analysis and preventative controls regulations, cGMPs requirements, and supplier verification requirements. Production facilities are subject to 
periodic inspection by federal, state, provincial and local authorities. If we cannot successfully contract with manufacturers for our products and if they cannot conform to our specifications and the 
strict regulatory requirements of the FDA and applicable state, provincial and local laws, they may be subject to adverse inspection findings or enforcement actions, which could materially impact 
our ability to market our products, could result in their inability to continue to manufacture our products, or could result in a recall of our products that have already been distributed.

Our products are subject to the FDA’s comprehensive regulatory authority under the FDCA, as well as by other regulatory authorities which regulate the manufacturing, preparation, quality control, 
import, export, packaging, labeling, storing, transportation, marketing, advertising, promotion, distribution, safety, and/or adverse event reporting of foods. Among other things, manufacturers of 
conventional foods must meet applicable cGMPs and certain requirements that govern the constituents, packaging, labeling and holding of foods. Failure by us, our contract manufacturers, or 
suppliers to comply with these regulations could result in, by way of example, significant fines, criminal and civil liability, product seizures, recalls, withdrawals, or other enforcement action. Any of 
these actions would have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our products and their manufacturing, labeling, marketing and sale are also subject to various aspects of the Federal Trade Commission Act, the Robinson-Patman Act, the Food Safety 
Modernization Act, the Lanham Act, Canada’s Food and Drugs Act and Regulations, state consumer protection laws and state warning and labeling laws, such as Proposition 65 in California. 
Various states, provinces and other authorities require deposits, eco-taxes or fees on certain products or packaging. Similar legislation or regulations may be proposed in the future at local, state and 
federal levels, both in the U.S. and elsewhere. In addition, various jurisdictions may seek to adopt significant additional product labeling or warning requirements or limitations on the marketing or 
sale of our products as a result of what they contain or allegations that they cause adverse health effects.

Additionally, we rely on independent third-party certification, including certifications of certain products or ingredients as “organic” and “Non-GMO” to differentiate the quality of our products 
from those of our competitors. We must comply with the requirements of the independent third-party organizations or certification authorities in order to maintain these labels. The loss of any 
certifications could impact consumer’s perception of our brand and products, including the health and wellness attributes, safety, and quality of our products, and could harm our brand reputation 
and adversely affect our business and results of operations. Failure by us, our contract manufacturers, or our suppliers to comply with applicable laws and regulations or to obtain and maintain 
necessary permits, licenses, and registrations relating to our operations could subject us to administrative and civil penalties, including significant fines, injunctions, product recalls or seizures, 
withdrawals, warning letters, restrictions on the production or marketing of our products, or refusals to permit the import or export of products, civil liability, criminal liability or sanctions, or other 
enforcement actions. Any of these actions would result in a material effect on our operating results and business and financial condition, including increased operating costs. For more information 
regarding government regulations, see the section of this Annual Report captioned “Business—Government Regulation.”

Our policies and procedures are designed to comply with all applicable laws, accounting and reporting requirements, tax rules and other regulations and requirements, including those imposed by the 
SEC, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”), the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, the FDA, the Food and Drugs Act in Canada, Health Canada, the FTC, the USDA, the EPA, OSHA, 
the U.S. Department of Justice, state and local governments, and by comparable entities in foreign countries, as well as applicable trade, labor, sanitation, safety, environmental, labeling, anti-bribery 
and corruption and merchandise laws.
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Changes in laws and regulations, or the adoption of new laws or regulations, relating to beverage containers, ingredients and packaging could increase our costs, reduce demand for our 
products, and otherwise adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Proposals relating to beverage container deposits, recycling, eco-tax and/or product stewardship have been introduced in various jurisdictions in the U.S. and overseas, and we anticipate that similar 
legislation or regulations may be proposed in the future at local, state and federal levels, both in the U.S. and elsewhere. Consumers’ increased concerns and changing attitudes about solid waste 
streams and environmental responsibility and the related publicity could result in the adoption of such legislation or regulations. If these types of requirements are adopted and implemented on a 
large scale in any of the major markets in which we operate, they could affect our costs or require changes in our distribution model, which could reduce our net operating revenues and profitability.
 

The regulatory environment in which we operate could change significantly and adversely in the future. For example, the recent change in the U.S. federal administration has led and is expected to 
continue to lead to changes in the leadership of various U.S. federal regulatory agencies and changes or proposed or threatened changes to U.S. federal government policy that have led to, in some 
cases, legal challenges as well as uncertainty around the funding, functioning and policy priorities of U.S. federal regulatory agencies and the status of current and future regulations. U.S. federal 
government policy changes have included seeking to temporarily broadly halt federal funding, seeking to aggressively downsize the U.S. federal government’s workforce and instructing federal 
agencies to reprioritize or to cease operating or enforcing certain laws or regulations. We are unable to predict the extent to which the current U.S. federal administration may impose or seek to 
impose leadership or policy changes at the U.S. federal regulatory agencies responsible for regulating our business or changes to rules and policies impacting our operations. Any change in 
manufacturing, labeling, warning, quality, health, or packaging requirements for our products may lead to an increase in costs and interruptions in production, either of which could adversely affect 
our operations and financial condition. New or revised government laws and regulations and changes in enforcement priorities of regulators could inhibit sales of our products or result in additional 
compliance costs and, in the event of non-compliance, civil remedies, including fines, enforcement actions, injunctions, withdrawals, recalls or seizures and confiscations, as well as potential 
criminal sanctions. A change in laws and regulations could also increase our manufacturing costs, if for example our products become subject to new sales taxes. Any of these things may adversely 
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Regulatory enforcement actions and litigation concerning marketing and labeling of our products could adversely affect our business and reputation.

The marketing and labeling of any food product in recent years has brought increased risk that consumers will bring class action lawsuits and that the FTC and/or state attorneys general will bring 
legal action concerning the truth and accuracy of the marketing and labeling of the product, seek removal of a product from the marketplace, and/or impose fines and penalties. Products that we sell 
carry claims as to their ingredients or health and wellness related attributes, including the term “natural” or other express or implied statements relating to the ingredients or health and wellness 
related attributes of our products. Although the FDA and the USDA each has issued statements regarding the appropriate use of the word “natural,” there is no single, official U.S. government 
regulation defining the term “natural” for use in the food industry, which is true for many other label statements in the better-for-you and functionally-focused food industry. The lack of regulatory 
definition for “natural” and other label statements has contributed to legal challenges against many consumer products companies, and plaintiffs have commenced legal actions against several food 
companies that market “natural” products and/or product ingredients, asserting false, misleading and deceptive advertising and labeling claims, including claims related to genetically modified 
ingredients. In limited circumstances, the FDA has taken regulatory action against products labeled “natural” that contain synthetic ingredients, chemicals, processing and/or components. As a result 
of such legal or regulatory challenges, consumers may avoid purchasing products from us or seek alternatives, even if the basis for the claim is unfounded.

In recent years, the FTC and state attorneys general have initiated numerous investigations of dietary and nutritional supplement companies and products. Even when unmerited, class claims, action 
by the FTC or state attorneys general enforcement actions can be expensive to defend and adversely affect our reputation with existing and potential customers and consumers and our corporate and 
brand image, which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. The number of private consumer class actions relating to false or deceptive 
advertising against cosmetic, food, beverage and nutritional supplement manufacturers has increased in recent years. In addition, the FDA has aggressively enforced its regulations with respect to 
different types of product claims that may or may not be made for food products. These events could interrupt the marketing and sales of our products, severely damage our brand reputation and 
public image, increase our legal expenses, result in product recalls or litigation, and impede our ability to deliver our products in sufficient quantities or quality, which could result in a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Any of these claims could fall under an exception in our insurance policy, exceed our coverage, or not be 
covered at all by our insurance policies, causing us to incur the costs and suffer losses, which could adversely affect the business and results of operations.

We are subject to international regulations that could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We are subject to regulations internationally where we distribute and/or will sell our products. Our products are subject to numerous food safety and other laws and regulations relating to the 
sourcing, manufacturing, storing, labeling, marketing, advertising and distribution of these products. Currently, our only market outside the United States is Canada. If regulators determine that the 
labeling and/or composition of any of our products is not in compliance with laws or regulations in Canada or any other jurisdictions we may enter in the future, or if we or our contract 
manufacturers otherwise fail to comply with applicable laws and regulations in Canada or any other jurisdictions we may enter in the future, we could be subject to civil remedies or penalties, such 
as fines, injunctions, recalls or seizures, warning letters, restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the products, or refusals to permit the import or export of products, as well as potential 
criminal sanctions. In addition, enforcement of existing laws and regulations, changes in legal requirements and/or evolving interpretations of existing regulatory requirements may result in 
increased compliance costs and create other obligations, financial or otherwise, that could adversely affect our business, financial condition or operating results.
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In addition, if we expand our international operations, we could be adversely affected by violations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws, which 
generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to non-U.S. officials or other third parties for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. While our 
policies mandate compliance with these anti-bribery laws, our internal control policies and procedures may not protect us from reckless or criminal acts committed by our employees or agents. 
Violations of these laws, or allegations of such violations, could disrupt our business, impact our reputation, and result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows and 
financial condition.

Risks Relating to Tax Matters

The Company is dependent on distributions from Zevia LLC to pay any taxes and other expenses, including payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

The Company is a holding company and, its only business is to act as the managing member of Zevia LLC, and its only material assets are Class A units representing approximately 84.2% of the 
membership interests of Zevia LLC. The Company does not have any independent means of generating revenue. We anticipate that Zevia LLC will continue to be treated as a partnership for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes and, as such, generally will not be subject to any entity-level U.S. federal income tax. Instead, taxable income will be allocated to the members of Zevia LLC. 
Accordingly, the Company will be required to pay income taxes on its allocable share of any net taxable income of Zevia LLC. We intend to cause Zevia LLC to make distributions to each of its 
members, including the Company, in an amount intended to enable each member to pay all applicable taxes on taxable income allocable to such member and to allow the Company to make 
payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”). If the amount of tax distributions to be made exceeds the amount of funds available for distribution, the Company shall receive the full 
amount of its tax distribution before the other members receive any distribution and the balance, if any, of funds available for distribution shall be distributed to the other members pro rata in 
accordance with their assumed tax liabilities. To the extent that the Company needs funds, and Zevia LLC is restricted from making such distributions under applicable laws or regulations, or is 
otherwise unable to provide such funds, it could materially and adversely affect the Company’s ability to pay taxes and other expenses, including payments under the TRA, and affect our liquidity 
and financial condition. In addition, although we do not currently expect to pay dividends, such restrictions could affect our ability to any dividends, if declared.

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) might challenge the tax basis step-ups and other tax benefits we receive in connection with the IPO and the related transactions and in connection with 
future acquisitions of Zevia LLC units.

The Company acquired Zevia LLC units held directly by other members of Zevia LLC in connection with the IPO and may in the future acquire such units in exchange for shares of our Class A 
common stock or, at our election, cash. Those acquisitions and exchanges resulted or are expected to result in increases in the tax basis of the assets of Zevia LLC that otherwise would not have been 
available. These increases in tax basis are expected to increase (for tax purposes) the Company’s depreciation and amortization and, together with other tax benefits, reduce the amount of tax that the 
Company would otherwise be required to pay, although it is possible that the IRS might challenge all or part of these tax basis increases or other tax benefits, and a court might sustain such a 
challenge. The Company’s ability to achieve benefits from any tax basis increases or other tax benefits will depend upon a number of factors, as discussed below, including the timing and amount of 
our future income. We will not be reimbursed for any payments previously made under the TRA if the basis increases or other tax benefits described above are successfully challenged by the IRS or 
another taxing authority. As a result, in certain circumstances, payments could be made under the TRA in excess of our ultimate cash tax savings.

The Company will be required to pay over to continuing members of Zevia LLC and the Direct Zevia Stockholders most of the tax benefits the Company receives from tax basis step-ups (and 
certain other tax benefits) attributable to its acquisition of units of Zevia LLC in connection with the IPO and in the future, and the amount of those payments are expected to be substantial.

The Company entered into the TRA with continuing members of Zevia LLC (not including the Company) and certain pre-IPO institutional investors (“the Direct Zevia Stockholders”). The TRA 
provides for payment by the Company to continuing members of Zevia LLC (not including the Company) and the Direct Zevia Stockholders of 85% of the amount of the net cash tax savings, if any, 
that the Company realizes (or, under certain circumstances, is deemed to realize) as a result of (i) increases in tax basis (and utilization of certain other tax benefits) resulting from the Company’s 
acquisition of a continuing member’s Zevia LLC units in connection with the IPO and in future exchanges, (ii) certain favorable tax attributes we acquired from the blocker companies in the blocker 
mergers and (iii) payments the Company makes under the TRA (including tax benefits related to imputed interest). Generally, payments under the TRA will be made to the continuing members of 
Zevia LLC (not including the Company) and to the Direct Zevia Stockholders pro rata based on their relative percentage ownership of Zevia LLC immediately prior to the Reorganization. Such 
payments will reduce the cash provided by the tax savings generated from the previously described transactions with the members of Zevia LLC and the Direct Zevia Stockholders that would 
otherwise have been available to the Company for other uses, including reinvestment or dividends to the Company Class A stockholders. The Company will retain the benefit of the remaining 15% 
of these net cash tax savings.

The term of the TRA commenced upon the completion of the IPO and will continue until all tax benefits that are subject to the TRA have been utilized or have expired, unless we exercise our right 
to terminate a TRA (or it is terminated due to a change in control or our breach of a material obligation thereunder), in which case the Company will be required to make the termination payment 
specified in that TRA. In addition, payments we make under the TRA will be increased by any interest accrued from the due date (without extensions) of the corresponding tax return. Based on 
certain assumptions, including no material changes in the relevant tax law and that we earn sufficient taxable income to realize the full tax benefit of the increased amortization of our assets and the 
net operating losses (and similar items), we expect that future payments to the continuing members of Zevia LLC (not including the Company) in respect of the IPO will be approximately $56.5 
million in the aggregate, although the actual future payments to the continuing members of Zevia LLC will vary based on the factors discussed below, and estimating the amount and timing of 
payments that may be made under the TRA is by its nature imprecise, as the calculation of amounts payable depends on a variety of factors and future events. We expect to receive distributions from 
Zevia LLC in order to make any required payments under the TRA. To the extent such distributions or our cash resources are insufficient to meet our obligations under the TRA as a result of timing 
discrepancies or otherwise, such payments may be deferred for up to six months and would accrue interest until paid.
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The actual increase in tax basis, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under the TRA, will vary depending on a number of factors, including the price of our Class A common stock at 
the time of the exchange; the timing of future exchanges; the extent to which exchanges are taxable; the amount and timing of the utilization of tax attributes; the amount, timing and character of the 
Company’s income; the U.S. federal, state and local tax rates then applicable; the amount of each exchanging unitholder’s tax basis in its units at the time of the relevant exchange; the depreciation 
and amortization periods that apply to the increases in tax basis; the timing and amount of any earlier payments that the Company may have made under the TRA and the portion of the Company’s 
payments under the TRA that constitute imputed interest or give rise to depreciable or amortizable tax basis. We expect that, as a result of the increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible 
assets of Zevia LLC attributable to the acquired or exchanged Zevia LLC interests, and certain other tax benefits, the payments that the Company will be required to make to the holders of rights 
under the TRA will be substantial. There may be a material negative effect on our financial condition and liquidity if, as described below, the payments under the TRA exceed the actual benefits the 
Company receives in respect of the tax attributes subject to the TRA and/or distributions to the Company by Zevia LLC are not sufficient to permit the Company to make payments under the TRA.

In certain circumstances, payments under the TRA may be accelerated and/or significantly exceed the actual tax benefits, if any, that the Company actually realizes.

The TRA provides that if (i) the Company exercises its right to early termination of the TRA in whole (that is, with respect to all benefits due to all beneficiaries under the TRA) or in part (that is, 
with respect to some benefits due to all beneficiaries under the TRA), (ii) the Company experiences certain changes in control, (iii) the TRA is rejected in certain bankruptcy proceedings, (iv) the 
Company fails (subject to certain exceptions) to make a payment under the TRA within 180 days after the due date or (v) the Company materially breaches its obligations under the TRA, the 
Company will be obligated to make an early termination payment to holders of rights under the TRA equal to the present value of all payments that would be required to be paid by the Company 
under the TRA. The amount of such payments will be determined on the basis of certain assumptions in the TRA, including (i) the assumption that the Company would have enough taxable income 
in the future to fully utilize the tax benefit resulting from the tax assets that are the subject of the TRA, (ii) the assumption that any item of loss deduction or credit generated by a basis adjustment or 
imputed interest arising in a taxable year preceding the taxable year that includes an early termination will be used by the Company ratably from such taxable year through the earlier of (x) the 
scheduled expiration of such tax item or (y) 15 years; (iii) the assumption that any non-amortizable assets are deemed to be disposed of in a fully taxable transaction on the fifteenth anniversary of 
the earlier of the basis adjustment and the early termination date; (iv) the assumption that U.S. federal, state and local tax rates will be the same as in effect on the early termination date, unless 
scheduled to change; and (v) the assumption that any units of Zevia LLC (other than those held by the Company) outstanding on the termination date are deemed to be exchanged for an amount 
equal to the market value of the corresponding number of shares of Class A common stock on the termination date. Any early termination payment may be made significantly in advance of the 
actual realization, if any, of the future tax benefits to which the termination payment relates. The amount of the early termination payment is determined by discounting the present value of all 
payments that would be required to be paid by the Company under the TRA at a rate equal to the lesser of (a) 6.5% and (b) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate, as reported by the Wall Street 
Journal plus 400 basis points. Moreover, as a result of an elective early termination, a change in control or the Company’s material breach of its obligations under the TRA, the Company could be 
required to make payments under the TRA that exceed its actual cash savings under that TRA. Thus, the Company’s obligations under the TRA could have a substantial negative effect on its 
financial condition and liquidity and could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, or other forms of business combinations or changes of control. We cannot 
assure you that we will be able to finance any early termination payment. It is also possible that the actual benefits ultimately realized by us may be significantly less than were projected in the 
computation of the early termination payment. We will not be reimbursed if the actual benefits ultimately realized by us are less than were projected in the computation of the early termination 
payment.

Payments under the TRA will be based on the tax reporting positions that we will determine and the IRS or another tax authority may challenge all or part of the tax basis increases, as well as other 
related tax positions we take, and a court could sustain such a challenge. If any tax benefits that have given rise to payments under the TRA are subsequently disallowed, the Company would be 
entitled to reduce future amounts otherwise payable to a holder of rights under the TRA to the extent the holder has received excess payments. However, the required final and binding determination 
that a holder of rights under the TRA has received excess payments may not be made for a number of years following commencement of any challenge, and the Company will not be permitted to 
reduce its payments under the TRA until there has been a final and binding determination, by which time sufficient subsequent payments under such TRA may not be available to offset prior 
payments for disallowed benefits. the Company will not be reimbursed for any payments previously made under either of the TRA if the basis increases described above are successfully challenged 
by the IRS or another taxing authority. As a result, in certain circumstances, payments could be made under the TRA that are significantly in excess of the benefit that the Company actually realizes 
in respect of the increases in tax basis (and utilization of certain other tax benefits) and the Company may not be able to recoup those payments, which could adversely affect the Company’s 
financial condition and liquidity.

In certain circumstances, Zevia LLC will be required to make distributions to us and the existing members of Zevia LLC, and the distributions that Zevia LLC will be required to make may be 
substantial.

Zevia LLC is expected to continue to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, is not subject to U.S. federal income tax. Instead, taxable income will be allocated 
to members, including the Company. Pursuant to the Zevia LLC Operating Agreement, Zevia LLC will make tax distributions to its members, including the Company, which generally will be made 
pro rata based on the ownership of Zevia LLC units, calculated using an assumed tax rate, to help each of the members to pay taxes on that member’s allocable share of Zevia LLC’s net taxable 
income. Under applicable tax rules, Zevia LLC is required to allocate net taxable income disproportionately to its members in certain circumstances. Because tax distributions will be determined 
based on the member who is allocated the largest amount of taxable income on a per unit basis and on an assumed tax rate that is the highest possible rate applicable to any member, but will be made 
pro rata based on ownership of Zevia LLC units, Zevia LLC will be required to make tax distributions that, in the aggregate, will likely exceed the aggregate amount of taxes payable by its members 
with respect to the allocation of Zevia LLC income.
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Funds used by Zevia LLC to satisfy its tax distribution obligations will not be available for reinvestment in our business. Moreover, the tax distributions Zevia LLC will be required to make may be 
substantial, and may significantly exceed (as a percentage of Zevia LLC’s income) the overall effective tax rate applicable to a similarly situated corporate taxpayer. In addition, because these 
payments will be calculated with reference to an assumed tax rate, and because of the disproportionate allocation of net taxable income, these payments likely will significantly exceed the actual tax 
liability for many of the existing members of Zevia LLC.

As a result of potential differences in the amount of net taxable income allocable to us and to the existing members of Zevia LLC, as well as the use of an assumed tax rate in calculating Zevia 
LLC’s distribution obligations, we may receive distributions significantly in excess of our tax liabilities and obligations to make payments under the TRA. We may choose to manage these excess 
distributions through a number of different approaches, including through the payment of dividends to our Class A common stockholders or by applying them to other corporate purposes.

Pursuant to regulations issued under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), the Company may not be permitted to deduct its distributive share of 
compensation expense to the extent that the compensation was paid by Zevia LLC to certain of the Company’s covered employees, potentially resulting in additional U.S. federal income tax 
liability for the Company and reducing cash available for distribution to the Company’s stockholders and/or for the payment of other expenses and obligations of the Company.

Section 162(m) of the Code disallows the deduction by any publicly held corporation of applicable employee compensation paid with respect to any covered employee to the extent that such 
compensation for the taxable year exceeds $1,000,000. A “covered employee” means any employee of the taxpayer if the employee (a) is the principal executive officer (“PEO”) or principal 
financial officer (“PFO”) of the taxpayer at any time during the taxable year, or was an individual acting in such a capacity, (b) was among the three highest compensated executive officers for the 
taxable year (other than the PEO or PFO or an individual acting in such a capacity), or (c) was a covered employee of the taxpayer (or any predecessor) for any preceding taxable year beginning after 
December 31, 2016. Pursuant to final regulations released for publication in the Federal Register by the IRS and the United States Department of the Treasury on December 30, 2020 (the 162(m) 
Regulations), the Company will not be permitted to claim a deduction for the distributive share of compensation expense of Zevia LLC allocated to it to the extent that such distributive share, plus 
the amount of any compensation paid directly by the Company, exceeds $1,000,000 with respect to a covered employee, even if Zevia LLC, rather than the Company, pays the compensation. The 
162(m) Regulations were effective upon publication of final regulations in the Federal Register but apply to any deduction for compensation that is otherwise allowable for a taxable year ended on or 
after December 20, 2019. However, the 162(m) Regulations do not apply to compensation paid pursuant to a written binding contract in effect on December 20, 2019 that is not materially modified 
after that date. Accordingly, to the extent that the Company is disallowed a deduction for its distributive share of compensation expense under Section 162(m) of the Code, it may result in additional 
U.S. federal income tax liability for the Company and/or reduce cash available for distribution to the Company’s stockholders or for the payment of other expenses and obligations of the Company.

Future changes to tax laws or our effective tax rate could materially and adversely affect our company and reduce net returns to our stockholders.

Our treatment is subject to the enactment of, or changes in, tax laws, regulations and treaties, or the interpretation thereof, tax policy initiatives and reforms under consideration and the practices of 
tax authorities in various jurisdictions. Such changes may include (but are not limited to) the taxation of operating income, investment income, dividends received or (in the specific context of 
withholding tax) dividends paid, or the taxation of partnerships and other passthrough entities. In addition, the Group of Twenty, the OECD, the U.S. Congress and Treasury Department and other 
government agencies in jurisdictions where we and our affiliates do business have focused on issues related to the taxation of multinational corporations, including, but not limited to, transfer 
pricing, country-by-country reporting and base erosion. As a result, the tax laws in the United States and in jurisdictions which we do business could change on a prospective or retroactive basis, and 
any such changes could have an adverse effect on our worldwide tax liabilities, business, financial condition and results of operations. We are unable to predict what tax reform may be proposed or 
enacted in the future or what effect such changes would have on our business, but such changes, to the extent they are brought into tax legislation, regulations, policies or practices, could affect our 
financial position and overall or effective tax rates in the future in countries where we have operations, reduce post-tax returns to our stockholders, and increase the complexity, burden and cost of 
tax compliance.

Our businesses are subject to income taxation in the United States. Tax rates at the federal, state and local levels may be subject to significant change. If our effective tax rate increases, our operating 
results and cash flow could be adversely affected. Our effective income tax rate can vary significantly between periods due to a number of complex factors including, but not limited to, projected 
levels of taxable income in each jurisdiction, tax audits conducted and settled by various tax authorities, and adjustments to income taxes upon finalization of income tax returns.

We may be required to pay additional taxes because of the U.S. federal partnership audit rules and potentially also state and local tax rules.

Under the U.S. federal partnership audit rules, subject to certain exceptions, audit adjustments to items of income, gain, loss, deduction, or credit of an entity (and any holder’s share thereof) are 
determined, and taxes, interest, and penalties attributable thereto, are assessed and collected, at the entity level. Zevia LLC (or any of its applicable subsidiaries or other entities in which Zevia LLC 
directly or indirectly invests that are treated as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes) may be required to pay additional taxes, interest and penalties as a result of an audit adjustment, and 
Zevia PBC, as a member of Zevia LLC (or such other entities), could be required to indirectly bear the economic burden of those taxes, interest, and penalties even though we may not otherwise 
have been required to pay additional corporate-level taxes as a result of the related audit adjustment. Audit adjustments for state or local tax purposes could similarly result in Zevia LLC (or any of 
its applicable subsidiaries or other entities in which Zevia LLC directly or indirectly invests) being required to pay or indirectly bear the economic burden of state or local taxes and associated 
interest, and penalties.

Under certain circumstances, Zevia LLC or an entity in which Zevia LLC directly or indirectly invests may be eligible to make an election to cause members of Zevia LLC (or such other entity) to 
take into account the amount of any understatement, including any interest and penalties, in accordance with such member’s share in Zevia LLC in the year under audit. We will decide whether or 
not to cause Zevia LLC to make this election; however, there are circumstances in which the election may not be available and, in the case of an entity in which Zevia LLC directly or indirectly 
invests, such decision may be outside of our control. If Zevia LLC or an entity in which Zevia LLC directly or indirectly invests does not make this election, the then-current members of Zevia LLC 
(including Zevia PBC) could economically bear the burden of the understatement.
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If Zevia LLC were to become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, Zevia PBC and Zevia LLC might be subject to potentially significant 
tax inefficiencies, and Zevia PBC would not be able to recover payments previously made by it under the TRA, even if the corresponding tax benefits were subsequently determined to have been 
unavailable due to such status.

We intend to operate such that Zevia LLC does not become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A “publicly traded partnership” is an entity 
that otherwise would be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the interests of which are traded on an established securities market or readily tradable on a secondary market 
or the substantial equivalent thereof. Under certain circumstances, exchanges of Zevia LLC units pursuant to the Zevia LLC Operating Agreement or other transfers of Zevia LLC units could cause 
Zevia LLC to be treated like a publicly traded partnership. From time to time the U.S. Congress has considered legislation to change the tax treatment of partnerships and there can be no assurance 
that any such legislation will not be enacted or if enacted will not be adverse to us.

If Zevia LLC were to become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, significant tax inefficiencies might result for Zevia PBC and Zevia LLC, 
including as a result of Zevia PBC’s inability to file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return with Zevia LLC. In addition, Zevia PBC may not be able to realize tax benefits covered under the 
TRA and would not be able to recover any payments previously made by it under the TRA, even if the corresponding tax benefits (including any claimed increase in the tax basis of Zevia LLC’s 
assets) were subsequently determined to have been unavailable.

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock

We may fail to qualify for continued listing on the NYSE in the future, which could make it more difficult for our stockholders to sell their shares.
 
Our Class A common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) under the symbol “ZVIA.” We are required to satisfy the continued listing requirements of the NYSE to 
maintain such listing, including, among other things, the maintenance of a certain average closing price of our Class A common stock.
 
On June 26, 2024, we received formal notice from the NYSE that we were not in compliance with Section 802.01C of the NYSE Listed Company Manual because the average closing price of our 
Class A common stock was less than $1.00 per share over a consecutive 30 trading-day period. On October 1, 2024, we regained compliance with the minimum stock price continued listing standard 
set forth in Section 802.01C. 
 
While we have regained compliance, there can be no assurance that in the future, we will be able to maintain compliance with the NYSE’s continued listing requirements. In the event that we cannot 
maintain compliance with the NYSE continued listing standards, we could face significant material adverse consequences, including:

• a limited availability of market quotations for our Class A common stock;

• an adverse effect on the market price of our Class A common stock;

• loss of confidence from stakeholders, employees and potential business partners;

• reduced liquidity with respect to our Class A common stock;

• a determination that our shares are a “penny stock,” which will require brokers trading in our shares to adhere to more stringent rules, and which may limit demand for our Class A 
common stock among certain investors;

• a limited amount of news and analyst coverage for our company; and

• a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.
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The market price of our Class A common stock has been and may continue to be volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance, and you could lose all or part of your 
investment. 

The market price of our common stock has been volatile. The market price of our Class A common stock has been and may continue to fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, some 
of which are beyond our control and may not be related to our operating performance, including:

• announcements of new products, commercial relationships, acquisitions or other events by us or our competitors;

• price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;

• significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of food and beverage companies in general and of companies in the commercial beverage industry in particular;

• addition or loss of significant customers or other developments with respect to significant customers;

• fluctuations in the trading volume of our shares or the size of our public float;

• actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations in our operating results;

• whether our operating results meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors;

• actual or anticipated changes in the expectations of investors or securities analysts;

• litigation involving us, our industry, or both;

• regulatory developments in the U.S., foreign countries, or both applicable to our products;

• general economic conditions and trends;

• major catastrophic events;

• sales of large blocks of our Class A common stock;

• departures of key employees; or

• an adverse impact on the company from any of the other risks cited in this report.

In addition, if the stock market for beverage companies, or the stock market generally, experiences a loss of investor confidence, the trading price of our Class A common stock could decline for 
reasons unrelated to our business, operating results or financial condition. Stock prices of many beverage companies have fluctuated in a manner unrelated or disproportionate to the operating 
performance of those companies. The trading price of our Class A common stock might also decline in reaction to events that affect other companies in our industry even if these events do not 
directly affect us. At the time of the IPO, we determined the initial public offering price for our common stock through negotiations with the underwriters, and the negotiated price may not be 
indicative of the market price of our common stock currently. For example, the market value of our common stock has decreased substantially from the initial public offering price. As a result of 
these and other factors, you may be unable to resell your shares of our common stock at or above the price you paid. In the past, stockholders have filed securities class action litigation following 
periods of market volatility. If we were to become involved in securities litigation, it could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources and the attention of management from our business, and 
adversely affect our business.



 

27

As a public benefit corporation, our duty to balance a variety of interests may result in actions that do not maximize stockholder value.

We have elected to be classified as a public benefit corporation under the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”). As a public benefit corporation, our board of directors has a duty to balance 
(i) the pecuniary interest of our stockholders, (ii) the best interests of those materially affected by our conduct and (iii) specific public benefits identified in our charter documents. While we believe 
our public benefit designation and obligation will benefit our stockholders, in balancing these interests our board of directors may take actions that do not maximize stockholder value. Any benefits 
to stockholders resulting from our public benefit purposes may not materialize within the timeframe we expect or at all, and our status as a public benefit corporation may negatively impact 
stockholders. For example:
 

• we may choose to revise our policies in ways that we believe will be beneficial to our stakeholders, including our employees, customers and local communities, even though the 
changes may be costly;

• we may take actions, such as building state-of-the-art facilities with technology and quality control mechanisms that exceed the requirements of USDA and the FDA, even though 
these actions may be more costly than other alternatives;

• we may be influenced to pursue programs and services to demonstrate our commitment to the communities to which we serve and bringing ethically produced products to 
customers even though there is no immediate return to our stockholders; or

• in responding to a possible proposal to acquire the company, our board of directors may be influenced by the interests of our stakeholders, including our employees, customers and 
local communities, whose interests may be different from the interests of our stockholders.

As a public benefit corporation, we may become subject to increased derivative litigation concerning our duty to balance stockholder and public benefit interests, the occurrence of which may 
have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

We have elected to be a public benefit corporation under the DGCL. Stockholders of a Delaware public benefit corporation (if they, individually or collectively, own at least 2% of its outstanding 
capital stock or the lesser of such percentage or shares of at least $2 million in market value) are entitled to file a derivative lawsuit claiming that its directors failed to balance stockholder and public 
benefit interests. This potential liability does not exist for traditional corporations. Therefore, we may be subject to the possibility of increased derivative litigation, which could cause us to incur 
additional expenses and liabilities and would require the attention of management and, as a result, may adversely impact management’s ability to effectively execute our strategy. Any such 
derivative litigation may be costly and have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our status as a public benefit corporation and a Certified B Corporation may not result in the benefits that we anticipate and may subject us to increased scrutiny.

We have elected to be classified as a public benefit corporation under the DGCL. As a public benefit corporation, we are required to balance the pecuniary interests of the stockholders, the best 
interests of those materially affected by the corporation’s conduct and the specific public benefit or public benefits identified in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. In addition, 
there is no assurance that the expected positive impact from being a public benefit corporation will be realized as we may be unable or slow to realize the benefits we expect from actions taken to 
benefit our stakeholders, including our employees, customers and local communities, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations, which in turn could 
cause our stock price to decline. Accordingly, being a public benefit corporation and complying with our related obligations could negatively impact our ability to provide the highest possible return 
to our stockholders.

As a public benefit corporation, we are required to disclose to stockholders a report at least biennially on our overall public benefit performance and on our assessment of our success in achieving 
our specific public benefit purpose. If we are not timely or are unable to provide this report, or if the report is not viewed favorably by parties doing business with us or regulators or others reviewing 
our credentials, our reputation and status as a public benefit corporation may be harmed.

While not required by the DGCL or the terms of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, we have elected to have our social and environmental performance, accountability and 
transparency assessed against the proprietary criteria established by an independent non-profit organization. As a result of this assessment, we have been designated as a “Certified B Corporation,” 
which refers to companies that are certified as meeting certain levels of social and environmental performance, accountability and transparency. The standards for Certified B Corporation 
certification are set by an independent organization and may change over time. Currently, Certified B corporations are required to recertify as a Certified B Corporation once every three years. Our 
reputation could be harmed if we lose our status as a Certified B Corporation, whether by our choice or by our failure to continue to meet the certification requirements, if that failure or change were 
to create a perception that we are more focused on financial performance and are no longer as committed to the values shared by Certified B Corporations. Likewise, our reputation could be harmed 
if our publicly reported Certified B Corporation score declines.

Moreover, we face potential increased scrutiny from certain regulators, stockholders and other stakeholders whose views are increasingly evolving and varied and may be inconsistent with the 
objectives of a public benefit corporation or a Certified B Corporation, or our ESG practices. It is not possible for our ESG practices to satisfy all stakeholders, and our reputation, our ability to 
attract or retain employees and our attractiveness as an investment or business partner could be negatively impacted.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, as a result, stockholders’ ability to achieve a return on their investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our Class A 
common stock.

We do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We anticipate that we will retain all of our future earnings for use in the development of our business and for general corporate 
purposes. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their Class A common stock after price 
appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investments.
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Our charter documents and the DGCL could discourage takeover attempts and other corporate governance changes.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws currently in effect contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in control of our company. These 
provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to elect directors that are not nominated by the current members of our board of directors or take other corporate actions, including effecting 
changes in our management. These provisions include the following:

• our board of directors is classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms. Commencing with the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2027, directors 
of each class the term of which shall then expire shall be elected to hold office for a one-year term;

• directors are only able to be removed from office with the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all shares of our common stock then outstanding and, until the 
annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2027, only for cause;

• authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could use to implement a stockholder rights plan;

• prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

• establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at annual stockholder 
meetings;

• provide the board of directors with sole authorization to establish the number of directors and fill director vacancies;

• certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation may only be amended with the approval of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all shares of our 
common stock then outstanding;

• the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter, or repeal our amended and restated bylaws and that our stockholders may amend our bylaws only with the approval of 
at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all shares of our common stock then outstanding; and

• special meetings of the stockholders may only be called by the stockholders upon the written request of one or more stockholders of record that own, or who are acting on behalf of 
persons who own, shares representing 25% or more of the voting power of the then outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote on the matter or matters to be brought before 
the proposed special meeting.

In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL. These provisions may prohibit large stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding 
voting stock, from merging or combining with us for a period of time. In addition, our credit facility includes, and other debt instruments we may enter into in the future may include, provisions 
entitling the lenders to demand immediate repayment of all borrowings upon the occurrence of certain change of control events relating to our company, which also could discourage, delay or 
prevent a business combination transaction.

Also, as a public benefit corporation under the DGCL, our board of directors is required to manage or direct our business and affairs in a manner that balances the pecuniary interests of our 
stockholders, the best interests of those materially affected by our conduct, and the specific public benefits identified in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. Additionally, pursuant 
to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, a vote of at least 66 2/3% of our outstanding shares of voting stock is required for matters directly or indirectly amending or removing our 
public benefit purpose. We believe that our public benefit corporation status will make it more difficult for another party to obtain control of us without maintaining our public benefit corporation 
status and purpose. Any of the foregoing provisions could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, and they could deter potential acquirers 
of our company, thereby reducing the likelihood that you would receive a premium for your shares of our common stock in an acquisition.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation includes an exclusive forum clause, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for any complaint asserting any internal 
corporate claims, including claims in the right of the Company that are based upon a violation of a duty by a current or former director, officer, employee or stockholder in such capacity, or as to 
which the DGCL confers jurisdiction upon the Court of Chancery. In addition, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the federal district courts of the United States will 
be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. We note, however, that there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce this 
provision and that investors cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for 
state and federal courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. This forum selection provision will not apply to 
claims brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act.

This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in other judicial forums for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage 
lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees in jurisdictions other than Delaware, or federal courts, in the case of claims arising under the Securities Act. Alternatively, if a 
court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs 
associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock is deemed to have notice of and consented to the foregoing provisions. The exclusive forum clause 
may limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us. 
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General Risk Factors

We have a limited operating history at our current scale, which may make it difficult to evaluate our business and future prospects. 

We began commercial operations in 2011 and went public on July 21, 2021. As a result of our relatively short operating history at our current scale, we have limited financial data that can be used to 
evaluate our business and future prospects. Any evaluation of our business and prospects must be considered in light of our limited operating history, which may not be indicative of future 
performance. Because of our limited operating history, we face increased risks, uncertainties, expenses, and difficulties, including the risks and uncertainties discussed in this section. 

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert our management’s attention and affect our ability to attract and retain qualified board members.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, and the listing requirements of the New York Stock Exchange, and other applicable securities rules and 
regulations, and will be required to comply with the applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. Compliance with 
these rules and regulations have increased and will likely continue to increase our legal and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and increase 
demand on our systems and resources. Among other things, the Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and operating results and 
maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting. Increasing governmental and societal attention to ESG matters has resulted and could continue to 
result in new laws and requirements, including disclosure requirements that may expand the nature, scope and complexity of information which we are required to report. Significant resources and 
management oversight will be required to maintain and, if required, improve our disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting to meet these evolving 
requirements. As a result, management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could harm our business and operating results. We may need to hire more employees in the 
future to comply with these requirements, which will increase our costs and expenses.

These rules and regulations have resulted and are expected to continue to result in our incurring legal and financial compliance costs and have made and are expected to continue to make some 
activities more time-consuming and costly. For example, these rules and regulations have made and may continue to make it more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, 
and we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us 
to attract and retain qualified members of our board of directors, particularly to serve on our audit committee and compensation committee, and qualified executive officers.

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.

Most members of our management team have had limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors, and complying with the increasingly complex 
laws, rules and regulations that govern public companies. There are significant obligations we are subject to relating to reporting, procedures and internal controls, and our management team may not 
successfully or efficiently manage our public company obligations. These obligations and added scrutiny require significant attention from our management and could divert their attention away 
from the day-to-day management of our business, which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Reduced reporting and disclosure requirements applicable to us as an emerging growth company (“EGC”) could make our Class A common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an EGC and, for as long as we continue to be an EGC, we may choose to continue to take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies. 
Consequently, we are not required to have our independent registered public accounting firm audit our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and 
we are subject to reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding 
advisory vote on executive compensation and on the frequency of such votes as well as stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. In addition, the Jumpstart 
Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”) provides that an EGC can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards. We have elected to 
take advantage of the extended transition period. As a result, our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with new or revised accounting pronouncements as of the 
dates such pronouncements are effective for public companies. We will remain an EGC until the earliest of: (i) the end of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the IPO, (ii) the first fiscal 
year after our annual gross revenue is $1.235 billion or more, (iii) the date on which we have, during the previous three-year period, issued more than $1 billion in nonconvertible debt securities or 
(iv) the end of any fiscal year in which the market value of our Class A common stock held by non-affiliates exceeded $700 million as of the end of the second quarter of that fiscal year. We cannot 
predict whether investors will find our Class A common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our Class A common stock less attractive as a result of 
any choices to reduce future disclosure, there may be a less active trading market for our Class A common stock, and the price of our Class A common stock may be more volatile.

If we fail to maintain or implement effective internal controls, we may not be able to report financial results accurately or on a timely basis, or to detect fraud, which could have a material 
adverse effect on our business and the per share price of our Class A common stock.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures, and internal control over financial reporting. We are continuing to refine our 
disclosure controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and 
reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms. We have expended significant resources in order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and 
procedures and internal control over financial reporting.
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As a public company, we are required to document and test our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act so that our management can certify as to 
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or Section 404(a), requires that management assess and report annually on the 
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and identify any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. Although Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
(“Section 404(b)”) would require our independent registered public accounting firm to issue an annual report that addresses the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, we have 
opted to rely on the exemptions provided in the JOBS Act, and consequently will not be required to comply with the SEC rules that implement Section 404(b) until such time as we are no longer an 
EGC. At such time, our independent registered public accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our internal control over financial 
reporting is documented, designed or operating. In order to comply with these rules, we expect to incur additional expenses and devote increased management effort. To maintain and improve the 
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, we have committed, and will need to continue to commit, significant resources, hire additional staff and provide additional management 
oversight.

Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business. Weaknesses in our disclosure controls or our internal control 
over financial reporting may be discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement, could harm 
our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective 
internal control over financial reporting could also adversely affect the results of management reports and independent registered public accounting firm audits of our internal control over financial 
reporting that we will eventually be required to include in our periodic reports that will be filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures, and internal control over financial 
reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the market price of our Class A common stock. 
In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

Any failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting could have a material and adverse effect on our business and operating results, and cause a decline in 
the market price of our Class A common stock.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research reports about our business, our share price and trading 
volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock partially depends on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. We do not have any control over 
these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us should downgrade our shares or change their opinion of our business prospects, our share price would likely decline. If one or more of 
these analysts ceases coverage of our company or fails to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to 
decline.

We rely on information technology systems and any inadequacy, failure, interruption, outage, or integration issue of those systems may harm our ability to effectively operate our business.

We are dependent on various information technology systems, including, but not limited to, networks, applications and outsourced services in connection with the operation of our business, as well 
as the third parties that host, operate, monitor, or otherwise operate those systems. No operational applications are physically hosted on our premises. All of our applications are operated in the cloud, 
either as Software as a Service (SaaS) platforms or hosted services. We rely on key third-party, cloud-based systems for critical business operations, such as NetSuite, an enterprise resource planning 
system used for executing purchase orders and other key operational and accounting transactions; Microsoft 365 for document storing, sharing and collaboration; as well as other platforms, including 
Paylocity, to manage activities including, but not limited to, payroll and personnel data. We do not have control over the information technology systems of third parties. Supply plans are driven by 
our demand plan, both of which are updated monthly and as needed, using Netstock Smoothie. A failure of our third-party vendor’s information technology systems to perform as we anticipate could 
disrupt our business and result in transaction errors, processing inefficiencies and loss of sales, causing our business to suffer. In addition, our information technology systems may be vulnerable to 
damage or interruption from circumstances beyond our control, including fire, natural disasters, systems failures, and/or viruses. Any such damage or interruption could have a material adverse 
effect on our business.
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If we or any of our customers, suppliers, or vendors incur a security breach, data protection breach, or cyberattack, this could disrupt our internal operations and negatively impact our revenue 
and cash flows, result in increased expenses, damage our reputation, and adversely affect our stock price.

We use computers in substantially all aspects of our business operations. We also use mobile devices, social networking, email, and other online activities to connect with our employees, suppliers, 
contract manufacturers, distributors, customers and consumers. Such uses give rise to cybersecurity risks, including security breaches, espionage, system disruption, theft and inadvertent release of 
information. Our business involves the storage and transmission of numerous classes of sensitive and/or confidential information, including customers’ and suppliers’ information, private 
information about employees and financial and strategic information about us and our business partners. Further, as we pursue new initiatives that improve our operations and cost structure, we will 
also be expanding and improving our information technologies, resulting in a larger technological presence and corresponding exposure to cybersecurity risk. If we fail to assess and identify 
cybersecurity risks associated with new initiatives, we may become increasingly vulnerable to such risks. Such risks may involve ransomware or other malicious software programs that exploit 
information security vulnerabilities. Additionally, we have been subject to security breaches and cyber incidents in the past and our preventative measures and incident response efforts may not be 
entirely effective at preventing future breaches. While we maintain cybersecurity insurance policies, our cybersecurity insurance carrier may challenge the coverage and leave us with payment out of 
pocket for all costs associated with any such breach. In addition, the increase in certain of our employees working remotely has resulted in increased utilization of network and information 
technology infrastructure outside our control leading to increased vulnerability to cyberattacks and other cyber incidents. The theft, destruction, loss, misappropriation, or release of sensitive and/or 
confidential information, or interference with our information technology systems or the technology systems of third parties on which we rely, could result in business disruption, negative publicity, 
brand damage, violation of privacy laws, loss of customers, potential liability, remediation costs and competitive disadvantage all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition or results of operations. We could also be required to spend significant financial and other resources to remedy the damage caused by one of these events or to repair or replace 
networks and information systems. 

Our actual or perceived failure to comply with privacy, data protection and information security laws, regulations and obligations could harm our business.

We are subject to numerous federal, state, local and international laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection, information security and the storing, sharing, use, processing, transfer, 
disclosure and protection of personal information and other content and data, which we refer to collectively as privacy laws, the scope of which is changing, subject to differing interpretations and 
may be inconsistent among U.S. states, countries, or conflict with other laws, regulations or other obligations. We are also subject to the terms of our privacy policies and obligations to our 
consumers, customers and other third parties related to privacy, data protection and information security. We strive to comply with applicable privacy laws; however, the regulatory framework for 
privacy and data protection worldwide is, and is likely to remain for the foreseeable future, varied, and it is possible that these or other actual obligations may be interpreted and applied in a manner 
that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another.

Many U.S. states are considering, have passed, or have enacted privacy legislation, rules, and regulations that impose onerous and complex requirements on companies, as well afford consumers 
significant rights over their personal data, including rights to transparency, access, correction, portability, and deletion of their personal data, and the ability to opt out of certain uses of their personal 
data. The potential effects of this legislation may require us to incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply. The patchwork approach to regulation and pace at which it changes causes 
implementation of these requirements to be more complex. Monitoring changes and implementing and maintaining compliance measures may require significant resources and costs, and failure to 
comply with applicable laws could subject us to fines, governmental investigations, consumer demands, and lawsuits. For example, we are also subject to the privacy laws discussed under the 
section of this Annual Report captioned “Business—Government Regulation” and various other U.S. state laws where we sell our products.

With laws and regulations such as the California Consumer Privacy Act imposing new or relatively burdensome obligations, and with substantial uncertainty over the interpretation and application 
of these and other laws and regulations, there is a risk that the requirements of these or other laws and regulations, or of contractual or other obligations relating to privacy, data protection or 
information security, are interpreted or applied in a manner that is, or is alleged to be, inconsistent with our management and processing practices, our policies or procedures, or the features of our 
products and services. As a result, adverse developments with respect to these laws and regulations could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and 
prospects. We rely on a variety of marketing techniques and practices, including email and social media marketing, online targeted advertising, cookie-based processing, and postal mail to sell our 
products and services and to attract new consumers, and we, and our vendors, are subject to various current and future data protection laws and data protection obligations that govern marketing and 
advertising practices. Governmental authorities continue to evaluate the privacy implications inherent in the use of third-party “cookies” and other methods of online tracking for behavioral 
advertising and other purposes, such as by regulating the level of consumer notice and consent required before a company can employ cookies or other electronic tracking tools or the use of data 
gathered with such tools. We may face challenges in addressing their requirements and making any necessary changes to our policies and practices, and we may find it necessary or appropriate to 
assume additional burdens with respect to data handling, to restrict our data processing or otherwise to modify our data handling practices and to incur significant costs and expenses in these efforts. 
Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with our privacy policies, our privacy, data protection or information security-related obligations to customers or other third parties or any of our 
other legal obligations relating to privacy, data protection or information security may result in governmental investigations or enforcement actions, litigation, claims or public statements against us 
by consumer advocacy groups or others, and could result in significant liability or cause our customers to lose trust in us, which could have an adverse effect on our reputation and business. 
Furthermore, the costs of compliance with, and other burdens imposed by, the laws, regulations and policies that are applicable to the businesses of our customers may limit the adoption and use of, 
and reduce the overall demand for, our products and services.

Additionally, if third parties we work with, such as vendors or developers, violate applicable laws or regulations or our contracts and policies, such violations may also put our customers’, suppliers 
or other third parties’ content and personal information at risk and could in turn have an adverse effect on our business. Any significant change to applicable privacy laws or relevant industry 
practices could increase our costs and require us to modify our platform, applications and features, possibly in a material manner, which we may be unable to complete and may limit our ability to 
store and process customer data or develop new applications and features.
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There is no assurance that our current or any new security controls over personal data, the training of employees and vendors on data privacy and data security, and the policies, procedures and 
practices we implemented or may implement in the future will prevent the improper disclosure of personal data. Improper disclosure of personal data in violation of applicable personal data 
protection laws could harm our reputation, cause loss of consumer confidence, subject us to government enforcement actions, or result in private litigation against us, any of which could result in 
loss of revenue, increased costs, liability for monetary damages, fines and/or criminal prosecution, and could negatively affect our business and operating results.

Any future pandemics, epidemics, or other disease outbreaks could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Any future pandemics, epidemics disease outbreaks or actual or threatened public health emergencies may have an adverse impact on the global society, economies, financial markets and consumer 
and business spending. In addition to the impact on our distributors, contract manufacturers and their suppliers, any future pandemics, epidemics, disease outbreaks or public health emergencies and 
related public health measures could impact consumer preferences and demand for our products, government regulations and restrictions, transportation and route to market, and availability of raw 
materials and thus may have a material impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition and such impact remains uncertain and unpredictable.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness and Liquidity

We may not be able to secure additional financing on favorable terms, or at all, to meet our future capital needs, which may in turn impair our growth.

We intend to continue to grow our business, which may require additional capital to develop new products or enhance our platform, expand distribution, improve our operating infrastructure or 
finance working capital requirements. Accordingly, we may need to engage in additional equity or debt financings to secure additional capital. If we raise additional funds through future issuances of 
equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those 
of holders of our Class A common stock. Any debt financing that we secure in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and 
operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities. If we are unable to secure additional funding on favorable terms, or at 
all, when we require it, our ability to continue to grow our business to react to market conditions could be impaired and our business may be harmed.

Covenants in our credit facility could adversely impact our operations

Our asset-based credit facility contains a liquidity covenant that required us to maintain liquidity of $7.0 million at all times until December 31, 2024. Thereafter, we must satisfy a financial covenant 
requiring a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter following the occurrence of certain events of default that are continuing or any day on which 
availability under the credit facility is less than the greater of $3.0 million and 17.5% of the borrowing base, and must again satisfy such financial covenant as of the last day of each fiscal quarter 
thereafter until such time as there are no events of default and availability has been above such threshold for 30 consecutive days. The agreement governing our credit facility also contains, among 
other things, customary representations, warranties and default provisions and customary restrictions on making investments, incurring indebtedness, prepaying junior debt, granting liens and 
making stockholder distributions. The terms of our credit facility may restrict our current and future operations and could adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs 
or to execute business strategies in the means or manner desired. In addition, complying with these covenants may make it more difficult for us to successfully execute our business strategy, invest in 
our growth strategy and compete against companies who are not subject to such restrictions. We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow or sales to meet the financial covenant or pay the 
principal or interest owed under our credit facility. 

If we are unable to comply with our payment requirements, our lender may accelerate our obligations under our credit facility and foreclose upon the collateral, or we may be forced to sell assets, 
restructure our indebtedness or seek additional equity capital, which would dilute our stockholders’ interests. If we fail to comply with our covenants under our credit facility, it could result in an 
event of default under the agreement and our lender could, among other things, make the entire debt immediately due and payable. If this occurs, we might not be able to repay our debt or borrow 
sufficient funds to refinance it. Even if new financing is available, it may not be on terms that are favorable to us.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

We recognize the critical importance of maintaining the safety and security of our systems and data and have a holistic process designed to assess, identify, and manage material risks from 
cybersecurity threats. This process is supported by both management and our Board of Directors.

To prevent, detect, mitigate, and remediate information security threats, including a cybersecurity incident and/or threat, we maintain a cyber risk management process managed by our Senior Vice 
President, Operations (“SVP, Operations”) who reports to our CEO and has seven years of experience overseeing information technology processes and procedures, including cybersecurity matters. 
The SVP, Operations works with the Company’s Legal team on cybersecurity strategy, policy, training, standards, architecture, and processes. We have invested, and expect to continue to invest, in 
resources for the protection and safeguarding of our information technology systems, including, but not limited to, networks, applications, and outsourced technology services in connection with the 
operation of our business. We have implemented cybersecurity systems and controls based on industry best practices and the U.S. National Institute of Standards and Technology Cybersecurity 
Framework (“NIST CSF”). This does not imply that we meet any particular technical standards, specifications or requirements, only that we use such standards as a guide to help us identify, assess 
and manage cybersecurity risks relevant to our business. These resources are designed to detect and respond to cyber incidents that may result in unauthorized access to, ransomware, damages, or 
destruction of, our information systems.
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Risk Management and Strategy

Cybersecurity risk is a direct responsibility of management and the Company’s information technology (“IT”) team, including our Director, IT who has over 15 years of experience building, 
implementing, and managing information systems, developing cybersecurity programs, and deploying risk mitigation strategies for such systems. Working cross-functionally with our Legal team, 
our SVP, Operations oversees the IT team that regularly monitors and assesses cybersecurity risks, implements measures designed to mitigate such risks and their associated effects on the Company 
and personal data collected, stored, and processed in our systems, and manages our information security training and cybersecurity awareness program. We consider cybersecurity, along with other 
significant risks that we face, within our overall enterprise risk management framework.

Our approach to cybersecurity risk management includes the following:

• Multi-Layered Defense and Monitoring – We work to protect our computing environments from cybersecurity threats through multi-layered defenses and monitoring efforts to 
identify cybersecurity threats, and to help prevent future attacks. We utilize data analytics systems to detect anomalies and identify cyber threats. From time to time, we engage 
third-party consultants or other advisors to assist in assessing, identifying, and/or managing cybersecurity threats. We also periodically use third-parties to conduct additional 
reviews and assessments.

• Insider Threats – We maintain organizational controls such as limited access, and access removal for terminated employees, designed to minimize insider threats, and address 
potential risks from within our Company. Our measures and controls are informed by industry practices, and designed to be consistent with applicable law, including privacy and 
other considerations.

• Third Party Risk Assessments – We conduct privacy and information security risk assessments before sharing or allowing the hosting of sensitive data in computing environments 
managed by third parties. 

• Training and Awareness – We provide awareness training to our employees to help identify, avoid and mitigate cybersecurity threats. Our employees with network access are 
required to participate annually in training, including phishing simulations and other awareness training. We also periodically host tabletop exercises with management and other 
employees to practice rapid cyber incident response.

• Supplier Engagement – Our standard terms and conditions contain contractual provisions requiring that our third-party suppliers disclose to us the technical and organizational 
measures they maintain, the standards and certifications by which they are evaluated for information and cyber security, and their cybersecurity insurance protection level. We seek 
to mitigate risk by evaluating the foregoing against any potential cyber-related risks depending on the nature of the services being provided.

Governance

Our Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing our enterprise risk management activities in general, and each of our Board committees assists the Board in the role of risk oversight. The 
Nominating and Enterprise Risk Management (“NERM”) Committee of the Board of Directors specifically assists the Board in its oversight of risks related to cybersecurity. In accordance with its 
charter, the NERM Committee receives regular reports at each of its quarterly meetings from management, including the SVP, Operations. Such reporting includes updates on the Company’s 
cybersecurity program, information security matters, the evolving cybersecurity threat environment, applicable privacy law compliance, and the Company’s mitigation plans and evolving mitigation 
strategy. The Chair of the NERM Committee regularly reports to the Board of Directors on cybersecurity risks and other related matters. In addition, both the NERM Committee and the Audit 
Committee, in a joint meeting, receive an update on the Company’s risk management process and the risk trends related to cybersecurity at least annually. Management reports to the NERM 
Committee and/or the Board of Directors in between meetings as appropriate regarding any significant cyber events.

Since the beginning of the last fiscal year, we have not identified any cybersecurity threat or incident that has materially affected the Company or our financial position, results of operations and/or 
cash flows, but we face certain ongoing cybersecurity risk threats that, if realized, are reasonably likely to materially affect us. We continue to invest in the cybersecurity and resiliency of our 
networks and enhance our internal controls and processes, which are designed to help protect our systems and infrastructure, and the information they contain. For more information regarding the 
risks we face from cybersecurity threats, please see Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” included in this Annual Report. 

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters offices are located in Encino, California and consists of approximately 20,185 square feet of leased space pursuant to a lease that expires on December 31, 2026. In 
September 2024, we entered into an agreement to sublease 8,468 square feet of leased space until December 31, 2026.

We utilize third-party distribution networks.

We believe that our current facilities are suitable and adequate to meet our current needs. We continue to evaluate opportunities to support our future plans for growth and cost reduction. We believe 
that additional or alternative space to support future use and expansion will be available on reasonable commercial terms. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not subject to any material legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information for Class A Common Stock

Our Class A common stock has been listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “ZVIA” since July 22, 2021. Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for our Class A 
common stock.

Our Class B common stock is neither listed nor traded.

Holders of Record

As of February 15, 2025, there were 15 holders of record of our Class A common stock. The actual number of stockholders is greater than this number of record holders and includes stockholders 
who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees.

As of February 15, 2025, there were 25 holders of record of our Class B common stock. 

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and future earnings and we have no present intention to pay cash dividends on 
our common stock. We may enter into credit agreements or other borrowing arrangements in the future that will restrict our ability to declare or pay cash dividends or make distributions on our 
capital stock. Any determination to pay dividends to holders of our common stock will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon many factors, including our financial 
condition, results of operations, projections, liquidity, earnings, legal requirements, restrictions in our existing and any future debt agreements and other factors that our board of directors deems 
relevant. 

Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

None

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None

Item 6. [Reserved]

Not applicable.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in 
conjunction with our accompanying consolidated financial statements and the related notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Our actual results may differ 
materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and other sections of this Annual Report. 
The financial data discussed below reflects the historical results of operations and financial position of the Company. References in this Annual Report to “Zevia,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and 
“our” refer (1) prior to the consummation of the Reorganization Transactions, to Zevia LLC, and (2) after the consummation of the Reorganization Transactions, to Zevia PBC and its consolidated 
subsidiaries unless the context indicates otherwise. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any period in the future.

Overview

We are a better-for-you beverage company that develops, markets, sells, and distributes naturally delicious, zero sugar beverages. We are a Delaware public benefit corporation and have been 
designated as a “Certified B Corporation,” and are focused on addressing the global health challenges resulting from excess sugar consumption by offering a broad portfolio of zero sugar, zero 
calorie, naturally sweetened beverages. All Zevia® beverages are made with a handful of simple, plant-based ingredients, contain no artificial sweeteners, and are Non-GMO Project verified, gluten-
free, Kosher, and vegan, and include a variety of flavors across Soda, Energy Drinks, and Organic Tea drinks. Our products are distributed and sold principally across the U.S. and Canada through a 
wide-ranging network of major retailers in the grocery, drug, warehouse club, mass, natural, convenience and e-commerce channels and in natural product stores and specialty outlets. The 
Company’s products are manufactured and maintained at third-party beverage production and warehousing facilities located in both the U.S. and Canada. 

Key Events During 2024

Productivity Initiative

In the second quarter of 2024, we began executing a multi-year, broad-based Productivity Initiative designed to realign our cost structure in order to accelerate our route-to-market evolution and 
continue to build the Zevia Brand. This Productivity Initiative is designed to focus on our most critical initiatives including driving growth and innovation in our highest margin carbonated better-
for-you beverages, re-align our cost structure to support greater investments in the Zevia Brand and improve operational excellence while simplifying processes across the organization.

The Productivity Initiative has resulted in the following:

• Costs associated with the Productivity Initiative, including restructuring costs, were $2.1 million in 2024, which primarily includes employee related severance costs, restructuring 
consulting services, impairment loss of certain assets as a result of sublease agreement and costs related to exiting two of our third-party warehouse and distribution facilities. 

• The Productivity Initiative is expected to result in estimated annualized benefits of approximately $15.0 million, and we began seeing these benefits in the second half of 2024, and 
expect the savings to be more fully realized over the next year. These benefits include reduction in costs of goods sold and reduction in operating expenses, including due to the 
recent reduction in workforce in January. We have reinvested the majority of these costs savings thus far into brand marketing and promotional activity to drive future growth. 
Looking forward, we intend to balance reinvesting savings to help drive revenue growth with our plans for achieving profitability. 

Additional restructuring charges or cash expenditures may be incurred as the Company makes further progress on this Productivity Initiative, which we expect to be substantially completed by the 
first half of 2025.

Factors Affecting Our Performance

Macroeconomic Environment

A number of external factors, including the global economy, global health emergencies, inflationary pressures, relatively high interest rates, volatility in the financial markets, tariff threats, recession 
fears, financial institution instability, any potential shutdown of the U.S. government, changes in U.S. foreign trade policies, global hostilities, including the military conflicts in Ukraine and Israel 
and the surrounding areas, and political tensions between the U.S. and China, have impacted and may continue to impact transportation, labor, and commodity costs. These pressures have impacted, 
and are expected to continue to impact our margins and operating results. We, along with our competitors, have increased pricing on a number of products in response to widespread inflation. These 
pricing increases may result in future reductions in volume.

The following summarizes the components of our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Components of Our Results of Operations

Net Sales

We generate net sales from the sales of our products, including Soda, Energy Drinks, and Organic Tea drinks, to our customers, which include grocery distributors, national retailers, convenience 
retailers, natural products retailers, warehouse club retailers and retailers with e-commerce channels, in the U.S. and Canada.

We offer our customers sales incentives that are designed to support the distribution of our products to consumers. These incentives and discounts include cash discounts, price allowances, volume-
based rebates, product placement fees and certain other financial support for items such as trade promotions, displays, new products, consumer incentives and advertising assistance. The amounts for 
these incentives are deducted from gross sales to arrive at our net sales.
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The following factors and trends in our business are expected to be key drivers of our net sales for the foreseeable future:

• leveraging our platform and mission to grow brand awareness, increase velocity and expand our consumer base;

• continuing to grow our strong relationships across our retailer network and retain and expand distribution amongst new and existing channels, both in-store and online; and

• continuous innovation efforts, enhancement of existing products, and introduction of additional flavors within existing categories, as well as entering into new categories.

We expect our future growth to be driven by a combination of new distribution, increased organic sales from existing outlets, package and product innovation, and continued pricing strength; 
however, sales levels in any given period may continue to be impacted by seasonality, increased level of competition, customers’ efforts to manage inventory, and our ability to fulfill customer 
demands. During 2024, we experienced reduced sales volumes, primarily due to lost distribution at certain retailers, largely in the club channel and one customer in the mass channel, and to a lesser 
degree as a result of a strategic decision we made to exit our Kids and Mixers product categories to focus on soda, and we expect these distribution losses to impact net sales in the first half of 2025. 
We also increased our spend on promotional activity at key accounts, returning back to historical promotion levels, in order to drive velocity, which we expect to continue in 2025. We also increased 
promotions in order to liquidate excess and obsolete inventory, which was temporary and largely complete by the end of 2024. We are focused on building distribution in our key accounts and 
concurrently evolving our route-to-market; however, we expect it will take time to regain lost distribution in an increasingly competitive environment. 

We sell our products in the U.S. and Canada, direct to retailers and also through distributors. We do not have short- or long-term sales commitments with our customers.

Cost of Goods Sold

Historically, cost of goods sold consists of all costs to acquire and manufacture our products, including the cost of ingredients, raw materials, packaging, in-bound freight and logistics and third-party 
production fees. Beginning in 2024, our contract manufacturers are responsible for the procurement of raw materials to produce our products, which are then sold to us as finished goods; therefore, 
cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2024 consists of all costs to purchase our product from our contract manufacturers as a finished good. 

Our cost of goods sold is subject to price fluctuations in the marketplace, particularly in the price of aluminum and other raw materials, as well as in the cost of production, packaging, in-bound 
freight and logistics. Due to the recent implementation of a 25% import tax on all steel and aluminum entering the U.S., we could see an increase in our cost of goods. Our results of operations 
depend on our contract manufacturers’ ability to arrange for the purchase of raw materials and the production of our products in sufficient quantities at competitive prices. We have long-term 
contracts with certain suppliers of stevia and certain third-party contract manufacturers governing quality control, regulatory compliance, pricing and other terms, but these contracts generally do not 
guarantee any minimum purchase commitments to our third-party contract manufacturers. Our third-party contract manufacturers procure packaging and ingredient materials to manufacture our 
products according to our submitted rolling forecasts, with the initial three months of each forecast generally constituting our purchase commitment.

We expect our cost of goods sold to increase in absolute dollars as our volume increases, but decrease over time as a percentage of net sales as a result of the Productivity Initiative, our continued 
focus on cost and efficiency improvements, and as we realize the benefit of scale. 

We elected to classify shipping and handling costs for salable product outside of cost of goods sold, in selling and marketing expenses in our accompanying consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss. As a result, our gross profit and profit margin may not be comparable to other entities that present shipping and handling costs as a component of cost of goods sold. 

Gross Profit

Gross profit consists of our net sales less costs of goods sold. Our gross profit and gross margin are affected by the mix of distribution channels of our net sales in each period, as well as the level of 
discounts and promotions offered during the period. Gross profit may be favorably impacted by leveraging our asset-light business model and through increased distribution direct to retailers, the 
increased scale of our business, our Productivity Initiative, and our continued focus on cost and efficiency improvements.

Operating Expenses

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of warehousing and distribution costs and advertising and marketing expenses. Warehousing and distribution costs include storage, transfer, 
repacking and handling fees and out-bound freight and delivery charges. Advertising and marketing expenses consist of variable costs associated with production and media buying of marketing 
programs and trade events, as well as sampling and in-store demonstration costs. Selling and marketing expenses also include the incremental costs of obtaining contracts, such as sales commissions.

Our selling expenses are expected to decrease as a percentage of sales over time as a result of our Productivity Initiative and our continued focus on cost improvements in our supply chain. Our 
selling expenses are expected to decrease from the prior year in the short-term, largely due the Productivity Initiative. 

Marketing expenses are expected to increase as we invest in brand awareness, which are expected to be partially funded by the Productivity Initiative. In particular, we expect to significantly 
increase our investment in marketing in 2025, primarily in the first and third quarters, to help build our brand, with a focus on driving trial and customer conversions. 
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include all salary and other personnel expenses (other than equity-based compensation expense) for our employees, including employees related to management, 
marketing, sales, product development, quality control, accounting, information technology and other functions. Our ongoing general and administrative expenses are expected to remain relatively 
flat as a percentage of net sales over time.

Equity-Based Compensation Expenses

Equity-based compensation expense consists of the recorded expense of equity-based compensation for our employees and, if any, for certain consultants and service providers who are non-
employees. We record equity-based compensation expense for employee grants using grant date fair value for RSUs or a Black-Scholes valuation model to calculate the fair value of stock options by 
date granted. Equity-based compensation cost for RSU awards is measured based on the closing fair market value of the Zevia LLC Class B unit or the Zevia PBC Class A common stock, as 
applicable, on the date of grant. Our equity-based compensation expense is expected to remain relatively consistent in absolute dollars but decline as a percentage of net sales over time.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation is primarily related to computer equipment, quality control and marketing equipment, and leasehold improvements. Intangible assets subject to amortization consist of customer 
relationships and software applications. Non-amortizable intangible assets consist of trademarks, which represent the Company’s exclusive ownership of the Zevia® brand used in connection with 
the manufacturing, marketing, and distribution of its beverages. We also own several other trademarks in both the U.S. and in foreign countries. Depreciation and amortization expense is expected to 
increase in-line with ongoing capital expenditures as our business grows.

Restructuring Expenses 

Restructuring expenses include employee severance and benefit costs to terminate a specified number of employees as well as costs for restructuring consulting services, impairment loss of certain 
assets, contract termination costs and other related charges designed to reduce costs and improve efficiency while continuing to invest in our brand and related initiatives. Additional restructuring 
charges or cash expenditures may be incurred as the Company makes further progress on the Productivity Initiative, which we expect to be substantially completed by the first half of 2025.

Other (expense) income, net

Other (expense) income, net consists primarily of interest income (expense), and foreign currency (loss) gains.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected items in our accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the periods presented: 

    Year Ended December 31,  
    2024     2023  

(in thousands, except per share amounts)      
Net sales   $ 155,049     $ 166,424  
Cost of goods sold     83,120       91,666  

Gross profit     71,929       74,758  
Operating expenses:            

Selling and marketing     57,132       62,312  
General and administrative     30,024       31,495  
Equity-based compensation     4,961       8,279  
Depreciation and amortization     1,329       1,615  
Restructuring     2,137       —  

Total operating expenses     95,583       103,701  
Loss from operations     (23,654 )     (28,943 )
Other (expense) income, net     (63 )     673  
Loss before income taxes     (23,717 )     (28,270 )
Provision for income taxes     66       52  
Net loss and comprehensive loss     (23,783 )     (28,322 )

Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest     3,778       6,828  

Net loss attributable to Zevia PBC   $ (20,005 )   $ (21,494 )
             
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders            
Basic   $ (0.34 )   $ (0.41 )
Diluted   $ (0.34 )   $ (0.41 )
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The following table presents selected items in our accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss as a percentage of net sales for the respective periods presented. 
Percentages may not sum due to rounding:

    Year Ended December 31,  
    2024     2023  

Net sales     100 %     100 %
Cost of goods sold     54 %     55 %

Gross profit     46 %     45 %
Operating expenses:            

Selling and marketing     37 %     37 %
General and administrative     19 %     19 %
Equity-based compensation     3 %     5 %
Depreciation and amortization     1 %     1 %
Restructuring     1 %     0 %

Total operating expenses     62 %     62 %
Loss from operations     (15 )%     (17 )%
Other (expense) income, net     (0 )%     0 %
Loss before income taxes     (15 )%     (17 )%
Provision for income taxes     0 %     0 %
Net loss and comprehensive loss     (15 )%     (17 )%

Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest     2 %     4 %

Net loss attributable to Zevia PBC     (13 )%     (13 )%

Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2023

Net Sales

    Year Ended December 31,     Change  
(in thousands)   2024     2023     Amount     Percentage  
Net sales   $ 155,049     $ 166,424     $ (11,375 )     (6.8 )%

Net sales were $155.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $166.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Equivalized cases sold were 12.1 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2024 as compared to 12.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease in net sales was primarily due to a decrease in the number of equivalized cases sold, 
which resulted in $9.8 million lower net sales and was largely caused by lost distribution in our club channel and one customer in our mass channel, as well as the discontinuation of Kids and Mixers 
product lines, partially offset by expanded distribution at one customer in the mass channel, and a decrease in net sales of $1.6 million resulting from greater promotional levels at retailers as well as 
increased promotions in order to liquidate excess and obsolete inventory. We define an equivalized case as a 288 fluid ounce case. 

Cost of Goods Sold

    Year Ended December 31,     Change  
(in thousands)   2024     2023     Amount     Percentage  
Cost of goods sold   $ 83,120     $ 91,666     $ (8,546 )     (9.3 )%

Cost of goods sold was $83.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $91.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease of $8.5 million, or 9.3% was 
primarily due to lower write-downs related to excess and obsolete inventory of $4.6 million, a 4.8% decrease in the shipment of equivalized cases, resulting in $4.1 million lower costs of goods sold, 
and favorable product mix of $2.7 million, partially offset by unfavorable unit costs of $2.9 million primarily due to investments in enhanced package-specific designs to improve on-shelf visibility 
and drive brand awareness.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin 
    Year Ended December 31,     Change  

(in thousands)   2024     2023     Amount     Percentage  
Gross profit   $ 71,929     $ 74,758     $ (2,829 )     (3.8 )%
Gross margin     46.4 %     44.9 %           1.5 %

Gross profit was $71.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $74.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease in gross profit of $2.8 million, or 3.8%, was 
primarily due to lower volumes, unfavorable unit costs, and increased spend on promotional activity, partially offset by lower inventory write-downs and favorable product mix. 

Gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2024 improved to 46.4% from 44.9% in the prior-year period. The increase was primarily due to lower inventory write-downs and favorable product 
mix, partially offset by unfavorable unit costs and increased spend on promotional activity.
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Selling and Marketing Expenses

    Year Ended December 31,     Change  
(in thousands)   2024     2023     Amount     Percentage  
Selling and marketing expenses   $ 57,132     $ 62,312     $ (5,180 )     (8.3 )%

Selling and marketing expenses were $57.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $62.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease of $5.2 million, or 8.3% 
was primarily due to a decrease in freight transfer costs of $5.4 million as a result of the impact of supply chain logistics challenges in the prior year and efficiencies related to the Productivity 
Initiative, a decrease in warehousing costs of $2.8 million due to efficiencies related to the Productivity Initiative and lower inventory levels, a decrease in repackaging costs of $2.0 million due to 
the automation of certain processes, and a decreases in freight costs of $0.8 million due to improved rates and $0.7 million due to lower volumes. These decreases were partially offset by higher 
marketing expenses of $6.5 million as a result of investments made to drive brand awareness. 

General and Administrative Expenses 

    Year Ended December 31,     Change  
(in thousands)   2024     2023     Amount     Percentage  
General and administrative expenses   $ 30,024     $ 31,495     $ (1,471 )     (4.7 )%

General and administrative expenses were $30.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $31.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease of $1.5 million, or 
4.7%, was primarily a result of our Productivity Initiative discussed above.

Equity-Based Compensation Expense

    Year Ended December 31,     Change  
(in thousands)   2024     2023     Amount     Percentage  
Equity-based compensation expenses   $ 4,961     $ 8,279     $ (3,318 )     (40.1 )%

Equity-based compensation expense was $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $8.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 primarily related to outstanding 
equity-based awards being recognized over the remaining service periods of the awards. The decrease of $3.3 million was primarily due to a $3.7 million decrease related to the accelerated method 
of expense recognition on certain equity awards issued in connection with the Company’s IPO in 2021, partially offset by equity-based compensation expenses related to new equity awards granted.

Restructuring Expenses

    Year Ended December 31,     Change  
(in thousands)   2024     2023     Amount     Percentage  
Restructuring expenses   $ 2,137     $ —     $ 2,137       100.0 %

Restructuring expenses were $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, which primarily includes employee related severance costs, restructuring consulting services, impairment loss of 
certain assets as a result of sublease agreement and costs to exit two of our third-party warehouse and distribution facilities.

Seasonality

Generally, we experience greater demand for our products during the second and third fiscal quarters, which correspond to the warmer months of the year in our major markets. As our business 
continues to grow, we expect to see continued seasonality effects, with net sales tending to be greater in the second and third quarters of the year.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

As of December 31, 2024, we had $30.7 million in cash and cash equivalents. We believe that our cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2024, together with our operating activities and 
available borrowings under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit (as defined below), will provide adequate liquidity for ongoing operations, planned capital expenditures and other investments 
beyond the next 12 months.

Our principal sources of liquidity are our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash generated from sales of our products, and borrowing capacity currently available under our Secured Revolving Line 
of Credit. Our primary cash needs are for operating expenses, working capital, and capital expenditures to support the growth in our business. 

Future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our rate of revenue growth, gross margin and the level of expenditures in all areas of the Company. In future years, we may 
experience an increase in operating and capital expenditures from time to time, as needed, as we expand business activities. To the extent that existing capital resources and sales growth are not 
sufficient to fund future activities, we may seek alternative financing through additional equity or debt financing transactions. Additional funds may not be available on terms favorable to us or at all. 
Also, we will continue to assess our liquidity needs in light of current and future global health emergencies, inflationary pressures, changes in tariff or U.S. foreign trade policies, relatively high 
interest rates, volatility in the financial markets, recession fears, financial institution instability, any potential shutdown of the U.S. government, current and future global hostilities, and political 
tensions between the U.S. and China that may continue to disrupt and impact the global and national economies and global financial markets. If any disruption continues into the future, we may not 
be able to access the financial markets and could experience an inability to access additional capital, which could negatively affect our operations in the future. Failure to raise additional capital, if 
and when needed, could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.

The Company is a holding company, and is the sole managing member of Zevia LLC. The Company operates and controls all of the business and affairs of Zevia LLC. Accordingly, the Company is 
dependent on distributions from Zevia LLC to pay its taxes, its obligations under the TRA and other expenses. Any future credit facilities may impose limitations on the ability of Zevia LLC to pay 
dividends to the Company.

In connection with the IPO and the Reorganization Transactions in July 2021, the Direct Zevia Stockholders and certain continuing members of Zevia LLC received the right to receive future 
payments pursuant to the TRA. The amount payable under the TRA will be based on an annual calculation of the reduction in our U.S. federal, state and local taxes resulting from the utilization of 
certain pre-IPO tax attributes and tax benefits resulting from sales and exchanges by continuing members of Zevia LLC. See “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions—Tax Receivable 
Agreement” included in the prospectus dated July 21, 2021 and filed with the SEC on July 23, 2021. We expect that the payments that we may be required to make under the TRA may be 
substantial. Assuming no material changes in the relevant tax law and that we earn sufficient taxable income to realize all tax benefits that are subject to the TRA, we expect that the reduction in tax 
payments for us associated with the federal, state and local tax benefits described above would aggregate to approximately $66.5 million through 2038. Under such scenario we would be required to 
pay the Direct Zevia Stockholders and certain continuing members of Zevia LLC 85% of such amount, or $56.5 million, through 2038.

The actual amounts may materially differ from these hypothetical amounts, as potential future reductions in tax payments for us and TRA payments by us will be calculated using prevailing tax rates 
applicable to us over the life of the TRA and will be dependent on us generating sufficient future taxable income to realize the benefit.

We cannot reasonably estimate future annual payments under the TRA given the difficulty in determining those estimates as they are dependent on a number of factors, including the extent of 
exchanges by continuing Zevia LLC unitholders, the associated fair value of the underlying Zevia LLC units at the time of those exchanges, the tax rates applicable, our future income, and the 
associated tax benefits that might be realized that would trigger a TRA payment requirement.

However, a significant portion of any potential future payments under the TRA is anticipated to be payable over 15 years, consistent with the period over which the associated tax deductions would 
be realized by us, assuming Zevia LLC generates sufficient income to utilize the deductions. If sufficient income is not generated by Zevia LLC, the associated taxable income of Zevia will be 
impacted and the associated tax benefits to be realized will be limited, thereby similarly reducing the associated TRA payments to be made. Given the length of time over which payments would be 
payable, the impact to liquidity in any single year is greatly reduced.

Although the timing and extent of future payments could vary significantly under the TRA for the factors discussed above, we anticipate funding payments from the TRA from cash flows generated 
from operations.

Credit Facility

ABL Credit Facility

On February 22, 2022, we obtained a revolving credit facility (the “Secured Revolving Line of Credit”) by entering into a Loan and Security Agreement with Bank of America, N.A (the “Loan and 
Security Agreement”). Under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit, we may draw funds up to an amount not to exceed the lesser of (i) a $20 million revolving commitment and (ii) a borrowing base 
which is comprised of inventory and receivables. Up to $2 million of the Secured Revolving Line of Credit may be used for letter of credit issuances with the option to increase the commitment 
under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit by up to $10 million, subject to certain conditions. The Secured Revolving Line of Credit matures on February 22, 2027. During the first quarter of 2024, 
the Company drew $8 million on the Secured Revolving Line of Credit which was subsequently repaid in the same period. As of December 31, 2024, there was no amount outstanding on the 
Secured Revolving Line of Credit. The Secured Revolving Line of Credit is secured by a first priority security interest in substantially all of the Company’s assets. 
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Loans under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit bear interest based on either, at our option, the Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index rate plus an applicable margin between 1.50% to 2.00% 
or the Base Rate (customarily defined) plus an applicable margin between 0.50% to 1.00% with margin, in each case, determined by the average daily availability under the Secured Revolving Line 
of Credit. The Loan and Security Agreement was amended on September 30, 2024 to replace the Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index, which was discontinued on November 15, 2024, with the 
Term Secured Overnight Financing rate, effective November 20, 2024. 

Under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit we must satisfy a financial covenant requiring a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter following 
the occurrence of certain events of default that are continuing or any day on which availability under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit is less than the greater of $3 million and 17.5% of the 
borrowing base, and must again satisfy such financial covenant as of the last day of each fiscal quarter thereafter until such time as there are no events of default and availability has been above such 
threshold for 30 consecutive days. As of December 31, 2024, the Company was in compliance with its financial covenant.

Cash Flows

The following table presents the major components of net cash flows provided by and used in operating, investing and financing activities for the periods indicated. 

    Twelve Months Ended December 31,  
(in thousands)   2024     2023  
Cash (used in) provided by:            

Operating activities   $ (1,019 )   $ (16,274 )
Investing activities   $ (283 )   $ 805  
Financing activities   $ —     $ 25  

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Our cash flows used in operating activities are primarily influenced by working capital requirements.

Net cash used in operating activities of $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 was primarily driven by a net loss of $23.8 million, partially offset by non-cash expenses of $7.4 million 
primarily related to equity-based compensation and depreciation and amortization expense and a net increase in cash related to changes in operating assets and liabilities of $15.4 million. Changes in 
cash flows related to operating assets and liabilities were primarily due to a decrease in inventories of $15.9 million due to decreased production of inventory as inventory levels are managed and the 
sale of raw materials to contract manufacturers, decreased prepaid expenses and other assets of $3.2 million largely due to a decrease in receivables related to the sale of raw materials, and a decrease 
in accounts receivable of $0.3 million due to timing of payments, partially offset by a net decrease in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $3.5 million due to timing of 
purchases and decreased production of inventory, and decreased operating lease liabilities of $0.6 million due to payments made. 

Net cash used in operating activities of $16.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 was primarily driven by a net loss of $28.3 million, partially offset by non-cash expenses of $11.0 million 
primarily related to equity-based compensation and depreciation and amortization expense and a net increase in cash related to changes in operating assets and liabilities of $1.0 million. Changes in 
cash flows related to operating assets and liabilities were primarily due to a net increase of $11.2 million in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities due to timing of 
purchases/payments and increased production of inventory, partially offset by an increase in inventories of $7.0 million due to increased production of inventory as a result of the supply chain 
logistics challenges in 2023, an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of $2.6 million, primarily due to an increase in receivables related to the sale of raw materials, and decreased operating 
lease liabilities of $0.6 million due to payments made. 

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities of $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 was primarily due to purchase of property, equipment, and software of $0.3 million for leasehold 
improvements, computer equipment, furniture and equipment, software applications, and marketing equipment for use in ongoing operations.

Net cash provided by investing activities of $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 was due to proceeds from sales of property, equipment, and software of $2.4 million, primarily the 
sale of our warehouse and related assets for $2.3 million, partially offset by capital expenditures of $1.6 million for the purchase of marketing fixtures, software applications and computer equipment 
used in ongoing operations.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities of less than $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 was due to proceeds from the Secured Revolving Line of Credit of $8 million which was 
repaid in the same period, and proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

Net cash provided by financing activities of less than $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 was primarily due to proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We report our financial results in accordance with U.S. GAAP. However, management believes that Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, provides investors with additional useful 
information in evaluating our operating performance.

We calculate Adjusted EBITDA as net loss adjusted to exclude: (1) other income (expense), net, which includes interest (income) expense and foreign currency (gains) losses, (2) (benefit) provision 
for income taxes, (3) depreciation and amortization, (4) equity-based compensation, and (5) restructuring expenses. Also, Adjusted EBITDA may in the future be adjusted for amounts impacting net 
income related to the TRA liability and other infrequent and unusual transactions. 
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Adjusted EBITDA is a financial measure that is not required by, or presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA, when taken together with our financial results 
presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, provides meaningful supplemental information regarding our operating performance and facilitates internal comparisons of our historical operating 
performance on a more consistent basis by excluding certain items that may not be indicative of our business, results of operations or outlook. In particular, we believe that the use of Adjusted 
EBITDA is helpful to our investors as it is a measure used by management in assessing the health of our business, determining incentive compensation and evaluating our operating performance, as 
well as for internal planning and forecasting purposes.

Adjusted EBITDA is presented for supplemental informational purposes only, has limitations as an analytical tool and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for financial information 
presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Some of the limitations of Adjusted EBITDA include that (1) it does not properly reflect capital commitments to be paid in the future, (2) although 
depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the underlying assets may need to be replaced and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect these capital expenditures, (3) it does not consider the 
impact of equity-based compensation expense, including the potential dilutive impact thereof, and (4) it does not reflect other non-operating expenses, including interest (income) expense, foreign 
currency (gains)/losses, and restructuring. In addition, our use of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly-titled measures of other companies because they may not calculate Adjusted 
EBITDA in the same manner, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure. Because of these limitations, when evaluating our performance, you should consider Adjusted EBITDA alongside 
other financial measures, including our net income (loss) and other results stated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

The following table presents a reconciliation of net loss, the most directly comparable financial measure stated in accordance with U.S. GAAP, to Adjusted EBITDA for the periods presented: 

    Year Ended December 31,  
(in thousands)   2024     2023  
Net loss and comprehensive loss   $ (23,783 )   $ (28,322 )

Other expense (income), net*     63       (673 )
Provision for income taxes     66       52  
Depreciation and amortization     1,329       1,615  
Equity-based compensation     4,961       8,279  
Restructuring     2,137       —  

Adjusted EBITDA   $ (15,227 )   $ (19,049 )

* Includes interest (income) expense and foreign currency (gains) losses.

Commitments

Effective March 2022, the Company entered into an amendment to the lease for its corporate headquarters offices to extend the lease term through December 31, 2023 and expand the total square 
footage from 17,923 square feet to 20,185 square feet which commenced on May 1, 2022. In January 2023, the Company entered into another amendment to the lease and further extended the lease 
term through December 31, 2026. In September 2024, the Company entered into a sublease agreement related to 8,468 square feet of its corporate office, which commenced on October 8, 2024 and 
ends on December 31, 2026. 

The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations as of December 31, 2024:

    Payments Due by Period  
    Total     Less Than One Year     1-3 Years     3-5 Years     More Than Five Years  

    (in thousands)  
Rent obligations   $ 1,424     $ 668     $ 756     $ —     $ —  
                               
(1) Real estate lease payments

Our leases generally consist of long-term operating leases, which are payable monthly and relate to our office space. For a further discussion on our debt and operating lease commitments as of 
December 31, 2024, see the sections above as well as Note 7 - Debt, and Note 8 - Leases, in the accompanying Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this 
Annual Report.

Our inventory purchase commitments are generally short-term in nature and have ordinary commercial terms. We did not have any material long-term inventory purchase commitments as of 
December 31, 2024. Our contract manufacturers are obligated to fulfill against purchase orders that are aligned with our forecast based on terms and conditions of the contract. Our forecasts 
provided to our contract manufacturers are short term in nature and at no time extend beyond a year.

We expect to satisfy these commitments through a combination of cash on hand and cash generated from sales of our products. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our accompanying consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The 
preparation of financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, sales, costs and expenses and related disclosures. We base our 
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ significantly from our estimates. To the 
extent that there are differences between our estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected.

 (1)



 

43

Critical accounting estimates are those that we consider the most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and operating results because they require our most difficult, subjective or 
complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. See Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the 
accompanying Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report, for information about these policies as well as a description of our other accounting 
policies. Our critical accounting estimates are described below.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when performance obligations under the terms of a contract with the customer are satisfied. Accruals for customer incentives and allowances, sales returns and marketing 
programs are established for the expected payout based on contractual terms, volume-based metrics and/or historical trends. These incentives and discounts include cash discounts, price allowances, 
volume-based rebates, product placement fees and certain other financial support for items such as trade promotions, displays, new products, consumer incentives and advertising assistance.

Our customer incentives and allowances contain uncertainties because it requires management to make assumptions and to apply judgment regarding our contractual terms in order to estimate our 
customer participation and volume performance levels which impact the revenue recognition. Our estimates are based primarily on a combination of known or historical transaction experiences. 
Differences between estimated expenses and actual costs are normally insignificant and are recognized to earnings in the period differences are determined.

Additionally, judgment is required to ensure the classification of the spend is correctly recorded as either a reduction from gross sales or advertising and marketing expense, which is a component of 
our selling and marketing expenses.

A 10% change in the accrual for customer incentives and allowances would have affected our income from operations by $0.6 million and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 
2023, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories consist of raw materials and finished goods. Raw materials include costs for the Company’s ingredients and packaging inventories. The costs of finished goods inventories include 
production fees from third-party manufacturers. Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or net realizable value. The Company regularly reviews whether the net realizable value of its 
inventory is lower than its carrying value. Indicators that could result in inventory write downs include age of inventory, damaged inventory, slow moving products, and products at the end of their 
life cycles. These factors are impacted by market and economic conditions and changes in strategic direction. The calculation of our inventory valuation, specifically the write-down for excess or 
obsolete inventories, requires management to make assumptions and to apply judgment regarding forecasted customer demand that may turn out to be inaccurate. Inventory net realizable value 
adjustments, once established, are not reversed until the related inventory has been sold or scrapped. While management believes that inventory is appropriately stated at the lower of average cost or 
net realizable value, judgment is involved in determining the net realizable value of inventory. The lower of average cost or net realizable value adjustments were not material at December 31, 2024 
or December 31, 2023. 

Income Taxes

The Company is the managing member of Zevia LLC and, as a result, consolidates the financial results of Zevia LLC in the consolidated financial statements. Zevia LLC is a pass-through entity for 
U.S. federal and most applicable state and local income tax purposes. As an entity classified as a partnership for tax purposes, Zevia LLC is not subject to U.S. federal and certain state and local 
income taxes. Any taxable income or loss generated by Zevia LLC is passed through to its members, including the Company. The Company is taxed as a C corporation and pays corporate federal, 
state and local taxes with respect to income allocated from Zevia LLC based on Zevia PBC’s economic interest in Zevia LLC, which was 84.2% and 75.8% as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. Subsequent changes in economic ownership in Zevia LLC of the Company can occur as Zevia LLC holders may convert their shares of Class B common stock into an equivalent 
number of shares of Class A common stock with income (loss) allocated to the Company based on the economic interest applicable during each reporting period. 

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (“DTAs” and “DTLs,” respectively) for 
the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, we determine DTAs and DTLs on the basis of the differences between the 
financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on DTAs 
and DTLs is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce DTAs to the amount that we believe is more likely than not to be realized. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we consider all positive and 
negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of DTLs, historical levels of income, projections of future income, expectations and risk associated with estimates of future taxable income and 
ongoing prudent and practical tax planning strategies. To the extent that we believe it is more likely than not that some portion of our DTAs will not be realized, we would increase the valuation 
allowance against DTAs. The determination of recording or releasing a tax valuation allowance is made, in part, pursuant to an assessment performed by management regarding the likelihood that 
we will generate sufficient future taxable income against which the benefits of our DTAs may or may not be realized. This assessment requires management to exercise significant judgment and 
make estimates with respect to our ability to generate revenue, gross profits, operating income and taxable income in future periods. Although we believe that our judgment used is reasonable, actual 
results can differ due to a change in market conditions, changes in tax laws and other factors. As of December 31, 2024, we have a full valuation allowance against DTAs totaling $78.9 million. 
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In accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes we perform a comprehensive review of uncertain tax positions regularly. The guidance prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for 
the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return. We determine the tax liability for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step 
process. The first step is to determine whether it is more likely than not based on technical merits that each income tax position would be sustained upon examination. The second step is to measure 
the tax benefit as the largest amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a tax authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. The 
assessment of each tax position requires significant judgment and estimates. All tax positions are periodically analyzed and adjusted as a result of events, such as the resolution of tax audits, issuance 
of new regulations or new case law, negotiations with tax authorities, and expiration of statutes of limitations. We did not record any unrecognized tax benefit as of December 31, 2024. We 
recognize both accrued interest and penalties, when appropriate, in income taxes in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Tax Receivable Agreement

The Company expects to obtain an increase in its share of tax basis in the net assets of Zevia LLC when Class B units are exchanged by the holders of Class B units for shares of Class A common 
stock of the Company and upon certain qualifying transactions. Each change in outstanding shares of Class A common stock of the Company results in a corresponding change in the Company’s 
ownership of Class A units of Zevia LLC. The Company intends to treat any exchanges of Class B units as direct purchases of LLC interests for U.S. federal income tax purposes. These increases in 
tax basis may reduce the amounts that Zevia PBC would otherwise pay in the future to various taxing authorities. They may also decrease gains (or increase losses) on future dispositions of certain 
capital assets to the extent tax basis is allocated to those capital assets.

In connection with the IPO, the Company entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”) with continuing members of Zevia LLC and the shareholders of blocker companies of certain pre-IPO 
institutional investors (the “Direct Zevia Stockholders”). In the event that such parties exchange any or all of their Class B units for Class A common stock, the TRA requires the Company to make 
payments to such holders for 85% of the tax benefits realized, or in some cases deemed to be realized, by the Company by such exchange as a result of (i) certain favorable tax attributes acquired 
from the blocker companies in the course of mergers related to the IPO (including net operating losses and the blocker companies’ allocable share of existing tax basis), (ii) increases in tax basis 
resulting from Zevia PBC’s acquisition of continuing members’ Zevia LLC units in connection with the IPO and in future exchanges and, (iii) tax basis increases attributable to payments made 
under the TRA (including tax benefits related to imputed interest). The annual tax benefits are computed by calculating the income taxes due, including such tax benefits, and the income taxes due 
without such benefits. The Company expects to benefit from the remaining 15% of any tax benefits that it may actually realize. The TRA payments are not conditioned upon any continued 
ownership interest in Zevia LLC or the Company. To the extent that the Company is unable to timely make payments under the TRA for any reason, such payments generally will be deferred and 
will accrue interest until paid.

The timing and amount of aggregate payments due under the TRA may vary based on a number of factors, including the amount and timing of the taxable income the Company generates each year 
and the tax rate then applicable. The Company calculates the liability under the TRA using a complex TRA model, which includes an assumption related to the fair market value of assets. Payments 
are generally due under the TRA within a specified period of time following the filing of the Company’s tax return for the taxable year with respect to which the payment obligation arises, although 
interest on such payments will begin to accrue at a rate of the Secured Overnight Financing Rate plus 300 basis points from the due date (without extensions) of such tax return.

The amount of existing tax basis and the anticipated tax basis adjustments will vary depending upon a number of factors, including our blended federal and state tax rate and the amount and timing 
of our income, the increase in the Zevia’s allocable share of existing tax basis and the tax basis adjustment of the tangible and intangible assets of the Company upon the exchange of Zevia LLC 
units for shares of Class A common stock, and our possible utilization of certain tax attributes. As a result, payments that Zevia PBC may make under the TRA could be substantial.

The TRA provides that if (i) certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations, or other changes of control were to occur; (ii) there is a material uncured breach of any obligations 
under the TRA; or (iii) the Company elects an early termination of the TRA, then the TRA will terminate and the Company’s obligations, or the Company’s successor’s obligations, under the TRA 
will accelerate and become due and payable, based on certain assumptions, including an assumption that the Company would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize all potential future tax 
benefits that are subject to the TRA and that any Class B units that have not been exchanged are deemed exchanged for the fair market value of the Company’s Class A common stock at the time of 
termination.
 
As of December 31, 2024, the Company believes based on applicable accounting standards, that it was more likely than not that its DTAs subject to the TRA would not be realized as of December 
31, 2024; therefore, the Company has not recorded a liability related to the tax savings it may realize from utilization of such DTAs. The TRA liability that would be recognized if the associated tax 
benefits were determined to be fully realizable totaled $56.5 million and $56.2 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The increase in the TRA liability is primarily related to Class B 
to Class A exchanges during the year ended December 31, 2024. If utilization of the DTAs subject to the TRA becomes more likely than not in the future, the Company will record a liability related 
to the TRA, which will be recognized as an expense within its consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the accompanying Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report for a discussion of recently issued 
accounting pronouncements not yet adopted.
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Emerging Growth Company Status

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public 
companies that are not “emerging growth companies.” We may take advantage of these exemptions until we are no longer an “emerging growth company.” Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides 
that an “emerging growth company” can take advantage of the extended transition period afforded by the JOBS Act for the implementation of new or revised accounting standards. We have elected 
to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards and as a result of this election, our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that 
comply with public company effective dates. We may take advantage of these exemptions up until the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the IPO which is December 31, 
2026 or such earlier time that we are no longer an emerging growth company. We would cease to be an emerging growth company if any of the following events occur: (i) we have more than $1.235 
billion in annual revenue, (ii) we have more than $700.0 million in market value of our Class A common stock held by non-affiliates (and we have been a public company for at least 12 months and 
have filed one annual report on Form 10-K) or (iii) we issue more than $1.0 billion of non-convertible debt securities over a three-year period.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are exposed to certain market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily consist of raw material prices, foreign exchange, inflation and commodities as follows:

Raw Material Risk

Our profitability is dependent on, among other things, our ability to anticipate and react to raw material costs. Currently, a key ingredient in our products is stevia extract. Our stevia leaf extract is 
procured by our contract manufacturers and was previously sourced from a single large multi-national ingredient company with whom we have a long-standing relationship through a two-year 
agreement that was entered into effective October 15, 2023, which includes fixed pricing for the duration of the term. During 2024, we approved and began sourcing from a second multi-national 
ingredient company to supply stevia leaf extract in order to diversify our source of stevia leaf extract, with the aim of mitigating price and supply disruptions. However, there can be no assurance that 
we will be able to secure alternative sources of supply. Additionally, the prices of stevia and other ingredients we use are subject to many factors beyond our control, such as market conditions, 
climate change, supply chain challenges, and adverse weather conditions.

Our aluminum cans are procured by our contract manufacturers through various can manufacturers. The price for aluminum cans also fluctuates depending on market conditions and U.S. foreign 
trade policies. The recent implementation of a 25% import tax by the new presidential administration on all steel and aluminum entering the U.S. could increase our operating costs. Our contract 
manufacturers’ ability to continue to procure enough aluminum cans at reasonable prices will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain. 

We are seeking to diversify our sources of supply and intend to enter into arrangements to better ensure stability of prices of our raw materials.

Due to a change in supply chain processes during 2024, our contract manufacturers are now responsible for the procurement of raw materials to produce our products, which are then sold to us as 
finished goods. As a result, during the year ended December 31, 2024, we had three vendors accounting for approximately 89% of our total raw material and finished goods purchases. Refer to Note 
14, Major Customers, Accounts Receivable and Vendor Concentration, included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The majority of our sales and costs are denominated in U.S. dollars and are not subject to foreign exchange risk. Our contract manufacturers source some ingredients and packaging materials from 
international sources, and as a result our results of operations could be impacted by changes in exchange rates. We sell and distribute our products to Canadian customers, who are invoiced and remit 
payment in Canadian dollars. All Canadian dollar transactions are translated into U.S. dollars using period-end rates of exchange for assets and liabilities, and average rates of exchange for the 
period for sales and expenses. To the extent our contract manufacturers increase sourcing from outside the U.S. or we increase net sales outside of the U.S. that are denominated in currencies other 
than the U.S. dollar, the impact of changes in exchange rates on our results of operations would increase. Foreign currency transaction losses for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
amounted to approximately $0.7 million and $0.0 million, respectively.

Inflation Risk

We believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. If our costs were to become subject to further and prolonged significant inflationary 
pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Commodity Risk

We are subject to market risks with respect to commodities because our ability to recover increased costs through higher pricing may be limited by the competitive environment in which we operate. 
Our principal commodities risks relate to purchases of aluminum, diesel fuel, cartons and corrugate.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of
Zevia PBC:

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Zevia PBC and its subsidiary (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive loss, consolidated statements of changes in equity, and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the two years in the period 
ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period 
ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our 
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with 
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit 
of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that 
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe 
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Los Angeles, California
February 26, 2025

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.
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ZEVIA PBC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)   December 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
ASSETS            

Current assets:            
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 30,653     $ 31,955  
Accounts receivable, net     10,795       11,119  
Inventories     18,618       34,550  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     1,843       5,063  
Total current assets     61,909       82,687  

Property and equipment, net     1,261       2,109  
Right-of-use assets under operating leases, net     1,099       1,959  
Intangible assets, net     3,179       3,523  
Other non-current assets     503       579  

Total assets   $ 67,951     $ 90,857  
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY            

Current liabilities:            
Accounts payable   $ 15,295     $ 21,169  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     8,340       5,973  
Current portion of operating lease liabilities     587       575  
Total current liabilities     24,222       27,717  

Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion     726       1,373  
Other non-current liabilities     58       —  

Total liabilities     25,006       29,090  
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)            
Stockholders’ equity            

Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value. 10,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 
December 31, 2023.     —       —  
Class A common stock, $0.001 par value. 550,000,000 shares authorized, 61,646,478 and 54,220,017 shares issued and 
outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.     61       54  
Class B common stock, $0.001 par value. 250,000,000 shares authorized, 11,551,235 and 17,283,177 shares issued and 
outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.     12       17  
Additional paid-in capital     186,148       191,144  
Accumulated deficit     (121,342 )     (101,337 )
Total Zevia PBC stockholders’ equity     64,879       89,878  

Noncontrolling interests     (21,934 )     (28,111 )
Total equity     42,945       61,767  

Total liabilities and equity   $ 67,951     $ 90,857  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ZEVIA PBC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
 

    Year Ended December 31,    
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)   2024     2023    
Net sales   $ 155,049     $ 166,424    
Cost of goods sold     83,120       91,666    

Gross profit     71,929       74,758    
Operating expenses:              

Selling and marketing     57,132       62,312    
General and administrative     30,024       31,495    
Equity-based compensation     4,961       8,279    
Depreciation and amortization     1,329       1,615    
Restructuring     2,137       —    

Total operating expenses     95,583       103,701    
Loss from operations     (23,654 )     (28,943 )  
Other (expense) income, net     (63 )     673    
Loss before income taxes     (23,717 )     (28,270 )  
Provision for income taxes     66       52    
Net loss and comprehensive loss     (23,783 )     (28,322 )  

Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest     3,778       6,828    
Net loss attributable to Zevia PBC   $ (20,005 )   $ (21,494 )  
               
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders              

Basic   $ (0.34 )   $ (0.41 )  

Diluted   $ (0.34 )   $ (0.41 )  

               
Weighted average common shares outstanding              

Basic     58,683,445       50,618,758    

Diluted     58,683,445       50,618,758    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ZEVIA PBC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
    Class A Common Stock     Class B Common Stock     Additional                    

(in thousands, except for share amounts)   Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount    
Paid in
Capital    

Accumulated
Deficit    

Noncontrolling 
interest    

Total
Equity  

 Balance at January 1, 2023     47,774,046     $ 48       21,798,600     $ 22     $ 189,724     $ (79,843 )   $ (28,165 )   $ 81,786  
 Vesting and release of common stock under equity 
incentive plans, net     1,848,288       1       —       —       (1 )     —       —       —  
 Exchange of Class B common stock for Class A common 
stock     4,454,900       5       (4,454,900 )     (5 )     (6,883 )     —       6,883       —  
 Disposition of cost method investment in redemption of 
Class B common stock     —       —       (60,523 )     —       —       —       (1 )     (1 )
 Exercise of stock options     142,783       —       —       —       25       —       —       25  

 Equity-based compensation     —       —       —       —       8,279       —       —       8,279  
 Net loss     —       —       —       —       —       (21,494 )     (6,828 )     (28,322 )

 Balance at December 31, 2023     54,220,017     $ 54       17,283,177     $ 17     $ 191,144     $ (101,337 )   $ (28,111 )   $ 61,767  
 Vesting and release of common stock under equity 
incentive plans, net     1,554,847       2       —       —       (2 )     —       —       —  
 Exchange of Class B common stock for Class A common 
stock     5,731,942       5       (5,731,942 )     (5 )     (9,955 )     —       9,955       —  
 Exercise of stock options     139,672       —       —       —       —       —       —       —  
 Equity-based compensation     —       —       —       —       4,961       —       —       4,961  
 Net loss     —       —       —       —       —       (20,005 )     (3,778 )     (23,783 )
 Balance at December 31, 2024     61,646,478     $ 61       11,551,235     $ 12     $ 186,148     $ (121,342 )   $ (21,934 )   $ 42,945  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ZEVIA PBC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 

    Year Ended December 31,  
(in thousands)   2024     2023  
Operating activities:            
Net loss   $ (23,783 )   $ (28,322 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:            
Non-cash lease expense     587       567  
Sublease impairment loss     351       —  
Depreciation and amortization     1,329       1,615  
Loss on disposal of property, equipment and software, net     57       480  
Amortization of debt issuance cost     76       76  
Equity-based compensation     4,961       8,279  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:            

Accounts receivable, net     324       (42 )
Inventories     15,932       (6,974 )
Prepaid expenses and other assets     3,220       (2,573 )
Accounts payable     (5,863 )     13,640  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     2,367       (2,435 )
Operating lease liabilities     (635 )     (585 )
Other non-current liabilities     58       —  

Net cash used in operating activities     (1,019 )     (16,274 )
Investing activities:            
Purchases of property, equipment and software     (283 )     (1,624 )
Proceeds from sales of property, equipment and software     —       2,429  

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities     (283 )     805  
Financing activities:            
Proceeds from revolving line of credit     8,000       —  
Repayment of revolving line of credit     (8,000 )     —  
Proceeds from exercise of stock options     —       25  

Net cash provided by financing activities     —       25  
Net change from operating, investing, and financing activities     (1,302 )     (15,444 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     31,955       47,399  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 30,653     $ 31,955  
             
Non-cash investing and financing activities            
Capital expenditures included in accounts payable   $ 1     $ 12  
Conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock   $ 9,955     $ 6,883  
Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities   $ —     $ 1,818  
             
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:            
Cash paid for interest   $ 93     $ 79  
Cash paid for income taxes   $ 85     $ 127  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ZEVIA PBC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Organization and operations

Zevia PBC (the “Company,” “we,” “us,” “our”), is a better-for-you beverage company that develops, markets, sells, and distributes naturally delicious, zero sugar beverages. We are a Delaware 
public benefit corporation and have been designated as a “Certified B Corporation,” and are focused on addressing the global health challenges resulting from excess sugar consumption by offering a 
broad portfolio of zero sugar, zero calorie, naturally sweetened beverages. All Zevia® beverages are Non-GMO Project verified, gluten-free, Kosher, and vegan, and include a variety of flavors 
across Soda, Energy Drinks and Organic Tea drinks. Our products are distributed and sold principally across the United States (“U.S.”) and Canada through a diverse network of major retailers in 
the grocery, drug, warehouse club, mass, natural, convenience and e-commerce channels and in natural product stores and specialty outlets. The Company’s products are manufactured and 
maintained at third-party beverage production and warehousing facilities located in both the U.S. and Canada.

The Company completed its initial public offering (“IPO”) of 10,700,000 shares of its Class A common stock at an offering price of $14.00 per share on July 26, 2021. Its Class A common stock is 
listed on the New York Stock Exchange trading under the ticker symbol “ZVIA.” In connection with the IPO, the Company also completed certain reorganization transactions (the “Reorganization 
Transactions”), pursuant to which Zevia LLC became the predecessor of the Company for financial reporting purposes. The Company is a holding company, and its sole material asset is its 
controlling equity interest in Zevia LLC. As the sole managing member of Zevia LLC, the Company operates and controls all of the business and affairs of Zevia LLC. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. (“U.S. GAAP”). 

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiary, Zevia LLC, that it controls due to ownership of a majority equity interest. All 
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company owns a majority economic interest in, and operates and controls all of the businesses and affairs of, Zevia LLC. Accordingly, the Company has prepared these accompanying 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 810, Consolidation. 

On January 1, 2022, the Company and Zevia LLC entered into a service agreement to transfer the services of all employees of the Company to Zevia LLC. Under terms of the service agreement 
between the entities, the payroll costs of employees are borne by Zevia LLC while certain other non-payroll costs, such as those associated with stock compensation arrangements, remain with the 
Company. In addition, pursuant to the Thirteenth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Zevia LLC, dated as of July 21, 2021, Zevia LLC shall reimburse the Company 
for certain expenses for overhead, administrative, and other expenses, at the Company’s discretion. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, it was determined that the majority of such 
costs will be retained by the Company, with certain costs directly attributable to Zevia LLC being borne by that entity. These costs impacted the amount of net loss reported by Zevia LLC and 
consequently impacted the amount allocated to noncontrolling interest. 

Use of estimates

The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities, as well as the reported amount of net sales and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates made by the 
Company relate to: net sales and associated cost recognition; the useful lives assigned to and the recoverability of property and equipment; adjustments recorded for inventory obsolescence and 
adjustments made for net realizable value; the incremental borrowing rate for lease liabilities; allowance for credit losses; the useful lives assigned to and the recoverability of intangible assets; 
realization of deferred tax assets; and the determination of the fair value of equity instruments, including restricted unit awards, and equity-based compensation awards. On an ongoing basis, the 
Company evaluates its estimates compared to historical experience and trends, which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of its assets and liabilities.

Cash, cash equivalents and investments

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and investments in short-term, highly liquid securities, with original maturities of three months or less. Investments with original maturities at the date of 
acquisition of more than three months are classified as short-term investments or long-term investments based on the remaining contractual maturity of the security at the reporting date. As of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company did not hold any investments. 

The Company maintains cash deposits with high credit quality financial institutions. The deposits with these financial institutions may exceed the federally insured limits; however, these deposits 
typically are redeemable upon demand. The Company has not experienced any loss because of these deposits and does not expect to incur any losses in the future. 
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Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Subsequent changes in fair value of these financial assets and liabilities are recognized in earnings or other comprehensive income 
when they occur. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities which are required to be recorded at fair value, the Company considers the principal or most advantageous 
market in which the Company would transact and the market-based risk measurement or assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities, such as inherent risk, 
transfer restrictions, and credit risk. The three-level hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements is as follows:

• Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2. Inputs other than Level 1 inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active 
markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or market-corroborated inputs.

• Level 3. Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Company’s material financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities. The carrying 
values of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities approximated their fair values at December 31, 2024 and 
2023 due to the short period of time to maturity or repayment. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, all cash and cash equivalents were considered Level 1. 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company did not have any assets or liabilities measured on a recurring basis without observable market values that would require a high level of judgment to 
determine fair value (Level 3).

The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no transfers between 
levels of the fair value hierarchy.

Other comprehensive loss

The nature of the Company’s operations does not give rise to consequential other comprehensive loss.

Accounts receivable and allowance for credit losses

Trade receivables are recorded at net realizable value, which includes an appropriate allowance for credit losses. Credit is extended to customers based on an evaluation of their financial condition, 
credit rating, and trade references. The Company monitors exposure to credit losses and maintains an allowance for anticipated losses based on each customer’s credit condition and payment 
behavior. The Company’s accounts receivable balance is net of an allowance for credit losses. The allowance for credit losses was not material at December 31, 2024 and 2023. Changes in the 
allowance for credit losses were not material for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Inventories

Inventories consist of raw materials and finished goods. Raw materials include costs for the Company’s ingredients and packaging inventories. The costs of finished goods inventories include 
production fees from third-party manufacturers. Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or net realizable value. The Company regularly reviews whether the net realizable value of its 
inventory is lower than its carrying value. Indicators that could result in inventory write downs include age of inventory, damaged inventory, slow moving products, and products at the end of their 
life cycles. While management believes that inventory is appropriately stated at the lower of average cost or net realizable value, judgment is involved in determining the net realizable value of 
inventory. 

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses represent amounts paid in advance for products or services to be delivered in the future and are included within prepaid expenses and other current assets in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets. Prepaid expenses are expensed as incurred and were $0.8 million and $1.8 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Additions, replacements, and leasehold improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs that do not extend the useful life of an asset are 
expensed as incurred. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the remaining lease term or the estimated useful life of the improvement. When assets 
are retired or otherwise disposed, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts and any related gain or loss is recognized.

Depreciation and amortization are computed using the following estimated useful lives of the assets:

Asset       Years
Leasehold improvements        Shorter of lease term or estimated useful life
Computer equipment       3
Furniture and equipment       4-7
Quality control equipment       2-5
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The Company periodically reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. In order to assess 
recoverability, the Company compares the estimated undiscounted future pre-tax cash flows from the use of the group of assets, as defined, to the carrying amount of such assets. Measurement of an 
impairment loss is based on the excess of the carrying amount of the group of assets over the long-lived asset’s fair value. The Company recognized an impairment charge associated with long-lived 
assets of $0.1 million and zero during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The impairment charge of $0.1 million was the result of sublease arrangement entered by the 
Company during the year ended December 31, 2024 and included in restructuring expense on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

Leases

The Company leases office space. Right of use (“ROU”) lease assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, and lease liabilities represent the obligation to make 
lease payments. Both the ROU lease asset and liability are recognized as of the lease commencement date based on the present value of the lease payments over the lease term. The Company’s leases 
do not provide an implicit borrowing rate that can readily be determined. Therefore, the Company applies a discount rate based on the incremental borrowing rate, which is determined using the 
Company’s synthetic credit rating and other information available as of the lease commencement date. ROU lease assets also include any lease payments made before their contractual due dates and 
exclude any lease incentives.

The Company’s lease agreements may include options to extend the lease term or to terminate the lease early. The Company includes options to extend or terminate leases upon determination of the 
ROU lease asset and liability when it is reasonably certain the Company will exercise these options. Operating lease expense attributable to lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term and is included in general and administrative expense on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

The Company has lease arrangements that include lease and non-lease components. The non-lease components in the arrangements are not significant when compared to the lease components. For 
all leases, the Company accounts for the lease and non-lease components as a single component.

The Company evaluates ROU assets for impairment consistent under the impairment of long-lived assets policy. See Note 8, Leases for discussion on impairment.

The Company had no material finance leases as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Intangible assets, net

Intangible assets subject to amortization consist of customer relationships, which were acquired and are amortized over their estimated useful life of 15 years and computer software costs which are 
amortized over their estimated useful life of three years. In accordance with Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) Topic 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, intangible assets with definite 
lives are treated as a long-lived asset and are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable. If impaired, the 
asset is written down to its estimated fair market value, which is generally measured by discounting future cash flows. 

Non-amortizable intangible assets consist of trademarks which represent the Company’s exclusive ownership of the Zevia® brand used in connection with the manufacture, marketing, and 
distribution of its carbonated beverages. The Company also owns several other trademarks in both the U.S. and in foreign countries. Intangible assets not subject to amortization are evaluated for 
impairment annually, or sooner if management believes such assets may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognized if the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its estimated fair market value. For the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, no impairment losses were recorded.

Certain external and internal computer software costs acquired for internal use are capitalized. Training costs and maintenance are expensed as incurred, while upgrades and enhancements are 
capitalized if it is probable that such expenditures will result in additional functionality. Capitalized costs are included within intangible assets, net.

Debt issuance cost

Costs incurred in connection with securing a revolving line of credit agreement are capitalized. These costs are amortized over the term of the credit agreement. Debt issuance costs are included in 
Other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Net debt issuance costs totaled $0.2 million and $0.2 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Customer incentives and allowances

The Company offers its customers sales incentives that are designed to support the distribution of its products to consumers. These incentives and discounts include cash discounts, price allowances, 
volume-based rebates, product placement fees and certain other financial support for items such as trade promotions, displays, new products, consumer incentives and advertising assistance. These 
amounts are deducted from gross sales and are included under Net sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company maintains an allowance 
representing the estimated cost of certain customer incentives incurred but not yet realized as of the end of each respective year, which is recorded as an offset against customer accounts receivable, 
and is included under Accounts receivable, net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The accrual for customer incentives and allowances were $5.7 million and $4.1 million as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when performance obligations under the terms of a contract with the customer are satisfied. Product sales occur once control is transferred either upon shipment or 
delivery to the customer. Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for transferring goods, net of accruals for customer incentives and 
allowances. The amount of consideration the Company receives and revenue the Company recognizes varies with changes in customer incentives the Company offers to its customers.

Customer incentives and allowances are estimated based on agreed upon terms as well as historical trends and current economic and market conditions, while cash discounts are based on trade terms 
and require management judgment with respect to estimating customer participation and performance levels. Differences between such estimated expenses and actual expenses for promotional and 
other allowance costs have historically been insignificant and are recognized in earnings in the period such differences are determined.
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The Company accounts for costs associated with shipping and handling activities that occur after the transfer of control as a fulfillment activity, instead of a separate performance obligation.

The Company excludes from the transaction price those amounts which relate to sales and other taxes that are assessed by governmental authorities and that are imposed and concurrent with a 
specific revenue-producing transaction and collected by the Company from a customer.

The Company’s general payment terms are short-term in duration. The Company does not have significant financing components or payment terms.

Cost of goods sold

Cost of goods sold consists of all costs to acquire and manufacture the Company’s products including the cost of the various ingredients, packaging, in-bound freight and logistics, and third-party 
production fees—which are typically incurred at a flat rate per case produced—and all other costs incurred to bring the product to salable condition. The Company’s cost of goods sold is generally 
subject to price fluctuations in the marketplace for aluminum, logistics costs such as fuel, inbound freight, bottling tolling fees, as well as shifting product mix. 

Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss include warehousing and distribution costs, shipping and handling costs, 
advertising, and marketing costs, which generally are expensed as incurred. 

Selling expenses consist mainly of warehousing and distribution costs which include storage, transfer, repacking and handling fees, and out-bound freight and delivery charges. The Company has 
elected to classify shipping and handling costs for salable product outside of cost of goods sold, in selling and marketing expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss. Such costs amounted to approximately $12.7 million and $14.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Advertising and marketing expenses represent costs associated with the promotion of the Zevia® brand and products as outlined in ASC Topic 730-25, Other Expenses – Advertising Costs, such as 
those for digital and other forms of advertising. Advertising and marketing expenses amounted to approximately $17.1 million and $10.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss include personnel-related expenses, including salaries, bonuses, and 
benefits, technology expenses, professional fees, facility costs, including insurance, utilities and rent relating to our headquarters, and overhead costs. These costs are expensed as incurred.

Equity-based compensation expense

The Company records equity-based compensation expense for employees and nonemployees under the provisions of ASC Topic 718, Compensation—Stock compensation (“ASC 718”), using a 
Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model to calculate the fair value of stock options by date granted. The determination of the grant date fair value of stock options issued is affected by a number 
of variables, including the fair value of the Company’s common stock, the expected common stock price volatility over the expected life of the options, the expected term of the stock option, risk-
free interest rates, and the expected dividend yield of the Company’s common stock. The Company derived its expected volatility for grants issued prior to July 21, 2023 (which is the two-year 
anniversary of the Company’s IPO) based on the average historical volatilities of several peer public companies over a period equivalent to the expected term of the awards, and its expected 
volatility for grants issued subsequent to July 21, 2023 based on historical volatility of the Company’s stock. The Company estimates the expected term based on the simplified method prescribed by 
guidance provided by the Securities and Exchange Commission. This decision was based on the lack of relevant historical data due to the Company’s limited experience for the Company’s common 
stock. The risk-free interest rate is an interpolation of yields on U.S. Treasury securities with maturities equivalent to the expected term. Expected dividend yield is 0.0% as the Company has not paid 
and does not anticipate paying dividends on its common stock. The fair value of stock options is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is typically 
four years. Equity-based compensation cost for restricted stock awards is measured based on the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant and is recognized as expense 
over the requisite service period, which is the vesting period on a straight-line basis. Forfeitures are recognized as incurred. 

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation is primarily related to building and related improvements, computer equipment, quality control and marketing equipment, and leasehold improvements. Intangible assets subject to 
amortization consist of customer relationships and software applications. Non-amortizable intangible assets consist of trademarks, which represent the Company’s exclusive ownership of the Zevia® 
brand used in connection with the manufacturing, marketing, and distribution of its beverages. The Company also owns several other trademarks in both the U.S. and in foreign countries. 

Restructuring

The Company can initiate management-approved restructuring activities to achieve cost savings and to position the Company strategically in the market in response to prevailing economic 
conditions and associated customer demand. Costs associated with restructuring activities can include employee severance and benefit costs to terminate a specified number of employees as well as 
costs for restructuring consulting services, impairment loss of certain assets, contract termination costs and other related charges. 

Foreign currency transactions

The functional currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar. The Company sells and distributes its products to Canadian customers, who are invoiced and remit payment in Canadian dollars. All 
Canadian dollar transactions are translated into U.S. dollars using period-end rates of exchange for assets and liabilities, and average rates of exchange for the period for net sales and expenses. 
Foreign currency transaction losses for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 amounted to approximately $0.7 million and $0.0 million, respectively, and are included under other (expense) 
income, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
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Income Taxes

The Company is the managing member of Zevia LLC and, as a result, consolidates the financial results of Zevia LLC in the consolidated financial statements. Zevia LLC is a pass-through entity for 
U.S. federal and most applicable state and local income tax purposes. As an entity classified as a partnership for tax purposes, Zevia LLC is not subject to U.S. federal and certain state and local 
income taxes. Any taxable income or loss generated by Zevia LLC is passed through to its members, including the Company. The Company is taxed as a corporation and pays corporate federal, state 
and local taxes with respect to income allocated from Zevia LLC based on the Company’s economic interest in Zevia LLC, which was 84.2% and 75.8% as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. Subsequent changes in economic ownership in Zevia LLC of the Company can occur as Zevia LLC holders may convert their shares of Class B common stock into an equivalent 
number of shares of Class A common stock with income (loss) allocated to the Company based on the economic interest applicable during each reporting period.

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (“DTAs” and “DTLs,” respectively) for 
the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, we determine DTAs and DTLs on the basis of the differences between the 
financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on DTAs 
and DTLs is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. We recognize DTAs to the extent that we believe that these assets are more likely than not to be realized. In making 
such a determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-planning 
strategies, carryback potential if permitted under the tax law, and results of recent operations. If we determine that we would be able to realize our DTAs in the future in excess of their net recorded 
amount, we would make an adjustment to the DTA valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes. 

The Company records uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes on the basis of a two-step process in which (1) we determine whether it is more likely than not that the tax 
positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, we recognize the largest amount 
of tax benefit that is more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority. We recognize both accrued interest and penalties, when appropriate, in 
provision for income taxes in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Recent accounting pronouncements

The Company is an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (“JOBS Act”). Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or 
revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until those standards apply to private companies. The Company has elected to use this extended transition period 
for complying with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date that it (i) is no longer an emerging growth 
company or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opts out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, the consolidated financial statements may not be comparable to 
companies that comply with the new or revised accounting pronouncements as of public company effective dates.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements – Recently Adopted

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable 
Segment Disclosures. This ASU requires entities to disclose information about their reportable segments’ significant expenses and other segment items on an interim and annual basis. Public entities 
with a single reportable segment are required to apply the disclosure requirements in ASU 2023-07, as well as all existing segment disclosures and reconciliation requirements in ASC 280 on an 
interim and annual basis. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early 
adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2023-07 during the year ended December 31, 2024. See Note 13, Segment Reporting for more information on the adoption of this guidance. 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements – Not Yet Adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09 Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. The guidance requires disaggregated information about a reporting 
entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as information on income taxes paid. The guidance is intended to benefit investors by providing more detailed income tax disclosures that would be 
useful in making capital allocation decisions. The ASU 2023-09 is effective for private companies for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2025, with early adoption permitted. The 
guidance will be applied on a prospective basis with the option to apply the standard retrospectively. The Company elected not to early adopt this guidance. The Company is currently evaluating the 
impact of adopting this guidance.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-03, Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses. The new guidance requires disclosures about specific types of expenses included in the 
expense captions presented on the face of income statement as well as disclosures about selling expenses. This guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026 
and interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The requirements will be applied prospectively with the option for retrospective application. The 
Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this guidance.

Any other recently issued accounting pronouncements are neither relevant, nor expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
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3. REVENUES

Disaggregation of Revenue

The Company’s products are distributed and sold principally across the U.S. and Canada through a diverse network of major retailers, including: grocery stores, drug stores, warehouse clubs, mass 
stores, natural product stores, convenience, and online/e-commerce channels. The following table disaggregates the Company’s sales by channel:

    Year Ended December 31,  
(in thousands)   2024     2023  
Retail sales   $ 136,856     $ 148,299  
Online/e-commerce     18,193       18,125  

Net sales   $ 155,049     $ 166,424  

The following table disaggregates the Company’s sales by geographic location of the respective customers based on ship to location:

    Year Ended December 31,  
(in thousands)   2024     2023  
U.S.   $ 139,746     $ 149,466  
Canada     15,303       16,958  

Net sales   $ 155,049     $ 166,424  

Contract liabilities

The Company did not have any material unsatisfied performance obligations as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.

4. INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following as of: 

(in thousands)   December 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
Raw materials   $ 600     $ 4,714  
Finished goods     18,018       29,836  

Inventories   $ 18,618     $ 34,550  
 

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment consist of the following as of:

(in thousands)   December 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
Leasehold improvements   $ 1,215     $ 1,167  
Computer equipment     406       677  
Furniture and equipment     804       785  
Quality control and marketing equipment     1,834       1,782  
Assets not yet placed in service     29       101  
     4,288       4,512  
Less accumulated depreciation     (3,027 )     (2,403 )

Property and equipment, net   $ 1,261     $ 2,109  

For the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, depreciation expense, including the amortization of leasehold improvements, amounted to approximately $1.0 million and $1.0 million, 
respectively. These amounts are included under depreciation and amortization in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

The following table provides information pertaining to the Company’s intangible assets as of:

    December 31, 2024  

(in thousands)  
Weighted-Average 

Remaining Useful Life     Gross Carrying Amount     Accumulated Amortization     Intangible Assets, Net  
Software     1.2     $ 1,167     $ (1,124 )   $ 43  
Customer relationships     0.8       3,007       (2,871 )     136  
           4,174       (3,995 )     179  
Trademarks   N/A       3,000       —       3,000  
Intangible assets, net         $ 7,174     $ (3,995 )   $ 3,179  
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    December 31, 2023  

(in thousands)  
Weighted-Average 

Remaining Useful Life     Gross Carrying Amount     Accumulated Amortization     Intangible Assets, Net  
Software     1.4     $ 1,164     $ (978 )   $ 186  
Customer relationships     1.7       3,007       (2,670 )     337  
           4,171       (3,648 )     523  
Trademarks   N/A       3,000       —       3,000  
Intangible assets, net         $ 7,171     $ (3,648 )   $ 3,523  

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, total amortization expense amounted to $0.3 million and $0.6 million, respectively, including $0.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively, of 
amortization expense related to software. No impairment losses have been recorded on any of the Company’s intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Amortization expense for intangible assets with definite lives is expected to be as follows:

(in thousands)    
2025   170  
2026   9  

Expected amortization expense for intangible assets with definite lives $ 179  
 

7. DEBT

ABL Credit Facility

On February 22, 2022, Zevia LLC (the “Borrower”) obtained a revolving credit facility (the “Secured Revolving Line of Credit”) by entering into a Loan and Security Agreement with Bank of 
America, N.A. (the “Loan and Security Agreement”). The Borrower may draw funds under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit up to an amount not to exceed the lesser of (i) a $20 million 
revolving commitment and (ii) a borrowing base which is comprised of inventory and receivables. Up to $2 million of the Secured Revolving Line of Credit may be used for letter of credit issuances 
and the Borrower has the option to increase the commitment under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit by up to $10 million, subject to certain conditions. The Secured Revolving Line of Credit 
matures on February 22, 2027. During the first quarter of 2024, the Company drew $8 million on the Secured Revolving Line of Credit which was subsequently repaid in the same period. As of 
December 31, 2024, there was no amount outstanding on the Secured Revolving Line of Credit. The Secured Revolving Line of Credit is secured by a first priority security interest in substantially 
all of the Company’s assets. 

Loans under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit bear interest based on either, at the Borrower’s option, the Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index rate plus an applicable margin between 
1.50% to 2.00% or the Base Rate (customarily defined) plus an applicable margin between 0.50% to 1.00% with margin, in each case, determined by the average daily availability under the Secured 
Revolving Line of Credit. The Loan and Security Agreement was amended on September 30, 2024 to replace the Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index, which was discontinued on November 
15, 2024, with the Term Secured Overnight Financing rate, effective November 20, 2024. 

Under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit, the Borrower must satisfy a financial covenant requiring a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter 
following the occurrence of certain events of default that are continuing or any day on which availability under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit is less than the greater of $3 million and 17.5% 
of the borrowing base, and must again satisfy such financial covenant as of the last day of each fiscal quarter thereafter until such time as there are no events of default and availability has been 
above such threshold for 30 consecutive days. As of December 31, 2024, the Company was in compliance with its financial covenant.

8. LEASES

The Company leases its office space for its corporate headquarters which has a remaining lease term of 24 months. In September 2024, the Company entered into an agreement to sublease 8,468 
square feet of the 20,185 square feet of leased office space. The sublease term is from October 8, 2024 to December 31, 2026. The sublease arrangement resulted in impairment of ROU asset and 
leasehold improvement of $0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively for the year ended December 31, 2024 and is included in restructuring expense on the consolidated statement of operations and 
comprehensive loss. The Company determined the impairment using the discounted cash flow of expected receipts from sublease which is considered a level 2 fair value measurement.  The level 3 
inputs in the calculation were insignificant.  The calculated fair value of the sublease was $0.5 million.

The Company’s recognized lease costs include:
    Year Ended December 31,  

(in thousands)   2024     2023  
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss            
Operating lease cost   $ 715     $ 734  

(1) Operating lease cost is recorded within general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

  December 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
Weighted-average remaining lease term (months)   24.0       36.0  
Weighted-average discount rate   7.6 %     7.6 %

The Company’s variable lease costs and short-term lease costs were not material.

(1)
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The Company is obligated under a non-cancelable lease agreement providing for office space that expires on December 31, 2026. Maturities of lease payments under the non-cancelable lease were 
as follows: 

(in thousands)   December 31, 2024  
2025     668  
2026     756  
Total lease payments     1,424  
Less imputed interest     (111 )
Present value of lease liabilities   $ 1,313  
 

9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Purchase commitments

As of December 31, 2024, the Company does not have any material agreements with suppliers for the purchase of raw material with minimum purchase quantities. Our contract manufacturers are 
obligated to fulfill against purchase orders that are aligned with our forecast based on terms and conditions of the contract. Our forecasts provided to our contract manufacturers are short term in 
nature and at no time extend beyond a year. 

Legal proceedings

The Company is involved from time to time in various claims, proceedings, and litigation. The Company establishes reserves for specific legal proceedings when it determines that the likelihood of 
an unfavorable outcome is probable, and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Management does not believe that the resolution of these matters would have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. The Company has not identified any legal matters where it believes a material loss is reasonably possible. 

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

Employees of the Company may participate in the Zevia LLC 401(k) Plan (the “Plan”), a defined contribution plan which qualifies under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Participating 
employees may contribute from 1% to 90% of their pre-tax earnings, up to the statutory limit. Effective January 1, 2020, the Company began offering matching contributions to the Plan of up to 4% 
of employee pre-tax earnings. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company incurred contribution expense of $0.4 million and $0.5 million, respectively. 

11. BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS

Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following as of:

(in thousands)   December 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
Accrued employee compensation benefits   $ 1,548     $ 1,526  
Accrued direct selling costs     1,376       1,113  
Accrued customer paid bottle deposits     2,895       1,734  
Accrued marketing expenses     1,775       156  
Accrued other     746       1,444  
Total   $ 8,340     $ 5,973  
 
Prior year amounts of accrued marketing expenses and accrued other in the table above have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on 
the reported balance sheet, results of operations or cash flows.
 

12. EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION

In July 2021, prior to the IPO, the Company adopted the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”) under which the Company may grant options, stock appreciation rights, restricted 
stock units (“RSUs”), restricted stock awards, other equity-based awards and incentive bonuses to employees, officers, non-employee directors and other service providers of the Company and its 
affiliates.

The number of shares available for issuance under the 2021 Plan is increased on January 1 of each year beginning in 2022 and ending with a final increase in 2031 in an amount equal to the lesser of: 
(i) 5% of the total number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding on the preceding December 31, or (ii) a smaller number of shares determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. 

In October and November 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an amendment to its equity-based compensation plans for a certain number of employees to allow immediate vesting 
upon retirement of all outstanding RSUs and stock options, and to extend the exercisability of outstanding stock options up to five years after retirement, if they meet certain conditions, including a 
resignation after the holder has reached 50 years of age with at least 10 years of service to the Company, so long as the holder provides advance notice of his or her resignation to the Company’s 
Board of Directors. 

As of December 31, 2024, the 2021 Plan provides for future grants and/or issuances of up to approximately 2.8 million shares of our common stock. Equity-based awards under our employee 
compensation plans are made with newly issued shares reserved for this purpose.
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Stock Options

The Company uses a Black-Scholes valuation model to measure stock option expense as of each respective grant date. Generally, stock option grants vest ratably over four years, have a 10-year 
term, and have an exercise price equal to the fair market value as of the grant date. The fair value of stock options is amortized to expense over the vesting period.

The fair value of stock option awards granted during the period was determined on the grant date using the Black-Scholes valuation model based on the following weighted-average assumptions:

    Year Ended December 31,  
    2024   2023  

Stock price   $ 1.36   $ 2.90  
Exercise price     1.36     2.90  
Expected term (years)     6.25     6.25  
Expected volatility     80.3 %   65.4 %
Risk-free interest rate     4.1 %   3.6 %
Dividend yield     0.0 %   0.0 %

(1) Expected term represents the estimated period of time until an award is exercised and was determined using the simplified method.
(2) Expected volatility for grants issued prior to July 21, 2023 (which is the two-year anniversary of the Company’s IPO) is based on the historical volatility of a selected peer group over a period 
equivalent to the expected term, and expected volatility for grants issued subsequent to July 21, 2023 is based on historical volatility of the Company’s stock.
(3) The risk-free interest rate is an interpolation of yields on U.S. Treasury securities with maturities equivalent to the expected term.
(4) We have assumed a dividend yield of zero as the Company has no plans to declare dividends in the foreseeable future.

The weighted average grant date fair values for stock options granted for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $0.98 and $1.81, respectively.

The following is a summary of stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2024: 

  Shares    
Weighted average exercise 

price    
Weighted average remaining 

life    
Intrinsic value 
(in thousands)  

Outstanding balance as of January 1, 2024   3,080,903     $ 3.40              
Granted   338,773     $ 1.36              
Exercised   (139,672 )   $ 0.01              
Forfeited and expired   (407,009 )   $ 3.99              
Balance as of December 31, 2024   2,872,995     $ 3.24       7.2     $ 4,477  
Exercisable at the end of the period   1,368,841     $ 3.28       6.0     $ 2,515  
Vested and expected to vest   2,872,995     $ 3.24       7.2     $ 4,477  

The total intrinsic values of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2024 was $0.2 million.

As of December 31, 2024, total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options was $2.0 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.1 
years.

Restricted Stock Units

In March 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an amendment to the RSUs granted by Zevia LLC in August 2020 (“the RSU Amendment”). The RSU Amendment changed the vesting 
of such RSUs to occur as follows: (i) in the event of a change of control, the RSUs shall vest effective as of such change of control or (ii) in the event of an initial public offering as in the case of the 
IPO, the RSUs shall vest in equal monthly installments over a 36-month period following the termination of any lockup period and shall be subject to the participant’s continued employment through 
such vesting date. Additionally, settlement shall occur within 30 days following the vesting of the RSUs and the participant shall be entitled to receive one share of Class A common stock for each 
vested RSU. All other terms remained unchanged. As a result of the RSU Amendment, the estimated fair value of the modified awards was $48.9 million and are being recognized as expense over 
the vesting period subsequent to the performance condition being met. As of December 31, 2024, the remaining service period of the awards is 1 month.

The following is a summary of RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2024:

  Shares     Weighted average grant date fair value    
Aggregate Intrinsic Value 

(in thousands)  
Balance unvested shares at January 1, 2024   2,174,053     $ 3.68        
Granted   3,294,669     $ 1.24        
Vested   (1,175,585 )   $ 4.03        
Forfeited   (575,218 )   $ 2.06        
Balance unvested at December 31, 2024   3,717,919     $ 1.65     $ 15,578  
Expected to vest at December 31, 2024   3,717,919     $ 1.65     $ 15,578  

As of December 31, 2024, total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested RSUs was $4.3 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.5 years.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
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As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were 214,410 and 593,672, respectively, of RSUs outstanding which vested in 2022 but are subjected to a deferred settlement provision over two years and 
therefore have not been released. As a result, these RSUs are not included in the table above.

13. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company has one operating and reporting segment and operates as a product portfolio with a single business platform. In reaching this conclusion, management considered the definition of the 
Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”); how the business is defined by the CODM; the nature of the information provided to the CODM and how that information is used to make operating 
decisions; and how resources and performance are assessed. The Company’s CODM is the Chief Executive Officer. The results of the operations are provided to and analyzed by the CODM at the 
Company’s level and accordingly, key resource decisions and assessment of performance are performed at the Company’s level. The Company has a common management team across all product 
lines and does not manage these products as individual businesses, and as a result, cash flows are not distinct. 

The CODM assesses the Company’s performance by using net loss as shown in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The CODM uses net loss in the annual operating 
plan. The CODM considers budget-to-actual variances on monthly basis for both profit measures when making decisions about the allocation of operating and capital resources, evaluating pricing 
strategy and to assess performance of the Company. 

Since the Company operates as a single operating segment, the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss present the significant expenses. Significant expenses also include 
direct selling expenses of $40.0 million and $51.8 million, and marketing expenses of $17.1 million and $10.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, presented as 
selling and marketing expenses in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company has no intra-entity transfers or sales. The other information required under ASC 280, Segment 
Reporting, is provided in the notes to consolidated financial statements including the Company’s products in Note 1, Description of Business and Note 3, Revenues.  In addition, interest income for 
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $0.8 million and $1.3 million, respectively.

14. MAJOR CUSTOMERS, ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND VENDOR CONCENTRATION

The table below represents the Company’s major customers that accounted for more than 10% of total net sales for the periods:

    Year Ended December 31,  
    2024     2023  

Customer A     13 %     13 %
Customer B   *       10 %
Customer C     11 %   *  

The table below represents the Company’s customers that accounted for more than 10% of total accounts receivable, net as of:

    December 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
Customer B   *       13 %
Customer C     10 %   *  
Customer I   *       18 %
Customer J     12 %   *  

The table below represents raw material and finished goods vendors that accounted for more than 10% of all raw material and finished goods purchases for the following periods:
 

    Year Ended December 31,  
    2024     2023  

Vendor A   *       21 %
Vendor B   *       15 %
Vendor C   *       12 %
Vendor D     34 %   *  
Vendor E     27 %   *  
Vendor F     27 %   *  
Vendor G   *       16 %

The change in vendor concentration during 2024 was driven by the changes made in our supply chain whereby our contract manufacturers are responsible for the procurement of raw materials to 
produce our products, which are then sold to us as finished goods.

* Less than 10% of total net sales, accounts receivable, net or raw material and finished goods purchases in the respective periods. 

15. LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share of Class A common stock is computed by dividing net loss attributable to the Company for the period by the weighted-average number of shares of Class A common stock 
outstanding during the same period. Diluted loss per share of Class A common stock is computed by dividing net loss attributable to the Company by the weighted-average number of shares of Class 
A common stock outstanding adjusted to give effect to potentially dilutive securities and assumed conversion of Class B common stock into shares of Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis 
using the if-converted method. 
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The following table sets forth reconciliations of the numerators and denominators used to compute basic and diluted loss per share of Class A common stock:

    Year Ended December 31,    
    2024     2023    

(in thousands, except for share and per share amounts)              
Net loss per share:              

Numerator:              
Net loss and comprehensive loss   $ (23,783 )   $ (28,322 )  

Less: net loss attributable to non-controlling interests     3,778       6,828    
Add: adjustment to reallocate net loss to controlling interest     58     800  
Net loss to Zevia PBC - basic   $ (19,947 )   $ (20,694 )  

 

     
 

   
 

Denominator:              
Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding – basic     58,405,992       49,898,784    
Add: weighted average shares of vested and unreleased RSUs     277,453     719,974  
Weighted-average basic and diluted shares     58,683,445       50,618,758    
               

Loss per share of Class A common stock – basic   $ (0.34 )   $ (0.41 )  
Loss per share of Class A common stock – diluted   $ (0.34 )   $ (0.41 )  

(1)
 The numerator for the basic and diluted loss per share is adjusted for additional losses being attributed to controlling interest as a result of the impacts of vested but unreleased RSUs being included in the denominator of the basic and diluted loss per share.

(2) 
The denominator for basic and diluted loss per share includes vested and unreleased RSUs as there are no conditions that would prevent these RSUs from being issued in the future as shares of Class A common stock except for the mere passage of time.

 
Zevia LLC Class B Common Units, stock options and RSUs were evaluated under the treasury stock method for potential dilutive effects and were determined to be anti-dilutive. The following 
weighted average outstanding shares were excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share available to Class A common stockholders as they were anti-dilutive: 

    Year Ended December 31,  
    2024     2023  

Zevia LLC Class B units exchangeable to shares of Class A common stock     14,099,368       20,891,366  
Stock options     3,110,466       3,407,679  
RSUs     3,574,043       2,647,975  
 

16. RESTRUCTURING

In May 2024, the Company initiated certain restructuring actions designed to reduce costs and improve efficiency while continuing to invest in our brand and related initiatives (the “Productivity 
Initiative”). As a result, the Company recognized $2.1 million of costs primarily related to employee termination expenses, restructuring consulting services, impairment loss of certain assets from 
sublease arrangement and costs to exit two of our third-party warehouse and distribution facilities during the year ended December 31, 2024. These amounts are included under restructuring in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Additional restructuring charges or cash expenditures may be incurred as the Company makes further progress on this 
Productivity Initiative, which we expect to be substantially completed by the first half of 2025. As of December 31, 2024, accrued restructuring costs of $0.4 million are included under accrued 
expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. These expenses are expected to be substantially paid at the end of the first quarter of 2025. 

As part of the ongoing Productivity Initiative, in January 2025, the Company approved a reduction in workforce and will incur additional restructuring costs of approximately $1.5 million for 
employee termination, benefits and related taxes.

(1) (1)

(2) (2)
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17. INCOME TAXES AND TAX RECEIVABLE AGREEMENT

Income Taxes

The Company is the managing member of Zevia LLC and as a result, consolidates the financial results of Zevia LLC in the consolidated financial statements of Zevia PBC. Zevia LLC is a pass-
through entity for U.S. federal and most applicable state and local income tax purposes following the Reorganization Transactions effected in connection with the IPO. As an entity classified as a 
partnership for tax purposes, Zevia LLC is not subject to U.S. federal and certain state and local income taxes. Any taxable income or loss generated by Zevia LLC is passed through to its members, 
including the Company. The Company is taxed as a C corporation and pays corporate federal, state and local taxes with respect to income allocated from Zevia LLC based on Zevia PBC’s economic 
interest in Zevia LLC, which was 84.2% and 75.8%, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

    Year Ended December 31,  
    2024     2023  
Current            

Federal   $ —     $ —  
State     66       52  
Total     66       52  

Deferred            
Federal     —       —  
State     —       —  
Total     —       —  

Provision for income taxes   $ 66     $ 52  

A reconciliation between the Company’s effective tax rate and the applicable U.S. federal statutory income tax rate is summarized as follows:

    Year Ended December 31,  
    2024     2023  
Tax computed at federal statutory rate     21.0 %     21.0 %
State tax, net of federal tax benefit     0.8 %     1.0 %
Permanent items and other     (6.3 )%     (0.6 )%
Non-controlling interests     (6.7 )%     (8.7 )%
Equity-based compensation     (4.1 )%     (3.5 )%
Valuation allowance     (5.0 )%     (9.5 )%
Effective Tax Rate     (0.3 )%     (0.3 )%

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes. The components that comprise the 
Company’s net DTAs s consist of the following:

    Year Ended December 31,  
    2024     2023  
Deferred tax assets            
Investment in Zevia LLC   $ 50,418     $ 53,081  
Net operating loss carryforwards     26,723       20,488  
Equity-based compensation     1,251       1,795  
Other temporary differences     526       177  
Total deferred tax assets     78,918       75,541  
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets     (78,918 )     (75,541 )
Net deferred tax assets   $ —     $ —  

The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce DTAs to the amount the Company believes is more likely than not to be realized. The determination of recording or releasing tax valuation 
allowances is made, in part, pursuant to an assessment performed by management regarding the likelihood that the Company will generate sufficient future taxable income against which benefits of 
the DTAs may or may not be realized. This assessment requires management to exercise significant judgment and make estimates with respect to the Company’s ability to generate revenue, gross 
profits, operating income and taxable income in future periods. The Company has recorded a full valuation allowance of $78.9 and $75.5 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, as 
it cannot conclude that it is more likely than not that the DTAs will be realized primarily due to the generation of pre-tax book losses from its inception.

The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company’s valuation allowance:

    Year Ended December 31,  
    2024     2023  
Balance, beginning of the year   $ 75,541     $ 72,662  
Increases related to current year positions     3,377       2,879  
Balance, end of the year   $ 78,918     $ 75,541  
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As of December 31, 2024, the Company has federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $110.4 million and $68.1 million, respectively. The federal net operating loss can be carried forward 
indefinitely but are limited to 80% utilization against future taxable income each year in accordance with the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. The state net operating loss carryforwards will begin to 
expire in 2031 unless previously utilized by the Company. 

The Company recognizes liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available 
evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax 
benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. While the Company believes that it has appropriate support for the positions taken on its tax returns, the 
Company regularly assesses the potential outcome of examinations by tax authorities in determining the adequacy of its provision for income taxes.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has no uncertain tax positions and does not expect a significant change in unrecognized tax benefits during the next 12 months.

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. and various states. The Company is not currently under examination by any taxing authorities. Due to the carryover of tax attributes, the statute of 
limitations is currently open for tax years since inception for Zevia PBC.

On June 27, 2024, California enacted Senate Bill 167. SB 167 suspended the net operating loss deduction for tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2024, and before January 1, 2027. The 
suspension applies to taxpayers with greater than $1 million in net income for the tax year. There was no material impact from the provisions of SB 167 during the year ended December 31, 2024. 

On August 16, 2022, the U.S. enacted the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (“IRA”), which includes a 15% book-income alternative minimum tax on corporations with average applicable financial 
statement income over $1 billion for any three year period ending with 2022 or later and a 1% excise tax on the fair market value of stock that is repurchased by publicly-traded U.S. corporations or 
their specified affiliates. The alternative minimum tax and the excise tax are effective in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2022. The IRA also includes provisions intended to mitigate 
climate change by, among others, providing tax credit incentives for reductions in greenhouse gas emissions. This legislation did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Tax Receivable Agreement

The Company expects to obtain an increase in its share of tax basis in the net assets of Zevia, LLC when Class B units are exchanged by the holders of Class B units for shares of Class A common 
stock of the Company and upon certain qualifying transactions. Each change in outstanding shares of Class A common stock of the Company results in a corresponding change in the Company’s 
ownership of Class A units of Zevia, LLC. The Company intends to treat any exchanges of Class B units as direct purchases of LLC interests for U.S. federal income tax purposes. These increases in 
tax basis may reduce the amounts that Zevia PBC would otherwise pay in the future to various taxing authorities. They may also decrease gains (or increase losses) on future dispositions of certain 
capital assets to the extent tax basis is allocated to those capital assets.

In connection with the IPO, the Company entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”) with continuing members of Zevia LLC and the shareholders of blocker companies (“Blocker 
Companies”) of certain pre-IPO institutional investors (“the Direct Zevia Stockholders”). In the event that such parties exchange any or all of their Class B units for Class A common stock, the TRA 
requires the Company to make payments to such holders for 85% of the tax benefits realized, or in some cases deemed to be realized, by the Company by such exchange as a result of (i) certain 
favorable tax attributes acquired from the Blocker Companies in certain mergers (including net operating losses and the Blocker Companies’ allocable share of existing tax basis), (ii) increases in tax 
basis resulting from Zevia PBC’s acquisition of continuing member’s Zevia LLC units in connection with the IPO and in future exchanges and, (iii) tax basis increases attributable to payments made 
under the TRA (including tax benefits related to imputed interest). The annual tax benefits are computed by calculating the income taxes due, including such tax benefits, and the income taxes due 
without such benefits. The Company expects to benefit from the remaining 15% of any tax benefits that it may actually realize. The TRA payments are not conditioned upon any continued 
ownership interest in Zevia LLC or the Company. To the extent that the Company is unable to timely make payments under the TRA for any reason, such payments generally will be deferred and 
will accrue interest until paid.

The timing and amount of aggregate payments due under the TRA may vary based on a number of factors, including the amount and timing of the taxable income the Company generates each year 
and the tax rate then applicable. The Company calculates the liability under the TRA using a complex TRA model, which includes an assumption related to the fair market value of assets. Payments 
are generally due under the TRA within a specified period of time following the filing of the Company’s tax return for the taxable year with respect to which the payment obligation arises, although 
interest on such payments will begin to accrue at a rate of the Secured Overnight Financing Rate plus 300 basis points from the due date (without extensions) of such tax return.

The TRA provides that if (i) certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations, or other changes of control were to occur; (ii) there is a material uncured breach of any obligations 
under the TRA; or (iii) the Company elects an early termination of the TRA, then the TRA will terminate and the Company’s obligations, or the Company’s successor’s obligations, under the TRA 
will accelerate and become due and payable, based on certain assumptions, including an assumption that the Company would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize all potential future tax 
benefits that are subject to the TRA and that any Class B units that have not been exchanged are deemed exchanged for the fair market value of the Company’s Class A common stock at the time of 
termination.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has concluded, based on applicable accounting standards, that it was more likely than not that its DTAs subject to the TRA would not be realized; therefore, 
the Company has not recorded a liability related to the tax savings it may realize from utilization of such DTAs. The TRA liability that would be recognized if the associated tax benefits were 
determined to be fully realizable totaled $56.5 million and $56.2 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The increase in the TRA liability is primarily related to Class B to Class A 
exchanges during the year ended December 31, 2024. If utilization of the DTAs subject to the TRA becomes more likely than not in the future, the Company will record a liability related to the TRA 
which will be recognized as expense within its consolidated statements of operations.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the 
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and (2) accumulated and 
communicated to our management including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 
2024. Based on the foregoing evaluation, management determined that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2024. 

Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management 
necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange 
Act. Our internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

As of December 31, 2024, our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of 
December 31, 2024.

Attestation Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm

This Report does not include an attestation report of our internal controls from our independent registered public accounting firm due to our status as an “emerging growth company” as defined in 
Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

Management determined that as of December 31, 2024, no changes in our internal control over financial reporting had occurred during the fiscal quarter then ended that materially affected or are 
reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
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Item 9B. Other Information.

(b) None of our directors or executive officers adopted or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or a non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement during the quarter ended December 31, 2024, as 
such terms are defined under Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K. 

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.
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PART III
 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the captions “Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” “Executive Officers,” “Executive 
Compensation- Compensation Policies- Insider Trading Policy,” “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” (if applicable) and “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” in the definitive Proxy Statement for 
our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024 (the “2025 Proxy Statement”).

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the captions “Director Compensation” and “Executive Compensation” in the 2025 Proxy 
Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the captions “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity 
Compensation Plan Information” in the 2025 Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the captions “Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions” and “Director 
Independence and Independence Determinations” in the 2025 Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption “Principal Accountant Fees and Services” in the 2025 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

The following documents are filed as a part of this Annual Report.

(a) Financial Statements
 

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are listed in the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” under Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules
 

All financial statement schedules are omitted because the information called for is not required or is shown either in the consolidated financial statements or in the notes thereto.

(c) Exhibits
 

The exhibits listed below are filed as part of this Annual Report, or are incorporated herein by reference, in each case as indicated below.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
 

    Exhibit    
No.  Description of Exhibit

   
   3.1

 
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 26, 
2021).

   
   3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 26, 2021).
     
   4.1   Description of Securities (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 11, 2022)
     
  10.1

 
Thirteenth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Zevia LLC Agreement dated as of July 21, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.1 of the Company’s Periodic Report on Form 10-Q filed August 13, 2021).

   
  10.2

 
Tax Receivable Agreement dated as of July 21, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Periodic Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 13, 
2021).

     
  10.3

 
Zevia PBC Eleventh Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated July 21, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Periodic 
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 13, 2021).

     
  10.4

 
Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into with Directors and Executive Officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1/A filed on July 12, 2021).

   
  10.5#  Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on July 26, 2021).
   
  10.6#

 
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on July 26, 2021).

   
  10.7#

 
Form of Nonqualified Stock Options Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on July 26, 2021).

   
  10.8#   Zevia 2020 Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25, 2021).
     
  10.9#

 
Form of Zevia LLC Notice of Restricted Class C Common Unit Award and Restricted Class C Common Unit Agreement (2020) (incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 10.7 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25, 2021).

     
  10.10#

 
Form of Zevia LLC Notice of Restricted Class C Common Unit Award and Restricted Class C Common Unit Agreement (2021) (incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 10.8 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25, 2021).

     
  10.11#

 
Form of Zevia LLC First Amendment to Notice of Restricted Class C Common Unit Award and Restricted Class C Common Unit Agreement (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25, 2021).

     
  10.12#

 
Form of Zevia LLC Second Amendment to Notice of Restricted Class C Common Unit Award and Restricted Class C Common Unit Agreement (incorporated herein 
by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 11, 2022).

     
  10.13#

 
Zevia LLC 2011 Unit Incentive Plan, as amended, and the Form of Unit Option Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Company’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25, 2021).

     
  10.14#

 
Form of Zevia LLC 2011 Unit Incentive Plan, as amended, Second Amendment to Unit Option Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 of 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 11, 2022).

     
  10.15#

 
Form of Zevia LLC 2011 Unit Incentive Plan, as amended, Third Amendment to Unit Option Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 11, 2022).

     
  10.16#

 
Form of Zevia LLC Notice of Restricted Phantom Class C Common Unit Award and Restricted Phantom Class C Common Unit Agreement (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25, 2021).

     
  10.17#

 
Form of Zevia LLC First Amendment to Notice of Restricted Phantom Class C Common Unit Award and Restricted Phantom Class C Common Unit Agreement 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed on July 12, 2021).

     
   10.18

 

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of February 22, 2022, by and among Zevia LLC, certain of its subsidiaries from time to time joined hereto as borrowers, the 
financial institutions party thereto from time to time as Lenders and Bank of America, N.A., a national banking association, as agent for the Lenders thereto 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 24, 2022).
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  10.19#

 

Amended and Restated Offer Letter dated June 15, 2022, between Zevia PBC and Amy Taylor (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 11, 2022).

     
  10.20#

 

Amended and Restated Severance Agreement dated June 15, 2022, between Zevia PBC and Amy Taylor (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the 
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 11, 2022).

     
  10.21#

 

Letter Agreement dated February 7, 2024 between Zevia PBC and Girish Satya (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2024).

     
  10.22#

 

Severance Agreement dated February 21, 2024 between Zevia PBC and Girish Satya (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2024).

     
  10.23#*   Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (for U.S. Employee SVP+)
     
  10.24#*   Form of Nonqualified Stock Options Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (for U.S. Employee SVP+)
     
  10.25#*   Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (for Board Director)
     
  10.26

 
Conforming Changes Amendment, dated as of September 30, 2024, by Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s 
Periodic Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 6, 2024)

     
  19.1*   Zevia Insider Trading Policy (updated June 15, 2023)
     
  21.1*   Subsidiaries of the Company.
     
  23.1*   Consent of Independent Registered Accounting Firm
     
  31.1*

 
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

   
  31.2*

 
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

   
  32**

 
Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

     
  97**   Zevia PBC Clawback Policy
   
  101.INS*  Inline XBRL Instance Document
   
  101.SCH*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbase Documents
   
  104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
 
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.

 

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
 
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, 
thereunto duly authorized.

                      Zevia PBC  
              By:       /s/ Amy E. Taylor  
                  Name:   Amy E. Taylor  
                  Title:   President and Chief Executive Officer  
                      (Principal Executive Officer)  
                  Date:   February 26, 2025  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates 
indicated.

  By:       /s/ Amy E. Taylor   By:       /s/ Girish Satya  
      Name:   Amy E. Taylor       Name:   Girish Satya  
      Title:   President and Chief Executive Officer, Director       Title:   Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer  
          (Principal Executive Officer)           (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)  
      Date:   February 26, 2025       Date:   February 26, 2025  

 
  By:       /s/ Padraic Spence   By:       /s/ Rosemary L. Ripley  
      Name:   Padraic Spence       Name:   Rosemary L. Ripley  
      Title:   Director and Board Chair       Title:   Director  
      Date:   February 26, 2025       Date:   February 26, 2025  
                         
 
  By:       /s/ David J. Lee   By:       /s/ Alexandre I. Ruberti  
      Name   David J. Lee       Name:   Alexandre I. Ruberti  
      Title   Director       Title:   Director  
      Date   February 26, 2025       Date:   February 26, 2025  
 
  By:       /s/ Andrew Ruben   By:       /s/ Justin Shaw  
      Name:   Andrew Ruben       Name:   Justin Shaw  
      Title:   Director       Title:   Director  
      Date:   February 26, 2025       Date:   February 26, 2025  
 
  By:       /s/ Julie G. Ruehl              
      Name:   Julie G. Ruehl              
      Title:   Director              
      Date:   February 26, 2025              
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ZEVIA PBC

2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
 

GRANT NOTICE FOR
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD

FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, Zevia PBC (the “Company”), hereby grants to the Participant named below the number of 
Restricted Stock Units (the “RSUs”) specified below (the “Award”) under the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). Each RSU 
represents the right to receive one share of Common Stock, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Grant Notice, the Plan and 
the Standard Terms and Conditions (the “Standard Terms and Conditions”) promulgated under such Plan and attached hereto as Exhibit A. This 
Award is granted pursuant to the Plan and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by the Standard Terms and Conditions. Capitalized terms not 
otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan.

Name of Participant:  
Grant Date:  
Number of RSUs:  
Vesting Schedule: Subject to the Plan and the Standard Terms and Conditions, the RSUs shall vest in accordance with the 

following schedule, so long as the Participant does not incur a Termination of Employment from the Grant 
Date through each vesting date:
 

   
 



 

Signature Page to 
Grant Notice for

Restricted Stock Unit Award

By accepting this Grant Notice, the Participant acknowledges that the Participant has received and read, and agrees that this Award shall be subject 
to, the terms of this Grant Notice, the Plan, and the Standard Terms and Conditions.

 
 
ZEVIA PBC
 
 
 
By:
Name: 
Title: 
 
PARTICIPANT
 
 
 

[Name]
 



 

Exhibit A
Standard Terms and Conditions for

Restricted Stock Units

EXHIBIT A
 

ZEVIA PBC
2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

 
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR

RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

These Standard Terms and Conditions apply to the Award of Restricted Stock Units granted pursuant to the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan 
(the “Plan”), which are evidenced by a Grant Notice or an action of the Committee that specifically refers to these Standard Terms and Conditions. 
In addition to these Standard Terms and Conditions, the Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to the terms of the Plan, which are incorporated into 
these Standard Terms and Conditions by this reference. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan.

1. TERMS OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

Zevia PBC (the “Company”) has granted to the Participant named in the Grant Notice provided to said Participant herewith (the “Grant Notice”) 
an award of Restricted Stock Units (the “Award” or “RSUs”) specified in the Grant Notice, with each Restricted Stock Unit representing the right 
to receive one share of Common Stock. The Award is subject to the conditions set forth in the Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions 
and the Plan. For purposes of these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Grant Notice, any reference to the Company shall include a reference to 
any Subsidiary.

2. VESTING AND SETTLEMENT OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

(a) The Award shall not be vested as of the Grant Date set forth in the Grant Notice and shall be forfeitable unless and until otherwise 
vested pursuant to the terms of the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions. After the Grant Date, subject to termination or 
acceleration as provided in these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan, the Award shall become vested as described in the Grant Notice 
with respect to that number of Restricted Stock Units as set forth in the Grant Notice. Restricted Stock Units that have vested and are no longer 
subject to forfeiture are referred to herein as “Vested RSUs.” Restricted Stock Units awarded hereunder that are not vested and remain subject to 
forfeiture are referred to herein as “Unvested RSUs.” 

(b) As soon as administratively practicable following the vesting of the RSUs pursuant to the Grant Notice and this Section 2, but in no 
event later than 30 days after each vesting date, the Company shall deliver to the Participant shares of Common Stock equal to the number of 
Vested RSUs.

(c) If the Participant’s Termination of Employment is as a result of the Participant’s death or Disability, all then Unvested RSUs shall 
become Vested RSUs effective as of the date of such Termination of Employment.
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(d) If the Participant’s Termination of Employment is as a result of a Qualifying Termination (as defined below), all then Unvested RSUs 
shall become Vested RSUs effective as of the date of such Termination of Employment, subject to the Participant’s execution and non-revocation 
of a release of claims, in the form provided by the Company within the time period specified therein.

(e) Upon the Participant’s Termination of Employment for any other reason not set forth in Section 2(c) or 2(d), any then Unvested RSUs 
held by the Participant shall be forfeited and canceled, for no consideration as of the date of the Participant’s Termination of Employment.

(f) As used in this Section 2:

(i) “Good Reason” has the meaning set forth in the Severance Agreement by and between the Company and the Participant.

(ii) “Qualifying Termination” means the Participant’s Termination of Employment by the Company without Cause or by the 
Participant for Good Reason, in each case, on or within 18 months following the consummation of a Change in Control.

3. RIGHTS AS STOCKHOLDER; DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS

(g) The Participant shall not be, nor have any of the rights or privileges of, a stockholder of the Company in respect of any RSUs 
(including any voting rights or rights to dividends or distributions paid on shares of Common Stock, except as provided in Section 3(b)) unless and 
until shares of Common Stock settled for such RSUs shall have been issued by the Company to the Participant (as evidenced by the appropriate 
entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company).

(h) Notwithstanding the foregoing, from and after the Grant Date and until the earlier of (i) the Participant’s receipt of Common Stock 
upon settlement of RSUs and (ii) the time when the Participant’s right to receive Common Stock upon settlement of RSUs is forfeited, on the date 
that the Company pays a cash dividend (if any) to holders of Common Stock generally, the Participant shall be entitled, as a Dividend Equivalent, 
to a number of additional whole RSUs determined by dividing (i) the product of (A) the dollar amount of such cash dividend paid per share of 
Common Stock and (B) the total number of outstanding RSUs (including dividend equivalents paid thereon) held by the Participant on the record 
date for such dividend, by (ii) the Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock on the date such dividend is paid to holders of Common Stock 
generally. Such Dividend Equivalents (if any) shall be subject to the same terms and conditions and shall be settled or forfeited in the same manner 
and at the same time as the RSUs to which the Dividend Equivalents were credited.

4. RESTRICTIONS ON RESALES OF SHARES

The Company may impose such restrictions, conditions or limitations as it determines appropriate as to the timing and manner of any resales by the 
Participant or other subsequent transfers by the Participant of any shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to Vested RSUs, including (a) 
restrictions under an insider trading policy, (b) restrictions designed to delay and/or coordinate the timing and manner of sales by the Participant 
and other holders and (c) restrictions as to the 
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use of a specified brokerage firm for such resales or other transfers.

5. INCOME TAXES

To the extent required by applicable federal, state, local or foreign law, the Participant shall make arrangements satisfactory to the Company for the 
satisfaction of any withholding tax obligations that arise by reason of the grant or vesting of the RSUs. The Company shall not be required to issue 
shares or to recognize the disposition of such shares until such obligations are satisfied.

6. NONTRANSFERABILITY OF AWARD

Except as permitted by the Committee or as permitted under Section 17 of the Plan, the Award may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or 
otherwise directly or indirectly encumbered or disposed of other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution.

7. OTHER AGREEMENTS SUPERSEDED

The Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan constitute the entire understanding between the Participant and the Company 
regarding the Award. Any prior agreements, commitments or negotiations concerning the Award are superseded.

8. LIMITATION OF INTEREST IN SHARES SUBJECT TO RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

Neither the Participant (individually or as a member of a group) nor any beneficiary or other person claiming under or through the Participant shall 
have any right, title, interest, or privilege in or to any shares of Common Stock allocated or reserved for the purpose of the Plan or subject to the 
Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions except as to such shares of Common Stock, if any, as shall have been issued to such person 
in connection with the Award. Nothing in the Plan, in the Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions or any other instrument executed 
pursuant to the Plan shall confer upon the Participant any right to continue in the Company’s employ or service nor limit in any way the 
Company’s right to terminate the Participant’s employment at any time for any reason.

9. NO LIABILITY OF COMPANY

The Company and any affiliate which is in existence or hereafter comes into existence shall not be liable to the Participant or any other person as 
to: (a) the nonissuance or sale of shares of Common Stock as to which the Company has been unable to obtain from any regulatory body having 
jurisdiction the authority deemed by the Company’s counsel to be necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any shares hereunder; and (b) any 
tax consequence expected, but not realized, by the Participant or other person due to the receipt or settlement of the Award.

10. GENERAL

(i) In the event that any provision of the Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions is declared to be illegal, invalid or 
otherwise unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be reformed, if possible, to the extent necessary to render it 
legal, 
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valid and enforceable, or otherwise deleted, and the remainder of the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall not be affected 
except to the extent necessary to reform or delete such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision.

(j) The headings preceding the text of the sections hereof are inserted solely for convenience of reference, and shall not constitute a part 
of the Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions, nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect. Words in the masculine 
gender shall include the feminine gender, and where appropriate, the plural shall include the singular and the singular shall include the plural. The 
use herein of the word “including” following any general statement, term or matter shall not be construed to limit such statement, term or matter to 
the specific items or matters set forth immediately following such word or to similar items or matters, whether or not non-limiting language (such 
as “without limitation”, “but not limited to”, or words of similar import) is used with reference thereto, but rather shall be deemed to refer to all 
other items or matters that could reasonably fall within the broadest possible scope of such general statement, term or matter. References herein to 
any agreement, instrument or other document means such agreement, instrument or other document as amended, supplemented and modified from 
time to time to the extent permitted by the provisions thereof and not prohibited by the Plan, the Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and 
Conditions. Unless the context requires otherwise, all references to laws and regulations refer to such laws and regulations as they may be amended 
from time to time, and references to particular provisions of laws or regulations include a reference to the corresponding provisions of any 
succeeding law or regulation.

(k) The Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and 
their respective permitted heirs, beneficiaries, successors and assigns.

(l) The Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the 
State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflicts of law.

(m)In the event of any conflict between the Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan, the Grant Notice and these 
Standard Terms and Conditions shall control. In the event of any conflict between the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions, the 
Grant Notice shall control.

(n) All questions arising under the Plan, the Grant Notice or under these Standard Terms and Conditions shall be decided by the 
Committee in its total and absolute discretion.

11. CLAWBACK

The Restricted Stock Units and any shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to the Vested RSUs will be subject to recoupment in accordance with 
any clawback policy adopted by the Company. No recovery of compensation under such a clawback policy will be an event giving rise to a right to 
resign for “good reason” or “constructive termination” (or similar term) under any agreement with the Company. By accepting the Award, the 
Participant is agreeing to be bound by any such clawback policy, as in effect or as may be adopted and/or modified from time to time by the 



 

A-5

Company in its discretion.

12. ELECTRONIC DELIVERY

By executing the Grant Notice, the Participant hereby consents to the delivery of information (including information required to be delivered to the 
Participant pursuant to applicable securities laws) regarding the Company and the Subsidiaries, the Plan, and the Restricted Stock Units via 
Company web site or other electronic delivery.



Exhibit 10.25
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ZEVIA PBC

2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
 

GRANT NOTICE FOR
NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTIONS

FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, Zevia PBC (the “Company”) hereby grants to the Participant named below the Nonqualified 
Stock Option (the “Option”) to purchase any part or all of the number of shares of Common Stock that are covered by this Option at the Exercise 
Price per share, each specified below, and upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Grant Notice, the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity 
Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and the Standard Terms and Conditions (the “Standard Terms and Conditions”) promulgated under such Plan and 
attached hereto as Exhibit A. This Option is granted pursuant to the Plan and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by the Standard Terms and 
Conditions. This Option is not intended to qualify as an incentive stock option under Section 422 of the Code. Capitalized terms not otherwise 
defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan.

Name of Participant:  

Grant Date:  

Number of Shares of Common Stock covered by 
Option:

 

Exercise Price Per Share:  

Expiration Date:  

Vesting Schedule: Subject to the Plan and the Standard Terms and Conditions, the Option shall vest and become 
exercisable in accordance with the following schedule, so long as the Participant does not 
incur a Termination of Employment from the Grant Date through each vesting date: 

   
 



 

Signature Page to
Grant Notice for

Nonqualified Stock Options

By accepting this Grant Notice, the Participant acknowledges that the Participant has received and read, and agrees that this Option shall be subject 
to, the terms of this Grant Notice, the Plan and the Standard Terms and Conditions.

ZEVIA PBC
 
 
By:
Name:
Title:
 
PARTICIPANT
 
 

[Name]
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EXHIBIT A
 

ZEVIA PBC
2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

 
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR

NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTIONS

These Standard Terms and Conditions apply to the Options granted pursuant to the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), which are 
identified as nonqualified stock options and are evidenced by a Grant Notice or an action of the Committee that specifically refers to these Standard 
Terms and Conditions. In addition to these Standard Terms and Conditions, the Option shall be subject to the terms of the Plan, which are 
incorporated into these Standard Terms and Conditions by this reference. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set 
forth in the Plan.

1. TERMS OF OPTION

Zevia PBC (the “Company”) has granted to the Participant named in the Grant Notice provided to said Participant herewith (the “Grant Notice”) a 
Nonqualified Stock Option (the “Option”) to purchase up to the number of shares of Common Stock at a per share Exercise Price, each as set forth 
in the Grant Notice. The Option is subject to the conditions set forth in the Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions, and the Plan. For 
purposes of these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Grant Notice, any reference to the Company shall include a reference to any Subsidiary.

2. NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION

The Option is not intended to be an incentive stock option under Section 422 of the Code and will be interpreted accordingly.

3. EXERCISE OF OPTION

(a) The Option shall not be exercisable as of the Grant Date set forth in the Grant Notice. After the Grant Date, to the extent not 
previously exercised, and subject to termination or acceleration as provided in these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan, the Option shall 
be exercisable only to the extent it is or becomes vested, as described in the Grant Notice, to purchase up to that number of shares of Common Stock 
as set forth in the Grant Notice; provided, that (except as set forth in Section 4(a)) the Participant remains employed with the Company and does not 
experience a Termination of Employment. The vesting period and/or exercisability of the Option may be adjusted by the Committee to reflect the 
decreased level of employment during any period in which the Participant is on an approved leave of absence or is employed on a less than full time 
basis.

(b) To exercise the Option (or any part thereof), the Participant shall deliver to the Company a “Notice of Exercise” in a form specified by 
the Committee, specifying the number of whole shares of Common Stock that the Participant wishes to purchase and how the Participant’s 
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shares of Common Stock should be registered (in the Participant’s name only or in the Participant’s and the Participant’s spouse’s names as 
community property or as joint tenants with right of survivorship).

(c) The exercise price (the “Exercise Price”) of the Option is set forth in the Grant Notice. The Company shall not be obligated to issue 
any shares of Common Stock until the Participant shall have paid the total Exercise Price for that number of shares of Common Stock. The Exercise 
Price may be paid in Common Stock, cash or a combination thereof, including an irrevocable commitment by a broker to pay over such amount 
from a sale of the Common Stock issuable under the Option, the delivery of previously owned Common Stock, withholding of shares of Common 
Stock otherwise deliverable upon exercise of the Option (but only to the extent share withholding is made available to the Participant by the 
Company), or in such other manners as may be permitted by the Committee.

(d) Fractional shares may not be exercised. Shares of Common Stock will be issued as soon as practical after exercise. Notwithstanding 
the above, the Company shall not be obligated to deliver any shares of Common Stock during any period when the Company determines that the 
exercisability of the Option or the delivery of shares of Common Stock hereunder would violate Company policy or any federal, state or other 
applicable laws.

4. EXPIRATION OF OPTION; ACCELERATED VESTING

The Option shall expire and cease to be exercisable as of the earlier of (i) the Expiration Date set forth in the Grant Notice or (ii) the date specified 
below in connection with the Participant’s Termination of Employment:

(a) If the Participant’s Termination of Employment is as a result of the Participant’s death or Disability, (i) the entire Option shall be fully 
vested and exercisable and (ii) the Participant may exercise any portion of the Option until the date that is 12-months following the Termination 
Date.

(b) If the Participant’s Termination of Employment is as a result of a Qualifying Termination (as defined below), (i) subject to the 
Participant’s execution and non-revocation of a release of claims, in a form provided by the Company within the time period specified therein, the 
entire Option shall be fully vested and exercisable and (ii) the Participant may exercise any portion of the Option until the date that is 90 days 
following the Termination Date.

(c) If the Participant’s Termination of Employment is by the Company for Cause, the entire Option, whether or not then vested and 
exercisable, shall be immediately forfeited and canceled, for no consideration, as of Termination Date.

(d) If the Participant’s Termination of Employment is for any reason other than as set forth in Section 4(a), 4(b) or 4(c), the Participant 
may exercise any portion of the Option that is vested and exercisable as of the Termination Date until the date that is 90 days following the 
Termination Date.

(e) Any portion of the Option that is not vested and exercisable at the time of a Termination of Employment (after taking into account any 
accelerated vesting under this Section 
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4, the Grant Notice, Section 16 of the Plan or any other agreement between the Participant and the Company) shall be forfeited and canceled, for no 
consideration, as of the Termination Date.

(f) As used in this Section 4: 

(i) “Good Reason” has the meaning set forth in the Severance Agreement by and between the Company and the Participant.

(ii) “Qualifying Termination” means the Participant’s Termination of Employment by the Company without Cause or by the 
Participant for Good Reason, in each case, on or within 18 months following the consummation of a Change in Control.

(iii) “Termination Date” means the date of the Participant’s Termination of Employment.

5. RESTRICTIONS ON RESALES OF SHARES ACQUIRED PURSUANT TO OPTION EXERCISE

The Company may impose such restrictions, conditions or limitations as it determines appropriate as to the timing and manner of any resales by the 
Participant or other subsequent transfers by the Participant of any shares of Common Stock issued as a result of the exercise of the Option, including 
(a) restrictions under an insider trading policy, (b) restrictions designed to delay and/or coordinate the timing and manner of sales by the Participant 
and other optionholders and (c) restrictions as to the use of a specified brokerage firm for such resales or other transfers.

6. INCOME TAXES

The Company shall not deliver shares of Common Stock in respect of the exercise of any Option unless and until the Participant has made 
arrangements satisfactory to the Company to satisfy applicable withholding tax obligations. Unless the Participant pays the withholding tax 
obligations to the Company by cash or check in connection with the exercise of the Option (including an irrevocable commitment by a broker to pay 
over such amount from a sale of the Common Stock issuable under the Option), withholding may be effected, at the Company’s election, by 
withholding Common Stock issuable in connection with the exercise of the Option (provided that shares of Common Stock may be withheld only to 
the extent that such withholding will not result in adverse accounting treatment for the Company). The Participant acknowledges that the Company 
shall have the right to deduct any taxes required to be withheld by law in connection with the exercise of the Option from any amounts payable by it 
to the Participant (including future cash wages).

7. NONTRANSFERABILITY OF OPTION

Except as permitted by the Committee or as permitted under Section 17 of the Plan, the Participant may not assign or transfer the Option to anyone 
other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and the Option shall be exercisable only by the Participant during his or her lifetime. The 
Company may cancel the Option if the Participant attempts to assign or transfer it in a manner inconsistent with this Section 7.
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8. OTHER AGREEMENTS SUPERSEDED

The Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan constitute the entire understanding between the Participant and the Company 
regarding the Option. Any prior agreements, commitments or negotiations concerning the Option are superseded.

9. LIMITATION OF INTEREST IN SHARES SUBJECT TO OPTION

Neither the Participant (individually or as a member of a group) nor any beneficiary or other person claiming under or through the Participant shall 
have any right, title, interest, or privilege in or to any shares of Common Stock allocated or reserved for the purpose of the Plan or subject to the 
Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions except as to such shares of Common Stock, if any, as shall have been issued to such person 
upon exercise of the Option or any part of it. Nothing in the Plan, in the Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions or any other instrument 
executed pursuant to the Plan shall confer upon the Participant any right to continue in the Company’s employ or service nor limit in any way the 
Company’s right to terminate the Participant’s employment at any time for any reason.

10. NO LIABILITY OF COMPANY

The Company and any affiliate which is in existence or hereafter comes into existence shall not be liable to the Participant or any other person as to: 
(a) the nonissuance or sale of shares of Common Stock as to which the Company has been unable to obtain from any regulatory body having 
jurisdiction the authority deemed by the Company’s counsel to be necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any shares hereunder; and (b) any tax 
consequence expected, but not realized, by the Participant or other person due to the receipt, exercise or settlement of any Option granted hereunder.

11. GENERAL

(a) In the event that any provision of the Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions is declared to be illegal, invalid or 
otherwise unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be reformed, if possible, to the extent necessary to render it legal, 
valid and enforceable, or otherwise deleted, and the remainder of the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall not be affected 
except to the extent necessary to reform or delete such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision.

(b) The headings preceding the text of the sections hereof are inserted solely for convenience of reference, and shall not constitute a part 
of the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions, nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect. Words in the masculine 
gender shall include the feminine gender, and where appropriate, the plural shall include the singular and the singular shall include the plural. The 
use herein of the word “including” following any general statement, term or matter shall not be construed to limit such statement, term or matter to 
the specific items or matters set forth immediately following such word or to similar items or matters, whether or not non-limiting language (such as 
“without limitation”, “but not limited to”, or words of similar import) is used with reference thereto, but rather shall be deemed to refer to all other 
items or matters that could reasonably fall within the broadest possible scope of such general statement, term or matter. References herein to any 
agreement, instrument 
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or other document means such agreement, instrument or other document as amended, supplemented and modified from time to time to the extent 
permitted by the provisions thereof and not prohibited by the Plan, the Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions. Unless the context 
requires otherwise, all references to laws and regulations refer to such laws and regulations as they may be amended from time to time, and 
references to particular provisions of laws or regulations include a reference to the corresponding provisions of any succeeding law or regulation.

(c) The Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and 
their respective permitted heirs, beneficiaries, successors and assigns.

(d) The Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the 
State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflicts of law.

(e) In the event of any conflict between the Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan, the Grant Notice and these 
Standard Terms and Conditions shall control. In the event of any conflict between the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions, the 
Grant Notice shall control.

(f) All questions arising under the Plan, the Grant Notice or under these Standard Terms and Conditions shall be decided by the 
Committee in its total and absolute discretion.

12. CLAWBACK

The Option and any shares of Common Stock issued upon exercise of the Option will be subject to recoupment in accordance with any clawback 
policy adopted by the Company. No recovery of compensation under such a clawback policy will be an event giving rise to a right to resign for 
“good reason” or “constructive termination” (or similar term) under any agreement with the Company. By accepting the Option, the Participant is 
agreeing to be bound by any such clawback policy, as in effect or as may be adopted and/or modified from time to time by the Company in its 
discretion.

13. ELECTRONIC DELIVERY

By executing the Grant Notice, the Participant hereby consents to the delivery of information (including information required to be delivered to the 
Participant pursuant to applicable securities laws) regarding the Company and the Subsidiaries, the Plan, the Option and the Common Stock via 
Company web site or other electronic delivery.



Exhibit 10.26
Annual Grant – Director Form

 

ZEVIA PBC
2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

 
GRANT NOTICE FOR

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD
 

(BOARD DIRECTOR)

FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, Zevia PBC (the “Company”), hereby grants to the Participant named below the number of 
Restricted Stock Units (the “RSUs”) specified below (the “Award”) under the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). Each RSU 
represents the right to receive one share of Common Stock, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Grant Notice, the Plan and 
the Standard Terms and Conditions (the “Standard Terms and Conditions”) promulgated under such Plan and attached hereto as Exhibit A. This 
Award is granted pursuant to the Plan and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by the Standard Terms and Conditions. Capitalized terms not 
otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan.

Name of Participant:  

Grant Date:  

Number of RSUs:  

Vesting Schedule: Subject to the Plan and the Standard Terms and Conditions, the RSUs shall vest on the earlier to occur of (i) 
the first anniversary of the Grant Date or (ii) the Company’s next annual meeting of stockholders, in each 
case, so long as the Participant does not incur a Termination of Employment from the Grant Date through 
such vesting date.    

 



 

Signature Page to 
Grant Notice for

Restricted Stock Unit Award
(Board Director)

By accepting this Grant Notice, the Participant acknowledges that the Participant has received and read, and agrees that this Award shall be subject 
to, the terms of this Grant Notice, the Plan, and the Standard Terms and Conditions.

 
 
ZEVIA PBC
 
 
 
By:
Name:
Title:
 
PARTICIPANT
 
 
 

[Name]
 



 

Exhibit A
Standard Terms and Conditions for

Restricted Stock Units
(Board Director)

EXHIBIT A
 

ZEVIA PBC
2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

 
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR

RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS
 

(BOARD DIRECTOR)

These Standard Terms and Conditions apply to the Award of Restricted Stock Units granted pursuant to the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan 
(the “Plan”), which are evidenced by a Grant Notice or an action of the Committee that specifically refers to these Standard Terms and Conditions. 
In addition to these Standard Terms and Conditions, the Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to the terms of the Plan, which are incorporated into 
these Standard Terms and Conditions by this reference. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan.

1. TERMS OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

Zevia PBC (the “Company”) has granted to the Participant named in the Grant Notice provided to said Participant herewith (the “Grant Notice”) 
an award of Restricted Stock Units (the “Award” or “RSUs”) specified in the Grant Notice, with each Restricted Stock Unit representing the right 
to receive one share of Common Stock. The Award is subject to the conditions set forth in the Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions 
and the Plan. For purposes of these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Grant Notice, any reference to the Company shall include a reference to 
any Subsidiary.

2. VESTING AND SETTLEMENT OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

(a) The Award shall not be vested as of the Grant Date set forth in the Grant Notice and shall be forfeitable unless and until otherwise 
vested pursuant to the terms of the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions. After the Grant Date, subject to termination or 
acceleration as provided in these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan, the Award shall become vested as described in the Grant Notice 
with respect to that number of Restricted Stock Units as set forth in the Grant Notice. Restricted Stock Units that have vested and are no longer 
subject to forfeiture are referred to herein as “Vested RSUs.” Restricted Stock Units awarded hereunder that are not vested and remain subject to 
forfeiture are referred to herein as “Unvested RSUs.” 

(b) As soon as administratively practicable following the vesting of the RSUs pursuant to the Grant Notice and this Section 2, but in no 
event later than 30 days after each vesting date, the Company shall deliver to the Participant shares of Common Stock equal to the number of 
Vested RSUs.

(c) If the Participant’s Termination of Employment is as a result of the Participant’s 
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death or Disability, all of the Unvested RSUs shall become Vested RSUs effective as of the date of such Termination of Employment.

(d) In the event of a Change in Control, all then Unvested RSUs shall become Vested RSUs effective as of immediately prior to the 
consummation of such Change in Control.

(e) Upon the Participant’s Termination of Employment for any other reason not set forth in Section 2(c), any then Unvested RSUs held 
by the Participant shall be forfeited and canceled, for no consideration as of the date of the Participant’s Termination of Employment.

3. RIGHTS AS STOCKHOLDER; DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS

(f) The Participant shall not be, nor have any of the rights or privileges of, a stockholder of the Company in respect of any RSUs 
(including any voting rights or rights to dividends or distributions paid on shares of Common Stock, except as provided in Section 3(b)) unless and 
until shares of Common Stock settled for such RSUs shall have been issued by the Company to the Participant (as evidenced by the appropriate 
entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company).

(g) Notwithstanding the foregoing, from and after the Grant Date and until the earlier of (i) the Participant’s receipt of Common Stock 
upon settlement of RSUs and (ii) the time when the Participant’s right to receive Common Stock upon settlement of RSUs is forfeited, on the date 
that the Company pays a cash dividend (if any) to holders of Common Stock generally, the Participant shall be entitled, as a Dividend Equivalent, 
to a number of additional whole RSUs determined by dividing (i) the product of (A) the dollar amount of such cash dividend paid per share of 
Common Stock and (B) the total number of outstanding RSUs (including dividend equivalents paid thereon) held by the Participant on the record 
date for such dividend, by (ii) the Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock on the date such dividend is paid to holders of Common Stock 
generally. Such Dividend Equivalents (if any) shall be subject to the same terms and conditions and shall be settled or forfeited in the same manner 
and at the same time as the RSUs to which the Dividend Equivalents were credited.

4. RESTRICTIONS ON RESALES OF SHARES

The Company may impose such restrictions, conditions or limitations as it determines appropriate as to the timing and manner of any resales by the 
Participant or other subsequent transfers by the Participant of any shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to Vested RSUs, including (a) 
restrictions under an insider trading policy, (b) restrictions designed to delay and/or coordinate the timing and manner of sales by the Participant 
and other holders and (c) restrictions as to the use of a specified brokerage firm for such resales or other transfers.

5. INCOME TAXES

To the extent required by applicable federal, state, local or foreign law, the Participant shall make arrangements satisfactory to the Company for the 
satisfaction of any withholding tax obligations that arise by reason of the grant or vesting of the RSUs. The Company shall not be required to issue 
shares or to recognize the disposition of such shares until such obligations are satisfied.
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6. NONTRANSFERABILITY OF AWARD

Except as permitted by the Committee or as permitted under Section 17 of the Plan, the Award may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or 
otherwise directly or indirectly encumbered or disposed of other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution.

7. OTHER AGREEMENTS SUPERSEDED

The Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan constitute the entire understanding between the Participant and the Company 
regarding the Award. Any prior agreements, commitments or negotiations concerning the Award are superseded.

8. LIMITATION OF INTEREST IN SHARES SUBJECT TO RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

Neither the Participant (individually or as a member of a group) nor any beneficiary or other person claiming under or through the Participant shall 
have any right, title, interest, or privilege in or to any shares of Common Stock allocated or reserved for the purpose of the Plan or subject to the 
Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions except as to such shares of Common Stock, if any, as shall have been issued to such person 
in connection with the Award. Nothing in the Plan, in the Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions or any other instrument executed 
pursuant to the Plan shall confer upon the Participant any right to continue in the Company’s employ or service nor limit in any way the 
Company’s right to terminate the Participant’s employment at any time for any reason.

9. NO LIABILITY OF COMPANY

The Company and any affiliate which is in existence or hereafter comes into existence shall not be liable to the Participant or any other person as 
to: (a) the nonissuance or sale of shares of Common Stock as to which the Company has been unable to obtain from any regulatory body having 
jurisdiction the authority deemed by the Company’s counsel to be necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any shares hereunder; and (b) any 
tax consequence expected, but not realized, by the Participant or other person due to the receipt or settlement of the Award.

10. GENERAL

(h) In the event that any provision of the Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions is declared to be illegal, invalid or 
otherwise unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be reformed, if possible, to the extent necessary to render it 
legal, valid and enforceable, or otherwise deleted, and the remainder of the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall not be 
affected except to the extent necessary to reform or delete such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision.

(i) The headings preceding the text of the sections hereof are inserted solely for convenience of reference, and shall not constitute a part 
of the Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions, nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect. Words in the masculine 
gender shall include the feminine gender, and where appropriate, the plural shall include the singular and the singular shall include the plural. The 
use herein of the word 
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“including” following any general statement, term or matter shall not be construed to limit such statement, term or matter to the specific items or 
matters set forth immediately following such word or to similar items or matters, whether or not non-limiting language (such as “without 
limitation”, “but not limited to”, or words of similar import) is used with reference thereto, but rather shall be deemed to refer to all other items or 
matters that could reasonably fall within the broadest possible scope of such general statement, term or matter. References herein to any agreement, 
instrument or other document means such agreement, instrument or other document as amended, supplemented and modified from time to time to 
the extent permitted by the provisions thereof and not prohibited by the Plan, the Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions. Unless the 
context requires otherwise, all references to laws and regulations refer to such laws and regulations as they may be amended from time to time, and 
references to particular provisions of laws or regulations include a reference to the corresponding provisions of any succeeding law or regulation.

(j) The Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and 
their respective permitted heirs, beneficiaries, successors and assigns.

(k) The Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the 
State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflicts of law.

(l) In the event of any conflict between the Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan, the Grant Notice and these 
Standard Terms and Conditions shall control. In the event of any conflict between the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions, the 
Grant Notice shall control.

(m)All questions arising under the Plan, the Grant Notice or under these Standard Terms and Conditions shall be decided by the 
Committee in its total and absolute discretion.

11. CLAWBACK

The Restricted Stock Units and any shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to the Vested RSUs will be subject to recoupment in accordance with 
any clawback policy adopted by the Company. No recovery of compensation under such a clawback policy will be an event giving rise to a right to 
resign for “good reason” or “constructive termination” (or similar term) under any agreement with the Company. By accepting the Award, the 
Participant is agreeing to be bound by any such clawback policy, as in effect or as may be adopted and/or modified from time to time by the 
Company in its discretion.

12. ELECTRONIC DELIVERY

By executing the Grant Notice, the Participant hereby consents to the delivery of information (including information required to be delivered to the 
Participant pursuant to applicable securities laws) regarding the Company and the Subsidiaries, the Plan, and the Restricted Stock Units via 
Company web site or other electronic delivery.



 

 
 

                                                                                                                                
Exhibit 19.1 

INSIDER TRADING POLICY

(updated June 15, 2023)

I. INTRODUCTION

Zevia PBC (the “Company” or “Zevia”) is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”), and is subject to its rules, as well as the rules and 
regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).  U.S. federal and state laws prohibit buying, selling, gifting or making other transfers of 
securities by persons who have material, nonpublic information that is not generally known or available to the public (“Material Nonpublic Information”).  
These laws also prohibit persons with such Material Nonpublic Information from disclosing this information to others who trade.

The Company has adopted the following policy (this “Policy”) regarding trading in securities by all of its directors, officers, employees, consultants 
and contractors (together, “Company Personnel”) as well as their family members who reside with them, anyone else who lives in their household, and any 
family members who do not live in their household but whose transactions in Company securities (as defined below) are directed by them or are subject to 
their influence or control (collectively, “Family Members”), and corporations or other business entities controlled, influenced or managed by them or their 
Family Members, and trusts for which such persons are a trustee or in which they have a beneficial or pecuniary interest (collectively, “Controlled Entities,” and 
together with “Company Personnel” and “Family Members,” “Insiders”).  Unless otherwise indicated, all references to “you” in this Policy should be read to 
include all of your Family Members and Controlled Entities.

The principles discussed in this Policy also apply to non-public information that you obtain in the course of your employment or other involvement 
with the Company about another public company (such as a client, customer or a company with which Zevia is involved in a transaction).  If you obtain Material 
Nonpublic Information about another public company, then you must not trade in the securities of that company until the information has been publicly 
disseminated or is no longer material.

No Exceptions.  The prohibition against trading while in possession of Material Nonpublic Information is absolute and unconditional.  The securities 
laws do not recognize any mitigating circumstances, and, in any event, even the appearance of an improper transaction must be avoided to preserve the 
Company’s reputation for adhering to high standards of conduct.

Individual Responsibility.  You are responsible for ensuring that you (as well as your Family Members and Controlled Entities) do not violate U.S. 
federal or state securities laws or this Policy.  The Company has designed this Policy to promote compliance with the federal securities laws and to protect the 
Company and you from the serious liabilities and penalties that can result from violations of these laws.

If you violate the insider trading laws, you may be subject to criminal charges, which may carry severe penalties, including imprisonment for up to 20 
years.  You may also have to pay civil fines for up to 
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three times the profit gained or loss avoided by such trading, as well as criminal fines of up to $5 million.  In addition, the Company may face civil penalties up 
to the greater of $1 million, or three times the profit gained or loss avoided as a result of your insider trading violations, as well as criminal fines of up to $25 
million.  

Both the SEC and the NYSE are very effective at detecting and pursuing insider trading cases.  The SEC has successfully prosecuted cases against 
employees trading through foreign accounts, trading by family members and friends, and trading involving only a small number of shares.  Therefore, it is 
important that you understand the breadth of activities that constitute illegal insider trading.  This Policy sets out the Company’s policy in the area of insider 
trading and should be read carefully and complied with fully.

This Policy applies to transactions, whether direct or indirect, in Zevia’s securities, including its common stock, options to purchase common stock, 
restricted stock or restricted stock units, or any other type of securities that Zevia may issue, including but not limited to preferred stock and convertible 
debentures, as well as derivative securities relating to Zevia but that are not issued by Zevia, such as exchange-traded put or call options or swaps relating to 
Zevia securities (collectively referred to as “Zevia securities” or “Company securities”).

When this Policy refers to another entity’s “securities,” it similarly refers to its common stock, options to purchase common stock or any other type 
of securities that the entity may issue, as well as derivative securities relating to that company but that are not issued by that entity.

All Company Personnel will be required to certify their understanding of and intent to comply with this Policy by signing the Receipt and 
Acknowledgement attached hereto periodically.

The Company will review, evaluate and revise this Policy from time to time in light of regulatory changes, developments in the Company’s business 
and other factors.



 

 

II. TRADING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

A. No Trading on Material Nonpublic Information; No “Tipping” Others

1. General Prohibition.  You cannot, directly or indirectly, engage in transactions in Zevia securities when you have Material Nonpublic Information 
about Zevia.  For guidance on what is “material” or “nonpublic,” see Section II.B.1 below.  

This prohibition against illegal “insider trading” also applies to transactions in the securities of other entities when you learn the Material Nonpublic 
Information about such entities as a result of your employment or other association with Zevia.  Examples include learning Material Nonpublic Information 
from the Company’s customers and suppliers, or another entity with which the Company is negotiating a major transaction, such as a joint venturer, strategic 
partner or acquisition target.

2. No Tipping.  You must not convey Material Nonpublic Information about the Company or another company to anyone else, including family 
members.  You must not recommend that anyone purchase or sell any company’s securities while you are aware of Material Nonpublic Information about that 
company.  These practices, known as “tipping,” also violate the U.S. securities laws and can result in the same civil and criminal penalties that apply if you 
engage in insider trading directly, even if you do not receive any money or derive any benefit from trades made by persons to whom you passed Material 
Nonpublic Information.  This Policy against “tipping” applies to information about the Company and its securities, as well as to information about other entities 
you learn as a result of your employment or other association with Zevia.  Persons with whom you have a history, pattern or practice of sharing confidences—
such as family members, close friends and financial and personal counselors—may be presumed to act on the basis of information known to the Insider; 
therefore, special care should be taken so that Material Nonpublic Information is not disclosed to such persons.  This Policy does not restrict legitimate business 
communications on a “need to know” basis.  Material Nonpublic Information, however, should not be disclosed to persons outside the Company unless you are 
specifically authorized to disclose such information and such disclosure is made in accordance with the Company’s policies regarding the protection or 
authorized external disclosure of information regarding the Company.

3. No Short-Term or Speculative Trading.  It is against Company policy for you to engage in short-term or speculative transactions in Company 
securities.  As such, you may not engage in: (a) short-term trading (generally defined as selling Company securities within six months following a purchase); (b) 
short sales (selling Company securities you do not own); (c) transactions involving publicly traded options or other derivatives, such as trading in puts or calls 
with respect to Company securities; and (d) hedging transactions (such as “cashless” collars, forward sales, equity swaps and other similar arrangements).  
Additionally, because securities held in a margin account or pledged as collateral may be sold without your consent, if you fail to meet a margin call or if you 
default on a loan, a margin or foreclosure sale may result in unlawful insider trading.  Because of this danger, you should exercise caution when including 
Company securities in a margin account or pledging Company securities as collateral for a loan.  As such, the Company prohibits its directors and Section 16 
Officers (as defined below) from pledging Company securities.

As stated above, these restrictions also apply to your Family Members and Controlled Entities.  The SEC and federal prosecutors may presume that 
trading by Family Members or Controlled Entities is based on information you supplied and may treat any such transactions as if you had traded yourself.  
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There is no exception for small transactions or transactions that may seem necessary or justifiable for independent reasons, such as the need to raise money for 
an emergency expenditure.

For purposes of this Policy, references to “trading” and “transactions” include, among other things:

• purchases and sales of Company securities in public markets;

• sales of Company securities obtained through the exercise of employee stock options granted by the Company;

• making gifts of Company securities; and

• using Company securities to secure a loan.

Transactions in mutual funds that are invested in Company securities are not transactions subject to this Policy as long as (a) the Insider does not 
control the investment decisions on individual stocks within the fund and (b) Company securities do not represent a substantial portion of the assets of the 
fund.

In addition, transactions pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan (as defined below) and this Policy are subject to certain exceptions and requirements 
set forth below.

Insiders should consult the Company’s Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary (the “GC”) if they have any questions.

4. Company Transactions

From time to time, the Company may engage in transactions in its own securities.  It is the Company’s policy to comply with all applicable securities 
and state laws (including appropriate approvals by the Board of Directors or appropriate committee, if required) when engaging in transactions in Company 
securities.

B. What is “Material Nonpublic Information”? When is Information “Public”?

1. Material Information

Material information generally means information that a reasonable investor would consider important in making an investment decision to buy, 
hold or sell securities.  Either positive or negative information may be material.  Any information that could reasonably be expected to affect the Company’s 
stock price should be considered material.

Depending on the circumstances, common examples of information that may be material include:
• significant new product developments, innovations or discoveries;

• significant interactions, approval or rulings by a regulatory agency relating to the Company or a Company 
product;

• earnings, revenue or similar financial information;
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• unexpected financial results;

• unpublished financial reports or projections;

• extraordinary borrowing or liquidity problems;

• changes in control or sale of all or part of the Company’s business;

• changes in directors, senior management or auditors;

• information about current, proposed or contemplated transactions, business plans, financial restructurings, 
acquisition targets or significant expansions or contractions of operations;

• changes in dividend policies or the declaration of a stock split or the proposed or contemplated issuance, 
redemption or repurchase of securities;

• negotiations regarding an important license, distribution agreement, joint venture or collaboration agreement;

• material defaults under agreements or actions by creditors, clients or suppliers relating to a company’s credit 
rating;

• information about major contracts;

• product recalls;

• impending financial problems;

• the interruption of production or other aspects of a company’s business as a result of an accident, fire, natural 
disaster or breakdown of labor negotiations;

• major environmental incidents; 

• significant developments related to the Company’s ESG initiatives and reporting;

• institution of, or developments in, major litigation, investigations or regulatory actions or proceedings; 

• any of the information described above to the extent applicable to the Company’s affiliates; and 

• the imposition of a trading “blackout” by Zevia on transactions in Zevia securities.
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Federal and NYSE investigators will scrutinize a questionable trade after the fact with the benefit of hindsight, so you should always err on the side of 
deciding that the information is material and not trade.  The mere fact that a person is aware of Material Nonpublic Information is a bar to trading.  It is no 
excuse that such person’s reasons for trading were not based on the Material Nonpublic Information.  If you have questions regarding specific transactions, 
please contact the GC.

2. Nonpublic Information

Nonpublic information is information that is not generally known by or available to the public.    We consider information to be available to the 
public only when:

• it has been released to the public by the Company through appropriate channels, such as by means of a press release distributed through a 
widely circulated news or wire service, such as Dow Jones or Bloomberg, or a filing with the SEC; and

• two full trading days have lapsed following the time of public disclosure.

• The fact that rumors, speculation, or statements attributed to unidentified sources are public is insufficient to be considered “generally 
available to the public” even when the information is accurate.

C. Unauthorized Disclosure; Prohibition on Certain Public Speaking

All Company Personnel must maintain the confidentiality of Company information for competitive, security and other business reasons, as well as to 
comply with securities laws.  All information you learn about the Company or its business plans is potentially nonpublic information until it is publicly disclosed 
by the Company.  You should treat this information as confidential and proprietary to the Company.  You may not disclose it to others, such as Family Members, 
other relatives, or business or social acquaintances. 

In addition, you are prohibited from participating as an “expert,” consultant, advisor, and/or in any capacity for an “expert network” and/or any 
other outside firm which compensates individuals for speaking with investors and other investment professionals.  This prohibition is designed to protect the 
Company, its stockholders and you.  Indeed, United States criminal authorities and the SEC have prosecuted numerous public company employees who 
received monetary compensation by expert networks to speak with investors and disclose confidential company information which investors then used for 
trading purposes. 

Legal rules govern the timing and nature of our disclosure of material information to outsiders or the public.  Violation of these rules could result in 
substantial liability for you, the Company and its management.  For this reason, we permit only specifically designated representatives of the Company to 
discuss the Company with the news media, securities analysts and investors and only in accordance with the Company’s Guidelines For Public Disclosures and 
Communications With The Investment Community.  If you receive inquiries of this nature, you should refer them to the Chief Financial Officer (the “CFO”), the 
GC or the Company’s Investor Relations personnel.  At any time when the Company does not have an active CFO, the duties and responsibilities assigned to the 
CFO under this Policy shall be performed by the individual performing the function of the Company’s principal financial officer.
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D. When and How to Trade Company Stock

1. Overview
 
All Insiders are subject to the Trading Window policy described below.  Directors, officers, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) (such officers, “Section 16 Officers,” and together with directors, “Section 16 Persons”), and certain other 
employees and consultants who are so designated by the GC from time to time (such designated employees and consultants, together with Section 16 Persons, 
and each of their respective Family Members and Controlled Entities, “Restricted Persons”) are for purposes of this Policy required to comply with the 
additional pre-clearance restrictions covered below.  
 

2. Trading Windows

Subject to the exception related to Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans (as defined below), all Insiders may trade in Company securities only from the date that 
is two (2) full business days after earnings is publicly released to the close of business on the date that is two (2) weeks prior to the end of each quarter (such 
period, the “Trading Window”).  For example, if Zevia publicly releases earnings results at the open of market on a Friday, then trading in Zevia securities may 
commence at the open of market on the following Tuesday.  The Company reserves the right to adjust the opening and closing of the Trading Windows from 
time to time or determine not to open a particular Trading Window.

However, even if a Trading Window is open, you may not trade in Company securities if you are aware of Material Nonpublic Information about the 
Company.  In addition, if you are subject to the Company’s pre-clearance policy (described below), you must pre-clear transactions even if you initiate them 
when the Trading Window is open.  

Generally, all pending purchase and sale orders regarding Company securities that could be executed while the Trading Window is open must be 
cancelled before it closes.

In light of these restrictions, if you expect a need to sell Company securities at a specific time in the future, including executing sales to satisfy tax 
withholding obligations in connection with the exercise of stock options, vesting of restricted stock or settlement of restricted stock units in the future, you may 
wish to consider entering into a prearranged Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan, as discussed below.

3. Special “Blackout” Periods
 

Zevia may, from time to time, during a Trading Window, close trading (or delay, not open or close early a Trading Window) due to developments (such as a 
significant event or transaction) during which there may exist Material Nonpublic Information about Zevia or a company with which the Company is considering 
a transaction.  This is referred to as a “special blackout period.”  In such cases, the Company may notify particular individuals that they should not engage in any 
transactions involving the purchase, sale or other transaction in Company securities.  You should not disclose to others the fact that trading has been 
prohibited.  These blackout periods, which will vary in length, will be determined by the GC, and will be communicated to the appropriate personnel via e-mail.  
Termination of a blackout period will also be communicated to the appropriate personnel via e-mail.

It is not the Company’s policy to impose special blackout periods every time that Material Nonpublic Information exists, or every time that an 
Insider may be in the possession of Material 
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Nonpublic Information.  Thus, the absence of a special blackout period should not be interpreted as permission to trade.  In addition, if you are subject to 
the Company’s pre-clearance policy (described below), you must pre-clear transactions. 

In light of these restrictions, if you expect a need to sell Company stock at a specific time in the future, including executing sales to satisfy tax 
withholding obligations in connection with the exercise of stock options, vesting of restricted stock or settlement of restricted stock units in the future, you may 
wish to consider entering into a prearranged Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan, as discussed below.

4. Pre-Clearance of Trades

The Company requires all Restricted Persons to contact the GC in advance of effecting any purchase, sale, gift or other trading of Company securities, 
other than transactions made under an approved Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan pursuant to Section II.E below.  All requests must be submitted to the GC at least 
two business days in advance of the proposed transaction.1  For the avoidance of doubt, there should be no presumption that the GC will grant any or all pre-
clearance requests and there shall be no obligation to inform Restricted Persons of the reasons for any request approval or denial.  This pre-clearance policy 
applies to Restricted Persons even if they are initiating a transaction while a blackout period is not in place.

If a transaction is approved under the pre-clearance policy, the transaction must be executed by the end of the second full trading day after the 
approval is obtained, but regardless may not be executed if you acquire Material Nonpublic Information concerning the Company during that time.  If a 
transaction is not completed within the period described above, the transaction must be approved again by the GC before it may be executed.

If a proposed transaction is not approved under the pre-clearance policy, you may not transact in Company securities, and you should not inform 
anyone within or outside of the Company of the restriction.  Any transaction under a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan (discussed below) will not require pre-clearance 
at the time of the transaction, but the adoption, amendment, modification or termination of such Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan is subject to the pre-clearance and 
other restrictions set forth below and Appendix A, “Guidelines for Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans.”

5. Exceptions

The restrictions contained in this Policy shall not apply to:
 
• the exercise of Company stock options or the exchange of profits interests or other units into Company common stock if (a) no shares are to be 

sold to third parties or (b) there is only a “net exercise” (defined as the Company withholding shares to satisfy your tax obligations or to cover 
the exercise price or equivalent);

 
• “sell to cover” transactions involving a sale of shares of common stock directed by the  Company in its sole discretion in order to cover the 

Company’s or such individual’s or 

1 Transactions by the GC (or the GC’s Family Members and Controlled Entities) are required to be approved in advance by the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”), CFO 
or any deputy, assistant or associate general counsel  in consultation with either the CEO or CFO.
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entity’s withholding tax obligations in connection with the grant, vesting or settlement of equity awards pursuant to the Company’s equity 
incentive plans and agreements, for example, from the vesting or settlement of restricted stock units under such plans or exchange of units into 
shares of Common Stock;

 
• the vesting of Company stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, phantom units or other equity incentive awards according to their 

terms; 
 

• the withholding of shares to satisfy the exercise price or a tax withholding obligation upon the grant, vesting or settlement of equity awards 
pursuant to the Company’s equity incentive plans and agreements, for example, from the vesting or settlement of restricted stock units under 
such plans or exchange of units into shares of Common Stock;
 

• the exchange of units into the Company’s common stock (without selling the common stock);
 

• transferring shares to an entity that does not involve a change in the beneficial ownership of the shares (for example, transferring shares from 
one brokerage account to another brokerage that you control);

 
• sales of Company securities as a selling stockholder in a registered public offering, including a “synthetic secondary” offering, in accordance 

with applicable securities laws; or
 

• any other purchase of Company securities from the Company or sale of Company securities to the Company in accordance with applicable 
securities and state laws.

To the extent applicable and such elections are permitted, your elections regarding participation in “net exercise,” or “sell to cover” transactions, 
including changes from any defaults established by the Company, may only be made during a Trading Window and while not in possession of Material 
Nonpublic Information. 

E. Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans 

SEC Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act provides an affirmative defense from insider trading liability if trades occur pursuant to a prearranged 
trading plan that meets specified conditions.  It is possible to pre-arrange trades in Company securities by entering into a written trading plan.  Such plan 
(referred to herein as a “Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan”) is between you and your broker and must either specify the number of securities to be bought or sold, 
along with the price and the date, or provide a written formula for determining this information.  A written trading plan must be established at a time when you 
are not aware of any Material NonPublic Information and must not permit you to exercise any subsequent control or influence over how, when or whether the 
purchases or sales are made.  Alternatively, a trading plan can delegate investment discretion to a third party, such as a broker, who then makes trading 
decisions without further input from the person implementing the plan.  Under this Policy, the adoption, amendment, modification or termination of a Rule 
10b5-1 Trading Plan must meet the requirements set forth in Appendix A, “Guidelines for Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans,” including applicable pre-clearance 
procedures.
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Because the SEC rules on trading plans are complex, you should consult with your broker and be sure you fully understand the limitations and 
conditions of the rules before you establish a trading plan.  

`F. Noncompliance

Anyone subject to this Policy who fails to comply with this Policy will be subject to appropriate disciplinary action, up to and including termination of 
employment.

G. Post-Termination Transactions

This Policy will continue to apply to your transactions in Company securities after your employment or service with the Company has terminated 
until such time as you are no longer aware of Material Nonpublic Information or until that information has been publicly disclosed or is no longer material. 

Questions about this policy should be directed to the Company’s Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary, at 
Lorna@Zevia.com.
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RECEIPT AND ACKNOWLEDGMENT
 
 
 
 
I, __________________________________, hereby acknowledge that I have received and read a copy of the Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) of Zevia PBC.  I 
agree to comply with this Policy.  I understand that violation of SEC regulations may subject me to severe civil and/or criminal penalties, and that violation of 
this Policy may subject me to discipline by Zevia PBC, up to and including termination for cause.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________ ______________________________
Signature Date
 
 



 

 

Appendix A

Guidelines for Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act provides an affirmative defense from insider trading liability.  In order to be eligible to rely on this defense, 
Insiders must enter into a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan for transactions in Company securities that meet certain conditions specified in the Rule 10b5-1.  
Capitalized terms used in these guidelines without definition have the meaning set forth in the Policy. 

These guidelines are in addition to, and not in lieu of, the requirements and conditions of Rule 10b5-1.  The GC will interpret and administer these 
guidelines for compliance with Rule 10b5-1, the Policy and the requirements below.  No personal legal or financial advice is being provided by the legal 
department regarding any Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan or proposed trades.  Insiders remain ultimately responsible for ensuring that their Rule 10b5-1 Trading 
Plans and contemplated transactions fully comply with applicable securities laws.  It is recommended that Insiders consult with their own attorneys, brokers, or 
other advisors about any contemplated Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan. Note that for any Section 16 Person, the Company is required to disclose the material terms 
of his or her Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan (and may be required to disclose the material terms of Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans of Family Members and Controlled 
Entities of such persons), other than with respect to price, in its periodic report for the quarter in which the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan is adopted or 
terminated or modified (as described below).

1. Pre-Clearance Requirement.  The Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must be reviewed and approved in advance by the GC at least five business days prior to 
the entry into the plan in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Policy and these guidelines.2   The Company may require that Insiders use a 
standardized form of Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan.  

2. Time of Adoption.  Subject to pre-clearance requirements described above, the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must be adopted at a time:

• When the Insider is not aware of any Material Nonpublic Information; and

• When the Trading Window is open and there is no special blackout period.

3. Plan Instructions.  Any Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan adopted by any Insider must be in writing, signed, and either:

• specify the amount, price and date of the sales (or purchases) of Company securities to be effected;

• provide a formula, algorithm or computer program for determining when to sell (or purchase) the Company’s securities, the quantity to 
sell (or purchase) and the price; or 

2 Any Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans entered into by the GC (or the GC’s Family Members or Controlled Entities) are required to be approved in advance by the CEO, 
CFO or any deputy, assistant or associate general counsel in consultation with either the CEO or CFO.
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• delegate decision-making authority with regard to these transactions to a broker or other agent without any Material Nonpublic 
Information about the Company or its securities.

For the avoidance of doubt, Insiders may not subsequently influence how, when, or whether to effect purchases or sales with respect to the 
securities subject to an approved and adopted Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan.

4. No Hedging.  Insiders may not have entered into or altered a corresponding or hedging transaction or position with respect to the securities subject 
to the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan and must agree not to enter into any such transaction while the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan is in effect. 

5. Good Faith Requirements.  Insiders must enter into the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the 
prohibitions of Rules 10b-5 and 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act.  Insiders must act in good faith with respect to the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan for the 
entirety of its duration.

6. Certifications for Section 16 Persons.  Section 16 Persons and their Family Members and Controlled Entities that enter into Rule 10b5-1 Trading 
Plans must certify that they are: (1) not aware of any Material Nonpublic Information about the Company or the Company securities; and (2) 
adopting the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rules 10b-5 and 10b5-1 under 
the Exchange Act. 

7. Cooling Off Periods.  The first trade under the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan may not occur until the expiration of a cooling-off period as follows:

• For Section 16 Persons (as well as their Family Members and Controlled Entities), the later of (1) two business days following the filing of 
the Company’s Form 10-Q or Form 10-K for the completed fiscal quarter in which the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan was adopted and (2) 90 
calendar days after adoption of the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan; provided, however, that the required cooling-off period shall in no event 
exceed 120 days.

• For other Insiders, 30 days after adoption of the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan. 

8. No Overlapping Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans.  An Insider may not enter into overlapping Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans (subject to certain exceptions).  
Please consult the GC with any questions regarding overlapping Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans.

9. Single Transaction Plans.  An Insider may not enter into more than one Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan designed to effect the open-market purchase or 
sale of the total amount of securities as a single transaction during any rolling 12-month period (subject to certain exceptions).  A single-transaction 
plan is “designed to effect” the purchase or sale of securities as a single transaction when the terms of the plan would, for practical purposes, directly 
or indirectly require execution in a single transaction.

10. Modifications and Terminations.  Modifications/amendments and terminations of an existing Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan are strongly discouraged due 
to legal risks, and can affect the validity of trades that have taken place under the plan prior to such modification/amendment or 
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termination.  Under Rule 10b5-1 and these guidelines, any modification/amendment to the amount, price, or timing of the purchase or sale of the 
securities underlying the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan will be deemed to be a termination of the current Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan and creation of a new 
Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan.  If an Insider is considering administrative changes to a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan, such as changing the account 
information, the Insider should consult with the GC in advance to confirm that any such change does not constitute an effective termination of the 
plan. 

As such, the modification/amendment of an existing Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must be reviewed and approved in advance by the GC in accordance 
with pre-clearance procedures set forth in the Policy and these guidelines, and will be subject to all the other requirements set forth in Sections 2 -9 
99 of these guidelines regarding the adoption of a new Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan. 

The termination (other than through an amendment or modification) of an existing Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must be reviewed and approved in 
advance by the GC in accordance with pre-clearance procedures set forth in the Policy and these guidelines.  Except in limited circumstances, the GC 
will not approve the termination of a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan unless:

• The Insider is not aware of any Material Nonpublic Information; and

• The Trading Window is open and there is no special blackout period.



Exhibit 21.1
 

Subsidiaries of the Registrant
 

Name of Subsidiary State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization

Zevia LLC Delaware
 



Exhibit 23.1
 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-258175 and 333-273798 on Form S-8 of our report dated February 26, 2025, relating to the consolidated financial 
statements of Zevia PBC and its subsidiary appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

 
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
 
Los Angeles, California
February 26, 2025
 
 
 



 

 

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Amy E. Taylor, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of ZEVIA PBC;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of 

operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 

15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which 
this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable 

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles;

 

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the 

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over 
financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit 

committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect 
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
By: /s/ Amy E. Taylor
Name: Amy E. Taylor
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
  (principal executive officer)
   
Date: February 26, 2025
 



 

 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Girish Satya, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of ZEVIA PBC;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of 

operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 

15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which 
this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable 

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles;

 

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the 

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over 
financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit 

committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect 
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
By: /s/ Girish Satya
Name: Girish Satya
Title: Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer
  (principal financial officer and principal accounting officer)
   
Date: February 26, 2025
 



 

 

Exhibit 32

Zevia PBC

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Report”) of Zevia PBC (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2024, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission on the date hereof, Amy E. Taylor, as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Girish Satya, as Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer of 
the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to each officer’s knowledge:
 
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 
/s/ AMY E. TAYLOR
Name: Amy E. Taylor
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer)
Date: February 26, 2025
 
/s/ GIRISH SATYA
Name: Girish Satya
Title: Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer (principal financial officer and principal 

accounting officer) 
Date: February 26, 2025

A signed original of this certification required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission or its staff upon request.

The foregoing certification is being furnished as an exhibit to the Report pursuant to Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K and Section 1350 of Title 18 of the United States Code and, 
accordingly, is not being filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission as part of the Report and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the 
Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (whether made before or after the date of the Report, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such 
filing).


